
Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



 TRAVIS COUNTY PURCHASING OFFICE
                              Cyd V. Grimes, C.P.M., Purchasing Agent  

314 W. 11th Street, Room 400   Austin, Texas 78701   (512) 854-9700   Fax (512) 854-9185 

 
Approved by:  

Voting Session: Tuesday, November 24, 2009 
 

A. APPROVE REVISED TRAVIS COUNTY PURCHASING POLICY AND 
PROCEDURE MANUAL, TO REPLACE CHAPTER 32 OF THE TRAVIS COUNTY 
CODE. 

 
B. AMEND TRAVIS COUNTY FIXED ASSET POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL, 

TO REPLACE SECTION 4.6.1 OF CHAPTER 33 OF THE TRAVIS COUNTY CODE. 
 

 

Points of Contact: 
Purchasing:  Bonnie Floyd, Marvin Brice, Sylvia Lopez, Ron Dube 
County Attorney (when applicable): John Hille, Barbara Wilson 
County Planning and Budget Office: Leroy Nellis 
County Auditor’s Office: Susan Spataro And Jose Palacios 
Other:        

 

The Purchasing Office brought these revisions to the Court in July 2009.  At that time, the 
court did not approve two changes as highlighted below and requested that the County 
Attorney review the document.  The County Attorney has now reviewed and provided input 
on changes.  Those changes have been incorporated into the document. 
 
A.  The current version of the Purchasing Policies and Procedures Manual was approved by 
the Court in February 2006.  The main change for this revision to the new manual is the 
increased bid limit from $25,000 to $50,000.  House Bill 987 was signed by the Governor on 
6-22-09, authorizing this increased bid limit. All references throughout the manual to 
$25,000 have been changed to $50,000.  Other revisions to the manual include 

• removal of all references related to providing procurement services to the Healthcare 
District 

• revised HUB goals for Construction, Commodities, Professional Services and non-
professional Services (Chapter 6) 

• new sections on Disadvantaged Business Enterprises and Vendor Tracking System 
(Chapter 6) 

• updated Recycling Policy language (Chapter 7) 
• authority for the Purchasing Agent to modify interlocal agreements, similar to 

authority for contracts (Chapter 7) Court disapproved 
• additional section on Ethical Procurement (Chapter 7) 
• new section on Purchases made with Grant Funds (Chapter 7) 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm

VelasqM
Typewritten Text
Item 23



• removed reference to Quantum Merit as a non-automated purchase order (Chapter 8)  
• new section dealing with Specific Authority of Purchasing Agent related to Request 

for Proposals as a result of the 2007 Legislative session (Chapter 11) 
• revised section on Best Value Purchasing (Chapter 11) 
• updated section on DIR purchases (Chapter 12) 
• removal of references to Catalog Information Systems Vendor (CISV) purchases 

(Chapter 12) 
• revised section dealing with Interlocal Agreements (Chapter 13) 
• new section dealing with purchases made from Federal Supply Schedules (Chapter 

13) 
• new section on Exemption Orders (Chapter 16) 
• revised language on Unilateral Changes (Chapter 19) Court disapproved assignment 

of contracts authority 
• replacement of Appendix A, Travis County Hospital District Procurement Card 

Policies and Procedures Manual, with Travis County Purchasing Office Procurement 
Card Policies and Procedures Manual. 

 
Throughout the revised manual are updates to website links and updates to outside agency or 
contractor names.  
 
B.  The current version of the Fixed Assets manual was also approved by the Court in 
February 2006.  The Court’s action today will incorporate the changes of House Bill 2859, 
signed by the Governor on 6-22-09, relating to notice requirements for a county selling 
surplus or salvage property on auctioneer's Internet auction site.  It says that a county that 
contracts with an auctioneer licensed under Chapter 1802, Occupations Code, who uses an 
Internet auction site offering online bidding through the Internet to sell surplus or salvage 
property, under this subchapter and having an estimated value of not more than $500 shall 
satisfy the notice requirement under this section by posting the property on the site for at 
least 10 days unless the property is sold before the 10th day. 

The Purchasing Office recommends approval of both actions at this time. 
 
 

APPROVED (  ) DISAPPROVED (  ) 

BY COMMISSIONERS COURT ON: 

 _____________________________ 
 DATE 
 
 
 _____________________________ 
 COUNTY JUDGE 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



ORDER OF THE TRAVIS COUNTY  
COMMISSIONERS COURT 

REPLACING CHAPTER 32. PURCHASING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

STATE OF TEXAS § 
COUNTY OF TRAVIS § 

 
 Pursuant to Sections 1.0051 and 1.0052 of the Travis County Code, the Travis County 
Commissioners Court makes the following order: 
 
  
1. Chapter 32 of the Travis County Code (“Purchasing Policies and Procedures Manual”) is 
deleted in its entirety and is replaced by the Chapter 32 attached to this order. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Date of Order: __________________________ 
 

 Travis County 
Commissioners Court 

 

   
Samuel T. Biscoe, County Judge 

 
 

Ron Davis 
Commissioner, Precinct 1 

 Sarah Eckhardt 
Commissioner, Precinct 2 

   

Karen Huber 
Commissioner, Precinct 3 

 Margaret Gómez 
Commissioner, Precinct 4 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



 

 
 
 

Travis County 
 
 

Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Office of the Travis County Purchasing Agent 
 
 
 

 November 2009 
(Originally Adopted January 1996) 

(Revised February 2006) 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009   i 

Travis County 
Purchasing Policy and Procedures 

Table of Contents 
 
Section Title Page Rev.Date 
Chapter 1 Introduction 1-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 2 Purchasing Authority and Policy 2-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 3 Travis County Purchasing Code of Ethics 3-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 4 Purchasing Agent Authority and Responsibilities 4-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 5 Purchasing Process, Roles and Responsibilities 5-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 6 Historically Underutilized Businesses Program 6-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 7 Other General Purchasing Policies 7-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 8 The Requisitioning Process  8-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 9 Open Market Purchases Under $50,000 9-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 10 Specifications 10-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 11 Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000  11-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 12 State Purchasing Programs 12-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 13 Cooperative Purchasing Agreements 13-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 14 Procurement of Professional Services 14-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 15 Construction Procurement 15-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 16 Exemptions to the Competitive Procurement Process 16-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 17 Renewal of Equipment Leases and Maintenance Contracts 17-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 18 Receipt of Goods 18-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 19 Contract Modifications 19-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 20 Contract Administration 20-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 21 Professional Development and Certification 21-1 Nov 2009
Chapter 22 Definitions 22-1 Nov 2009
Appendix A Travis County Purchasing Office Procurement Card Policy and 

Procedures Manual 
A-1 Nov 2009

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Introduction 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  1-1 

Chapter 1: Introduction 

This manual provides county departments enough information to make decisions 
necessary to request the purchase of goods and services needed to perform the functions 
of their offices effectively. 
 
The mission of the Travis County Purchasing Office is to: 
 

• Ensure compliance with the County Purchasing Act as well as other state and 
federal laws applying to county purchasing; 

 
• Provide all vendors, including HUBS equal access to,  the competitive process for the 

acquisition of goods and services by County; 
 
• Provide an ongoing supply of quality goods and services to all County offices;  
 
• Account for all County assets through an effective fixed asset management system; 

and  
 
• Protect the interests of Travis County taxpayers without regard to any undue influence 

or political pressures. 
 
Public purchasing has several goals including: 
 
• purchasing the proper goods and services; 
 
• obtaining the best possible price for the goods or services, without sacrificing the 

quality needed; 
 
• ensuring a continuing supply of  goods and services are available where and when 

needed; and 
 
• guarding against the misappropriation of County assets that have been acquired 

through the procurement process. 
 

Public purchasing must also ensure: 
 

• Responsible bidders are given a fair opportunity to compete for the County’s 
business. This can be accomplished by abiding by statutory requirements regarding 
competitive bids and proposals, and by the County’s purchasing policy. 
 

• Public funds are safeguarded. Although the Purchasing Office does not usually 
designate the types of purchases to be made, it should attempt to see that the best 
value is received for the public dollar. 
 

• Public spending is not used to enrich elected officials or County employees, or 
to confer favors. Adoption and implementation of a code of ethics and employee 
training and awareness of their responsibilities in the public purchasing area 
accomplish this. 
 

• Historically underutilized businesses (minority and women-owned) have an 
equal opportunity in the contract awards process. Travis County achieves this 
through the implementation of its Historically Underutilized Business (HUB) program 

Background 

Goals of 
Public 
Purchasing 

Mission 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Introduction 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 1-2 

and by requiring all vendors to make a “good faith effort” to use HUBs whenever 
possible. 

 
Travis County Commissioners Court has adopted a centralized purchasing function that 
provides many benefits:  
 
• It allows for the consolidation of smaller purchases by individual departments into 

larger purchases for the entire county, resulting in lower unit prices and savings; 
 

• Vendors and the business community have a single, central link to the county 
procurement process to facilitate consistent communication and understanding; 
 

• Purchasing Office personnel accumulate a solid foundation of knowledge and 
experience about purchasing, marketing trends, prices, and vendors. This expertise 
assists using departments to save money by better defining their needs.  It also 
promotes a more efficient procurement process; and 
 

• Centralized expertise puts the purchasing processes on a professional footing and 
inspires public confidence in the actions of the County. 

 
In addition to the above, the Purchasing Office is responsible for: 
 
• Historically Underutilized Business (HUB) Program 
 
• Interlocal Purchasing Agreements and Cooperative Purchasing Agreements 
 
• Fixed Asset and Warehouse Management 
 
• Disposition of Seized and Abandoned Property 
 
• Auctions of Surplus and Salvaged Property 
 
The Purchasing Office is committed to promoting effective, professional, and consistent 
procurement in Travis County, as well as championing the public perception that tax 
dollars are wisely spent. 
 
This purchasing manual is not static. Purchasing procedures in Travis County will change 
as needed, particularly evolving to incorporate technological advances and changing laws. 
 
The organizational chart of the Purchasing Office is attached as Exhibit 1. 
 
There are many terms that are used throughout this manual that pertain to purchasing 
activities. Definitions of key terms are found in Chapter 22. 
 

 
 
Ms. Cyd V. Grimes, C.P.M. 
Travis County Purchasing Agent 

Other Duties 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Introduction 

 
                        Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 1-3 

Exhibit 1: Travis County 
Purchasing Office Organizational Chart  

 
 

 
 

Total Staffing:  32 FTE Positions 
Revised: 7/4/09 

Purchasing Agent Assistant III
6 FTE

Purchasing Agent Assistant II
2 FTE

Fixed Assets
3 FTE

Assistant
Purchasing Agent
Commodities &

Fixed Assets

cc
Business Analyst II

HUB Program Specialist
2 FTE

Historically
Underutilized

Business Program

Purchasing Agent Assistant IV
4 FTE

Purchasing Agent Assistant III
3 FTE

Assistant
Purchasing Agent

Construction &
Professional Services

Travis County Purchasing Agent
Cyd V. Grimes, C.P.M.

Travis County Purchasing Board
3 District Judges

2 County Commissioners

Executive Assistant 
1 FTE

Purchasing Clerks 
4 FTE 

ERP “BEFIT” Project 
1 FTE 

ERP “BEFIT” Project 
1 FTE 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Purchasing Authority and Policy 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  2-1 

Chapter 2: Purchasing Authority and Policy 
 

The Texas Legislature has enacted purchasing laws.  It is the policy of Travis County, 
acting through its duly appointed Purchasing Agent, to fully comply in all aspects with 
these laws as they are amended from time to time. 
 
The Commissioners Court has directed the Purchasing Agent to provide a centralized 
purchasing structure. 
 
The Purchasing Office, as well as officials, executive managers and employees will provide 
equitable and competitive access to the County procurement process for all responsible 
vendors. Further, County procurement is conducted in a manner that promotes and fosters 
public confidence in the integrity of the County procurement process. 

 
The purpose of the County Purchasing policy is to: 

• Seek the best quality, lowest priced goods and services that meet the needs of County 
and its personnel; 

• Provide all responsible vendors and contractors, including HUBs, equitable access to 
servicing the needs of the County and its personnel through competitive acquisition of 
goods and services; 

• Comply with all federal and state laws that apply to county purchasing and comply with 
the policies and procedures in this manual; 

• Manage County assets and inventory so that replacement costs are minimized and 
County can account for all assets; and 

• Dispose of all surplus, salvage, seized and abandoned property in a manner that both 
provides the most benefit to the taxpayers of County and complies with the law. 

 
The Purchasing Act applies to all departments, all district, county, and precinct officials and 
employees and all subdivisions of all district, county, and precinct offices. The Purchasing 
Agent must purchase or lease all goods and services, including maintenance and repair, 
for all departments. The Purchasing Agent must perform all purchasing for all officials, 
County executive managers, employees, and precinct employees. 
 
These policies and procedures are adopted by the County Purchasing Agent and approved 
by the Commissioners Court under the authority of the Texas Local Government Code, 
Chapter 262.  

 
These policies and procedures shall become effective upon approval by the 
Commissioners Court. 

 
(a) These policies and procedures shall be interpreted liberally to accomplish their 

purpose. 
 
(b) If there is any conflict between the policies and procedures and a State law, or a 

rule adopted under a State law, the stricter of the two provisions prevails. 
 
(c) The masculine, feminine, and neuter genders shall be interpreted to include the 

other genders as required. The singular and plural shall be interpreted to include 
the other number as required. 

 

Precedents 
and 
Interpretation 

Purchasing 
Laws 

Purchasing 
Policy 

Effective 
Date 

Application 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Purchasing Authority and Policy 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  2-2 

(d) Headings and titles at the beginning of the various sections of these policies and 
procedures have been included only to make it easier to locate the subject matter 
covered by that section or subsection and are not to be used in interpreting these 
policies and procedures.  

 
(e) If any provision of these policies and procedures or the application of them to any 

person or circumstances is held invalid, the validity of the remainder of these 
policies and procedures and the application of them to other persons and 
circumstances shall not be affected. 

 
(f) In general, the Purchasing Agent interprets these policies and procedures but the 

Commissioners Court resolves any question about any interpretation of these 
policies and procedures when there is a conflict related to an area that is not within 
the statutory authority of the Purchasing Agent. 

 

For additional information, the following are listed as references: 

 

• Comptroller of Public Accounts, State of Texas Cooperative Purchasing Manual 
 
 http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/coop/coop_manual.pdf 
 

• The State of Texas Contract Management Guide, Version 1.6 
 

http://www.cpa.state.tx.us/procurement/pub/contractguide/ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Additional 
Resources 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm

http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/coop/coop_manual.pdf�


Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Travis County Purchasing Code of Ethics 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 3-1 

Responsibility 
to County 

Chapter 3: Travis County Purchasing Code of Ethics 

It is the policy of Travis County that the following ethical principles govern the conduct of 
every employee involved, directly or indirectly, in the County procurement process. 
 
The following is adapted from the American Bar Association’s 2000 Model Procurement 
Code for State and Local Governments: 

 
Public employment is a public trust.  It is the policy of Travis County to 
promote the objective of protecting government integrity and the objective of 
facilitating the recruitment and retention of personnel needed by the County. 
Such policy is implemented by prescribing essential standards of ethical 
conduct without unnecessary obstacles to entering public service. 
 
Public employees must discharge their duties impartially so as to assure fair 
competitive access to County procurement by responsible contractors. 
Moreover, public employees should conduct themselves in such a manner 
that fosters public confidence in the integrity of the Travis County 
procurement process. 
 
To achieve the purpose of this policy, it is essential that those doing business 
with the Travis County Purchasing Office also observe the ethical standards 
prescribed in this policy. 

 
Employees shall avoid activities that compromise or give the perception of compromising 
the best interests of Travis County. Employees shall not knowingly use confidential 
proprietary information for actual or anticipated personal gain. 
 
Employees shall avoid any activity that would create a conflict between their personal 
interests and the interest of Travis County. Conflicts exist in any relationship where the 
County's best interest may be different from the employee’s best interests or the best 
interest of someone associated with the employee. Conflicts of interest include an 
employee participating in any way in any procurement in which: 

• The employee or any member of the employee's family has a financial interest in the 
results of the County procurement process; 

• A business or organization in which the employee, or any member of the employee's 
family, has a financial interest in the result of the County procurement process; or  

• Any other person, business, or organization with whom the employee or a member of 
the employee's family is negotiating for or has an arrangement concerning prospective 
employment. 

 
If conflicts of interest exist, the employee shall notify the Purchasing Agent in writing and 
remove him or herself from the County procurement process.  
 
Employees shall avoid the appearance of unethical or compromising practices in 
relationships, actions, and communications associated with County procurement. 
 
Employees shall not solicit or accept money, loans, gifts, favors, or anything of value, from 
present or potential contractors that might influence or appear to influence a purchasing 
decision. Generally, goods or services with a value of $75 or less in the aggregate from a 
vendor during a year do not violate this prohibition unless they influence or appear to 
influence a specific purchasing decision. If anyone is in doubt about whether a specific 
transaction complies with this policy, the person should disclose the transaction to the 
Purchasing Agent for a determination of compliance.  

Conflict 
of Interest 

Perception 

Gratuities 

Policy 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Travis County Purchasing Code of Ethics 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 3-2 

 
Employees shall keep the proprietary information of vendors confidential. Employees 
shall keep vendor proposal information obtained from a solicitation confidential 
until after contract award.  
 
The Travis County Purchasing Office uses a confidentiality memorandum (Exhibit 2) to 
ensure compliance with the ethics policy for keeping proprietary information confidential. 
Before the evaluation of confidential proposals, the Purchasing Office sends a 
memorandum to evaluation committee members for signature and certification. The 
memorandum contains the following requirements to which the evaluation committee 
member is expected to adhere during the course of the competitive process and until an 
award is approved by the Commissioners Court: 
 
• All information in the vendor’s response is to be kept confidential. 

 
• No discussion of the proposal is to occur with anyone outside of the proposal 

evaluation committee members. 
 

• Proposal responses are not to be reproduced and will be returned to the designated 
Purchasing Office staff after evaluation is completed. 
 

• The Purchasing Office is the sole point of communication for any questions from 
vendors that arise during the evaluation. All questions and requests for information 
should be referred to the Purchasing Office. There should not be any discussions 
between evaluation committee members and vendors during the evaluation and award 
process. 
 

• Evaluation committee members must be familiar with and read the Travis County 
Purchasing Code of Ethics and agree to comply with its requirements including 
reporting any potential conflict of interest, undue influence from vendors, or attempted 
communications from vendors during the evaluation process. 

 
Compliance with the requirements outlined in the Confidentiality Memorandum is crucial. If 
proprietary information of any vendor is compromised during the procurement process, all 
proposals may be rejected.                             

Confidential 
Information 

Confidentiality 
Memorandum 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Travis County Purchasing Code of Ethics 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  3-3 

 
Exhibit 2: Example Travis County Confidentiality Memorandum 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 TRAVIS COUNTY PURCHASING OFFICE
                               Cyd V. Grimes, C.P.M., Purchasing Agent  

314 W. 11th, Room 400   Austin, Texas 78701   (512) 854-9700   Fax (512) 854-9185 

13.1 MEMORANDUM 
 

 

TO:  Proposal Evaluation Team Member 
 
FROM: Cyd Grimes, C.P.M. 
  County Purchasing Agent 
 
DATE:  April 22, 2003 
 
SUBJECT: Request For Proposal (RFP) # P010355-FH, Widgets 
 
 
In accordance with the County Purchasing Act, this project was issued as a competitive proposal, and, 
therefore, all information contained in the responses is to be kept CONFIDENTIAL until an award is 
approved by Commissioners Court.   
 
Until that time, and due to the confidential nature of these proposals, no discussion of these proposals 
shall occur with anyone outside the Proposal Evaluation Committee members.  Proposal documents 
may not be reproduced for any reason and must be returned to (buyer’s name) after the evaluation is 
complete. 
 
Certain information about the proposal, such as vendor name, is public information but may only be 
released by the Purchasing Office.  Please refer all questions or requests for information to the buyer. 
 
Please note that if any information about these proposals is compromised, it may be cause for 
rejection of all proposals.  
 
I understand the above information and instructions and agree to not reveal any content of any proposal to 
anyone outside the evaluation committee membership.  I will not discuss the deliberations of the 
committee with anyone outside the evaluation committee.  I will report any vendor contact concerning 
this evaluation process or any undue influence on my evaluation of proposals to the responsible buyer. 
 
Additionally, I have read the attached “Travis County Purchasing Code of Ethics”, extracted from the 
Travis County Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual, and agree to conduct myself in accordance with 
that code of ethics. 
 
 
              
Signature of Evaluation Committee Member             Date 
 
 
Attached:  Travis County Purchasing Code Of Ethics 
 
 
 
 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Purchasing Agent Authority and Responsibilities 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  4-1 

Chapter 4: Purchasing Agent Authority and Responsibilities  

The Commissioners Court and the District Judges have created a Purchasing Board to 
implement a centralized purchasing structure and have given the Purchasing Office that 
mission. The Purchasing Board, composed of three District Judges and two members of 
the Commissioners Court, appoints the Purchasing Agent for Travis County to a two-year 
term and approves the budget for the Purchasing Office, including the Purchasing Agent's 
salary. 
 
Texas Local Government Code, Chapter 262, Subchapter B outlines the following duties 
for purchasing agents: 

• The Purchasing Agent shall purchase all supplies, materials, and equipment required 
or used, and contract for all repairs to property used by the County or a subdivision, 
officer, or employee of the county, except purchases and contracts required by law to 
be made on competitive bid. A person other than the Purchasing Agent may not 
purchase the supplies, materials, or equipment or make the contract for repairs. 

• The Purchasing Agent shall supervise all purchases made on competitive bid and shall 
see that all purchased supplies, materials, and equipment are delivered to the proper 
county officer or department in accordance with the purchase contract. 

• A purchase made by the Purchasing Agent shall be paid for by a warrant drawn by the 
Auditor on funds in the County treasury in the manner provided by law. The Auditor 
may not draw and the County Treasurer may not honor a warrant for a purchase 
unless the purchase is made by the Purchasing Agent or on competitive bid as 
provided by law. 

• On July 1 of each year, the Purchasing Agent shall file with the Auditor and each 
member of the Purchasing Board an inventory of all property on hand and belonging to 
the County and each subdivision, officer, and employee. The Auditor shall carefully 
examine the inventory and make an accounting for all property purchased or previously 
inventoried and not appearing in the inventory. 

• Subject to Commissioners Court approval, to prevent unnecessary purchases, the 
Purchasing Agent shall recommend the transfer of County goods that are not needed 
or used, from one department or employee, to another department or employee 
requiring the goods or the use of the goods. The Purchasing Agent shall furnish the 
Auditor a list of transferred goods. 

• Subject to Commissioners Court approval, the Purchasing Agent shall adopt the rules 
and procedures necessary to implement the agent's duties.  

• Rules and procedures adopted by the Purchasing Agent may include rules and 
procedures for persons to use county purchasing cards to pay for county purchases 
under the direction and supervision of the Purchasing Agent. 

 
In addition to these statutory duties, the Purchasing Agent: 
 

• Develops, implements, and manages the HUB program for the County; 

• Develops, implements, and manages a Fixed Asset Management System; 

• Encourages and supports compliance with Texas purchasing laws; 

• Works in conjunction with the Auditor and other County officials in the development 
of efficient financial processes; 

• Promotes local business participation in County procurement processes; and  

Appointment 

Statutory 
Authority 
and Duties 

Additional 
Responsibilitie

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Purchasing Process, Policy, Roles and Responsibilities 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 5-1 

• Provides the business community with a central link to County business. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Purchasing Process, Policy, Roles and Responsibilities 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 5-2 

Chapter 5: Purchasing Process, Policy, Roles and Responsibilities 

The general purchasing process as outlined in Exhibit 3 contains several stages with 
responsibilities that are often designated by statute. It begins with requirements planning 
and identification and culminates with the receipt of and payment for goods and services. 
  

Exhibit 3: Purchasing Process 
Step Performed By: 

Identify requirements and obtain 
budget 

User Department (Purchasing Office 
may assist) 

Define/finalize requirements  User Department and Purchasing Office  
Submit electronic requisition outlining 
requirements to Purchasing 

User Department 

Solicit, advertise, and generate 
Purchase Orders and Contracts from 
requisition and send to vendor 

Purchasing 

Deliver good/service as outlined in 
contract and submit invoice 

Vendor 

Receive good/service and verify 
completeness against contract 

User Department (Purchasing Office 
coordinates, especially for fixed assets) 

Electronically receive item in H.T.E. 
system and submit original invoice to 
Auditor’s Office 

User Department 

Match received amount with invoice 
and audit 

Auditor 

Submit payment claim to 
Commissioners Court for approval 

Auditor 

Approve payment of claim Commissioners Court 
Disburse payment of claim County Treasurer 

 
Coordination among many County departments and Offices is necessary for the process to 
work smoothly. To avoid delays and comply with County policy and state law, user 
departments should remember the following: 
 

• Do not authorize the purchase of any goods or services.  
 

• Do not purchase any goods or services for your own personal benefit. 
 

• Do not obligate the purchase of goods that are delivered for use on a trial basis. 
 

• Do not commit to acquire goods or services without an authorized purchase 
order. Anyone obligating an expenditure of funds for goods or services before securing 
a purchase order may be held personally responsible for the payment, and may face 
criminal charges. 
 

• Adhere to the County Purchasing Code of Ethics and avoid activities and 
behaviors that are unethical or create a conflict of interest or the perception of a 
conflict of interest. Examples of activities that are inappropriate include:  
 

 soliciting or accepting gratuities of any kind from present or potential contractors 
which might influence or appear to influence a purchasing decision;  
 

 failing to disclose in writing to the Purchasing Agent a conflict of interest and not 
removing yourself from the procurement process when there is a conflict; and  
 

 disclosing confidential proprietary information from solicitations to other vendors or 

User Do’s 
and Don’ts  

Purchasing 
Process  

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Purchasing Process, Policy, Roles and Responsibilities 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 5-3 

using the information for personal gain. 
 
• Do not use purchasing strategies that violate the law to avoid competition. 

Strategies that are prohibited by law include:   
 

 purchasing a series of component parts that would normally be purchased as a 
whole  (component purchases);  
 

 purchasing items in a series of separate purchases that normally would be 
purchased as a single purchase  (separate purchases); and  
 

 purchasing items over a period of time, that normally would be done as one 
purchase  (sequential purchases).  

 
A county officer or employee who intentionally or knowingly makes or authorizes 
separate, sequential, or component purchases to avoid the competitive bidding 
requirements of Texas Local Government Code, Section 262.023, is committing a 
Class B misdemeanor according to Texas Local Government Code, section 
262.034(a). 
 

• Do not violate or authorize the violation of the Purchasing Act. Any person who 
knowingly violates or authorizes the violation of the Purchasing Act and any county or 
precinct person who fails to use the Purchasing Agent for purchases, including an 
agent or employee of the County or of a department of the County commits a criminal 
offense which is a misdemeanor. Each act in violation of the law is a separate offense. 
 

• Ensure funding is available before submitting a requisition. The law does not 
allow expenditures that exceed budgets. Purchasing does not process requisitions for 
which there is not adequate funding. 
 

• Plan purchases to minimize the use of emergency and expedited purchases. 
Rush purchases are generally more expensive and they delay other requisitions 
already in the system. Vendors may attempt to charge premium prices for goods and 
services when there is insufficient time allowed to explore alternative sources or 
options. 
 

• Plan purchases to allow sufficient time to process purchase requests. The 
Purchasing Office is committed to processing all requisitions within a reasonable 
amount of time. In general, departments should allow 2–4 weeks for all non-contract 
purchases under $50,000 and 6–8 weeks on all purchases requested over $50,000 
that are not covered by an existing contract. Contract requisitions are generally 
processed within one day of receipt. 
 

• Ensure that purchasing policies and procedures are understood before ordering. 
Departments must assure that all employees responsible for making department 
purchase requests (“purchasing liaisons”) have read and understand the purchasing 
procedures in this manual. Departments should also ensure that liaisons attend any 
training provided by the Purchasing Office. 
 

• Coordinate with Purchasing on receipt of goods and services. Since the County 
does not have centralized receiving, each department is responsible for individually 
receiving goods and services. Departments should contact the individual listed as the 
buyer on the purchase order to make Purchasing aware of vendor performance issues 
such as shortages, late delivery, or damaged merchandise. If the item received is a 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Purchasing Process, Policy, Roles and Responsibilities 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 5-4 

fixed asset that must be tracked and reported, departments should contact the Fixed 
Asset Manager in Purchasing to coordinate tagging.  

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Purchasing Process, Policy, Roles and Responsibilities 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 5-5 

There are specific roles and responsibilities for both user departments and the Purchasing 
Office during the competitive procurement process. They protect the integrity of the 
process and provide fair and equal access to all vendors seeking to do business with 
Travis County. Exhibit 4 outlines the primary roles and responsibilities.  
 

Roles and 
Responsibilities 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Purchasing Process, Policy, Roles and Responsibilities 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 5-6 

Exhibit 4: Purchasing Process Roles and Responsibilities 

Process User Department 
Role/Responsibility 

Purchasing Office  
Role/Responsibility 

Requirements 
Definition/ 
Specification 
Development 

1. Identifies what is needed, 
when it is needed, the 
quantity needed and where it 
is needed and works with 
Purchasing Office to 
document need in writing a 
specification 

2. Ensures funding (budget) is 
available to support need 

3. Sends specification and 
requisition with funding to 
Purchasing Office 

4. Works with Purchasing Office 
to develop evaluation criteria/ 
formats (as applicable) 

1. Consults with User Department 
in development of specification 
and procurement process to be 
used 

2. Reviews specification to ensure 
that it is descriptive and specific 
but does not prevent competitive 
bidding of comparable goods 

3. Works with user department to 
develop evaluation 
criteria/formats (as applicable) 

4. Prepares agenda item for 
Commissioners Court (if 
applicable) 

Solicitation  1. Reviews solicitation 
documents before issuance 
to ensure department needs 
are met 

2. Provides Purchasing Office 
with a list of potential vendors 
that can meet the solicitation 
requirements 

3. Provides technical 
clarifications to Purchasing 
Office if vendor questions 
arise 

4. Supports  pre-solicitation 
conferences (as applicable) 

1. Develops solicitation documents 
based on specification and 
sends to user department for 
review before final issuance 

2. Issues solicitation to vendors on 
the vendor list (and those 
identified by user department) 

3. Advertises solicitation in 
accordance with State law 

4. Conducts pre-solicitation 
conferences (as applicable) 

5. Provides answers or 
clarifications to vendors before 
solicitation closes 

6. Receives and logs vendor 
responses 

7. Prepares responses for 
evaluation and sends to user 
department 

Evaluation and 
Negotiation (as 
applicable) 

1. Evaluators from Department 
sign confidentiality 
memorandum and send to 
Purchasing Office (as 
applicable) 

2. Evaluates response based on 
established evaluation criteria 
and formats 

3. Completes evaluation and 
submits recommendation to 
Purchasing Office 

4. Works with Purchasing Office 
to develop negotiation 
strategy (as applicable) 

5. Participates as member of 
negotiating team to negotiate 
Best and Final Offers 

1. Issues confidentiality 
memorandum to all evaluators 
before evaluation commences 
(as applicable) 

2. Supervises evaluation process 
to ensure consistent and fair 
application of evaluation criteria 

3. Acts as point of contact for 
evaluator requests and 
communications to vendors for 
additional information 

4. Compiles individual evaluation 
results and works with users to 
develop recommendation for 
award and prepares contract 
award agenda item for 
Commissioners Court or 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Purchasing Process, Policy, Roles and Responsibilities 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 5-7 

Process User Department 
Role/Responsibility 

Purchasing Office  
Role/Responsibility 

(BAFOs) (as applicable) 
6. Works with Purchasing Office 

to co-develop final 
recommendation for award 

7. Provides information to 
Purchasing Office 
(memorandum) to support 
contract award agenda 
development 

5. Works with user department to 
develop negotiation strategy (as 
applicable) 

6. Leads negotiating team to 
negotiate BAFOs (if applicable) 

7. Receives BAFOs and co-
develops final recommendation 
for award (if applicable) and 

8. Prepares contract award agenda 
request for Commissioners 
Court 

Contract 
Modifications 

1. Request modifications in 
writing to Purchasing Office 

2. Reviews draft and final 
modification to ensure it 
meets department needs 

1. Evaluates modification request 
and works with user department 
to develop modifications 

2. Coordinates with vendor and 
user department to develop draft 
modifications 

3. Works with County Attorney to 
review and finalize modifications 

4. Obtains appropriate signatures 
(vendor, attorney, etc.) 

5. Either Purchasing Agent 
approves modifications or 
develops Commissioners Court 
agenda item for approval 
depending on type and amount 
of modification 

Contract 
Performance 
Monitoring 

1. Receives copy of contract 
and monitors vendor 
performance and delivery 

2. Notifies Purchasing Office of 
non-performance and 
provides written 
documentation outlining 
details of non-performance 
(dates, description of 
problem, etc.) 

3. Works with Purchasing Office 
to develop acceptable 
corrective actions (as 
applicable) 

1. Maintains complete contract file 
with supporting documentation 
during term of contract 

2. Works with vendor to resolve 
performance issues as identified 
by user department 

3. Develops corrective actions and 
timetables for completion to 
resolve performance issues and 
documents in contract file (as 
applicable) 

4. Works with user department and 
County Attorney to terminate 
contract when necessary 
because of non-performance 

5. Prepares contract termination 
agenda item for Commissioners 
Court action (if required)  

 
 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Historically Underutilized Business Program 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  6-1 

Chapter 6: Historically Underutilized Business Program 

The policy of the Travis County Purchasing Office is to ensure a good faith effort is made 
to assist certified HUB vendors and contractors in receiving contracts in accordance with 
the HUB Program policies and the Minority and Woman-Owned Business (M/WBE) goals 
adopted by the Travis County Commissioners Court. 
 
The HUB Program policies and Minority and Woman-Owned Business goals shall be 
applicable to the eligible procurement dollars spent in the following areas:  
 

• Purchase of supplies, materials, products, services, and equipment. 
 
• Maintenance or service of County assets and property 
 
• Contracts for professional and non-professional services 
 
• Contracts for commodities, equipment, supplies or materials 
 
• Contracts for repair or alteration of real property 
 
• Contracts for the construction on real property 
 
• Contracts for the repair or construction of roads, bridges, or other related 

structures and surfaces.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Each buyer shall, to the maximum extent practical, ensure the HUB goals are met through 
the award of purchase orders and contracts, in each area defined above, to certified HUBs. 
This is achieved through a systematic approach of soliciting quotes, bids, and proposals 
from certified HUBs.  
 
For solicitations up to $2,499, the Purchasing Office solicits a quote from a certified HUB, if 
possible. For a solicitation from $2,500 to $50,000, the Purchasing Office requires at least 
three informal quotes, one of which must be from a certified HUB. 
 
The Purchasing Office uses a third party vendor to maintain the Bidders List.  All registered 
vendors within a specific commodity and sub-commodity category are solicited. All HUB 
vendors are encouraged to register with the third party vendor so they are included in 
formal solicitations within the commodity code they select.  

Policy 

Informal 
Solicitations 

Formal 
Solicitations 

Travis County  
HUB Goals 

Construction Commodities Services Professional 
Services 

African-American 1.7% 0.3% 2.5%  1.9%  
Hispanic 9.7% 2.5% 9.9% 9.0%  
Native/Asian 
American 2.3% 0.7% 1.7% 4.9% 

WBE 13.8%  6.2% 15.0% 15.8% 
MBE 13.7%  3.5% 14.1% 15.8% 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Historically Underutilized Business Program 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  6-2 

Travis County does not certify HUB vendors.  HUB vendors must complete the certification 
process with the State of Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, the City of Austin, or 
Texas Unified Certification Program. The vendor must hold a current valid certification from 
one of these entities.  
 
Travis County may review the certification status of any vendor applying to do business 
with the County. This review determines the validity and authenticity of the vendor's 
certification as a HUB. The Travis County HUB Coordinator works in conjunction with the 
various certifying agencies to conduct random audits of those vendors representing 
themselves as certified HUBs. If a vendor representing itself as a certified HUB does not 
meet the requirements of the certifying agency, the vendor may be disqualified as a 
certified HUB with Travis County. 
 
Outreach activities help educate the HUB community on the logistics of doing business 
with Travis County. The marketing and outreach programs entail:  
 

• Conducting workshops and seminars on the HUB Program and how it can help 
the HUB Entrepreneur be an active participant in the Travis County 
procurement process.  
 

• Identifying certifying agencies accepted by Travis County, and 
 

• Providing overall assistance to HUBs in various areas as required, within the limits 
of the Purchasing Act. 

 
Prime Contractors who are awarded contracts with the County are required to make a 
“Good Faith Effort” to subcontract with HUBs. This includes professional services 
associated with the projects. 
 
The Prime Contractor shall comply with the following criteria: 
 
1. Divide the contract work into the smallest feasible portions to allow for maximum HUB 

Subcontractor participation, consistent with standard and prudent industry practices.  
 

2. Notify HUBs of work that the prime contractor plans to subcontract, allowing sufficient 
time for effective participation. The notification shall include: 
 
• Adequate information about the project and intended subcontracting work (i.e. 

plans and specifications, scope of work).  
 
• Bonding and insurance requirements of HUB subcontractor  
 
• A point of contact within the Prime Contractor’s organization that can answer any 

questions a HUB may have about the project.  
 

3. Provide written notice and explanations to the Purchasing Agent or HUB Coordinator if 
the Prime Contractor is unable to meet the required goal for HUB subcontractor 
participation, and why the goal was not met. 

 
4. Negotiate in good faith with interested HUBs, not rejecting bids from HUBs that qualify 

as lowest, responsive and responsible bidders.  
 
5. Use the services of minority or women trade organizations or development centers to 

disseminate the subcontracting opportunities to their membership and participants. 

Eligibility 

Outreach 
Efforts 

Good Faith 
Effort for 
Construction 
Projects 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Historically Underutilized Business Program 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  6-3 

6. Communicate to the Purchasing Agent when no HUB participation is achieved and 
include reasons why. 
 

7. Obtain pre-approval from the Purchasing Agent or the HUB Coordinator of all changes 
involving Certified HUB Subcontractors. Modifications to the HUB Subcontractor 
Participation Plan are permitted only after award of the bid and solely with the prior 
written approval of the Purchasing Office.  

 
The HUB Coordinator provides a list of certified HUBs, upon request, to any prime 
contractor experiencing difficulty locating certified HUBs to fulfill their subcontracting goals, 
 
Prime Contractors report all payments to subcontractors to the Purchasing Office. 
Payments made to all subcontractors are tracked on a monthly basis. A semi-annual report 
including information on contracts awarded to HUBs and payments made to those 
contractors and subcontractors is provided to the Commissioners Court.  

 
To qualify as a sub-recipient of federal funds for the design and construction of various 
public work projects, the County is required to implement a federally compliant 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program as established in 49CFR Part 26, or 
partner with another governmental agency’s DBE Program.  This policy was established to 
ensure DBE’s had the opportunity to participate in the performance of contracts financed in 
whole or in part with Federal funds. 
  
 The Vendor Tracking System (VTS) is a web-based paperless system used to route and 
verify subcontracting payments made to certified HUBs for any subcontracting tier-level, 
specifically for construction and professional services contracts. 
 
 

Reporting 

Disadvantaged 
Business 
Enterprise 

Vendor 
Tracking 
System 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Other General Purchasing Policies 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  7-1 

Chapter 7: Other General Purchasing Policies 
 

The Commissioners Court directs the Purchasing Agent to include a provision in County 
contracts that allows the County to pay the Travis County Tax Assessor-Collector directly 
any sums due as a result of tax delinquencies by any Contractor from sums due to the 
Contractor instead of paying the Contractor.  
   
A Dispute Resolution Clause is included in County contracts, except Right Of Way (ROW) 
contracts and contracts with state and federal agencies.  
 
All purchasing contracts must have a place for the Purchasing Agent, the County Auditor, 
and the County Attorney to sign to indicate that the contract has been reviewed. The 
Purchasing Agent must review the contract for compliance with purchasing procedures. 
The County Auditor must verify that there are funds available for the contract. The County 
Attorney must review the contract for compliance with the law and Commissioners Court 
policies.  
 
According to Texas Local Government Code, section 111.093, the County Auditor shall: 
 
• Charge all purchase orders, requisitions, contracts, and salary and labor allowances to 

the appropriate account, and 
 
• Certify the budget contains an ample provision for the obligations and that funds are or 

will be available to pay each obligation when due. 
 
The Information and Telecommunications Systems Department (ITS) reviews all purchase 
requests made by departments for software, hardware and other data processing 
equipment and provides a written assessment to the requesting department, Purchasing 
Office, and Commissioners Court before court approval. This procedure is to ensure 
compatibility and standardization. ITS may provide the Purchasing Agent with a list of the 
goods and services that have been pre-approved and need no additional review. To 
purchase any other data processing goods or services, the User Department must obtain 
ITS approval.  
 
Before purchase, the Records Management and Communications Resources Department 
(RMCR) reviews requests of record storage equipment (filing cabinets, shelving, etc.), filing 
supplies (file folders, filing systems), microfilm and micrographic equipment and other 
emerging record storage technologies. This procedure is to ensure compatibility and 
standardization. 
 
When new equipment is being acquired, the Facilities Management Department provides a 
statement about whether adequate space and other facilities resources necessary for the 
proper operation of the equipment are available in a place accessible to the department 
requesting it. 
 
Travis County departments are encouraged to expend a minimum of 8% of annual 
purchasing budgets for environmentally preferable products which achieve conservation 
benefits. Environmentally preferable products are products and services that have a lesser 
or reduced effect on human health and the environment when compared to other products 
and services that serve the same purpose.  This comparison may consider raw materials 
acquisition, production, manufacturing, packaging, distribution, reuse, operation, 
maintenance, or disposal of the product or service. 
 
The purchase and use of products and services can have a profound impact on the 

ITS Review of 
Data Processing 
Equipment 

Records 
Management 
Review of 
Storage 
Equipment 

Facilities 
Management 
Review  

Standard  
Contract Terms 
and Conditions 

Recycling 
Policy 

County Auditor 
Funds 
Verification 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Other General Purchasing Policies 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 7-2 

environment.  The Travis County Purchasing Office recognizes the positive impact that it 
can make on the environment through the purchasing decisions that staff make.  It is the 
intent of the Purchasing Office to integrate environmental considerations into every aspect 
of acquisition.  Although the environment may not be the core of our professional mission, 
the integration of these factors will result in economic, health, and environmental gains that 
will further our goals. 
 
In this manual, recycling means the processing of used materials into new products to 
save resources and energy, and the collection, storage and transportation of those 
materials from the initial user.   Examples of recycled products include remanufactured 
toner cartridges, re-refined motor oil, recycled content paper, etc.  
 
The Purchasing Office shall: 
 
• seek to reduce the environmental damages associated with purchases by increasing 

acquisition of environmentally preferable products and services to the extent feasible, 
consistent with price, performance, availability, and safety considerations; 

 
• Take environmental factors into account as early as possible in the planning and 

decision-making process; 
 
• share responsibility for environmentally preferable purchasing with departmental staff; 
 
• provide user departments with information to facilitate their purchase of designated 

products that are reputed to perform well and inform them of their responsibilities; 
 
• revise minimum content standards as necessary to ensure that designated products 

contain the maximum practical amount of recovered material and are consistent with 
guidelines and regulations promulgated by the United States Environmental Protection 
Agency, and other Federal and State agencies; 

 
• ensure that environmentally preferable products are designated whenever practicable; 
 
• encourage venders to give consideration to recycled boxes, water soluble peanuts, 

and other products that replace bubble wrap and petroleum based peanuts which are 
harmful to the environment; and 

 
• Consider environmental factors in selecting products, including life cycle analysis of 

pollutant releases, waste generation, recycled content, energy consumption, depletion 
of natural resources, and potential impact on human health and the environment. 
 

Contractors performing services for County are required to comply with all applicable 
waste management law. Requirements of the Waste Management Program of the Travis 
County Transportation and Natural Resources Department which are not specifically 
required by law are incorporated into service contracts and commodities specifications 
whenever this inclusion meets the Program Feasibility Criteria. 
 
When departments sustain loss or damage to goods or buildings, and funding for 
replacement or repair is coordinated through the Risk Management department, the actual 
purchase is processed by the Purchasing Office. Additionally, an Inventory Form is 
completed by the department and forwarded to the Fixed Asset Manager so that inventory 
files can be updated if applicable. 

Risk 
Management 
Coverage 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Other General Purchasing Policies 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 7-3 

Each department must have written internal procedures for emergency purchases less 
than $50,000 that occur after regular work hours.  Those procedures must be approved in 
advance by the Purchasing Agent. 
 
The internal department procedure should require that department employees contact their 
financial officer or other designated person for approval. On the first working day after the 
purchase, the department must enter a purchase requisition into the H.T.E. system and 
provide written documentation to the Purchasing Agent. If the Purchasing Agent has not 
approved procedures for emergency purchases for a department, the department must 
wait until the next working day to make the purchase. 
 
All interlocal agreements that involve purchase of goods, services, repair, or maintenance 
agreements must be approved in writing by the Purchasing Agent before being submitted 
to Commissioners Court for approval. Interlocal agreements approved by the Purchasing 
Agent are assigned a number and entered into the H.T.E. system for tracking and payment 
purposes. Other Interlocal Agreements may be added to the H.T.E. system on request.   
 
Bonds for construction contracts are dealt with in chapter 15. For all other contracts, the 
Purchasing Agent determines whether a bond of any sort is required. 
 
Bid bonds are not required for contracts that are less than $100,000.  Bid bonds are not 
required from any bidder or proponent whose rates are subject to regulation by a state 
agency.   
 
Bid bonds may be requested for the construction of public works, or for a contract 
exceeding $100,000. The county may require the bidder to furnish a good and sufficient 
bid bond in the amount of 5% of the total contract price. A surety company authorized to do 
business in Texas must execute the bond.   
 
If a bid bond is not required by law, the Purchasing Agent may accept a Letter of Credit in 
place of a bid bond on the following conditions: 
 
• the County Attorney reviews and acknowledges in writing the legal sufficiency of using 

a Letter of Credit for this contract, 
 
• the County Attorney reviews and acknowledges in writing the legal sufficiency of the 

terms of the proposed Letter of Credit, and 
 
• the Purchasing Agent has verified the acceptability of the financial condition of the 

institution providing the Letter of Credit. 
 
Performance bonds are not usually required for contracts that are less than $50,000, but 
may be required at the Purchasing Agent’s discretion.  Performance Bonds are not 
required from any bidder or proponent whose rates are subject to regulation by a state 
agency. If the Purchasing Agent decides that a performance bond is required for a 
particular contract, the solicitation states a performance bond in the full amount of the 
contract price is required and that it must be executed by a surety company authorized to 
do business in Texas before the Contractor commences work and within 30 days after the 
notice of contract award is sent to the Contractor.  
 
If a performance bond is not required by law, the Purchasing Agent may accept a Letter of 
Credit in place of a performance bond or a bond to cover the repurchase price of 
equipment on the following conditions: 
 

After Hours 
Emergency 
Purchases 

Interlocal 
Agreements 

Bonding 
Requirements 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Other General Purchasing Policies 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 7-4 

• the County Attorney reviews and acknowledges in writing the legal sufficiency of using 
a Letter of Credit for this contract, 

 
• the County Attorney reviews and acknowledges in writing the legal sufficiency of the 

terms of the proposed Letter of Credit, and 
 
• the Purchasing Agent has verified the acceptability of the financial condition of the 

institution providing the Letter of Credit. 
 
In a contract for the purchase of earth moving, material-handling, road maintenance or 
construction equipment, the Commissioners Court may require the contractor to furnish a 
bond to the County to cover the repurchase costs of the equipment.  
 
A payment bond shall be required on all public works projects exceeding $25,000.   
 
If a payment bond is not required by law, the Purchasing Agent may accept a Letter of 
Credit in place of a payment bond on the following conditions: 
 
• the County Attorney reviews and acknowledges in writing the legal sufficiency of using 

a Letter of Credit for this contract, 
 
• the County Attorney reviews and acknowledges in writing the legal sufficiency of the 

terms of the proposed Letter of Credit, and 
 
• the Purchasing Agent has verified the acceptability of the financial condition of the 

institution providing the Letter of Credit. 
 
Best Value is a method of evaluating the price that includes an evaluation based on the 
total life cycle cost of the item or service.  Best value is the best and lowest overall life 
cycle cost proposal taking into consideration various factors depending on what is being 
procured.  Factors specific to the product or service that may be considered include: 
  
• initial purchase price   

 
• on-going maintenance and operating cost 

 
• expected life of the product or service 

 
• capacity for expanding and/or upgrading product or service (such as in software 

and hardware purchases) 
 

• reliability factors 
 

• level of training required by county staff 
 

• level of technical support required by county staff  
 

• reputation of proposer 
 

• compliance with the County's contractual terms and conditions 
 
If the IFB states that the safety record may be considered in determining the responsibility 
of the bidder and includes the Safety Record Questionnaire in its Appendix, County takes 
into account the bidder’s safety record in determining the responsible bidder. The safety 

Consideration 
of Safety 
Records 

Best Value 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Other General Purchasing Policies 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 7-5 

record includes compliance with requirements for the safety of the environment.  In relation 
to the safety record, bidder includes not only the bidder; but also the firm, corporation, 
partnership or institution represented by the bidder; or anyone acting for such a firm, 
corporation, partnership, or institution. 
 
The definition and criteria for determining the safety record of a bidder are as follows: 
 
1. If the bidder reveals more than two (2) cases in which final orders have been 

entered by the Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission (OSHRC) 
against the bidder for serious violations of OSHA regulations within the past three 
(3) years, County will, at its discretion, determine whether to disqualify the bidder.  

 
2. If the bidder reveals more than one (1) case in which bidder has received a citation 

from an environmental protection agency for violations within the past five (5) 
years, County will, at its discretion, determine whether to disqualify the bidder.  

 
Environmental Protection Agencies include the U.S. Army Corps of Engineer 
(USACOE), the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), the Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA), the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 
(TCEQ), and its past associated agency, the Texas Natural Resource Conservation 
Commission (TNRCC), the Texas Department of Health, the Texas Parks and 
Wildlife Department (TPWD), the Structural Pest Control Board (SPCB), agencies 
of local governments responsible for enforcing environmental protection laws or 
regulations, and similar regulatory agencies of other states of the United States.   
Citations include notice of violation, notice of enforcement, suspension/revocations 
of state or federal licenses or registrations, fines assessed pending criminal 
complaints, indictments, or convictions, administrative orders, draft orders, final 
orders, and judicial final judgments.  Notice of Violations and Notice of 
Enforcement received from TCEQ shall include those classified as major violations 
and moderate violations under TCEQ’s regulations for documentation of 
Compliance History, 30TAC, Chapter 60.2 (c) (1) and (2). 

 
3. If the bidder reveals that the bidder has been convicted of a criminal offense within 

the past ten (10) years which resulted in serious bodily harm or death, County will 
determine whether to disqualify the bidder. 

 
For IFB solicitations and certain other contracts selected by the Purchasing Agent, vendors 
may submit their response electronically though the third party vendor selected by the 
Purchasing Agent.  That vendor is currently BidSync at www.bidsync.com.   Responses 
may be electronically signed and the ethics affidavit may be electronically sworn. All 
electronic transactions must comply with the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act in Chapter 
322 of the Texas Business and Commerce Code and all other applicable law. 
 
The Purchasing Office maintains a list of vendors who have requested that they be sent 
notices of advertised solicitations. The vendor list is categorized by the commodity and 
sub-commodity codes for the goods and services that the vendor has indicated it is 
capable of providing.  The Purchasing Office utilizes a third party vendor for maintenance 
of the vendor list and publication of solicitations. Vendors interested in participating in 
County solicitations may register withwww.bidsync.com. 
 
As a courtesy to vendors and as a means of encouraging competition, notification of each 
solicitation is provided to appropriate vendors. Notices of solicitations are sent by a variety 
of methods including e-mail and facsimile transmission whenever the vendor has provided 
appropriate contact information. The Purchasing Office also advertises solicitations on the 

Electronic  
Transactions 

Vendor 
List  

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Other General Purchasing Policies 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 7-6 

County’s access television channel and on the County Purchasing website at 
http://www.co.travis.tx.us/purchasing/solicitation.asp, and in newspapers of general 
circulation as required by law. 
 
Generally, prepayment is not authorized for any purchase of supplies, materials, equipment 
or services.  Exceptions are: 
• Library materials  
• Merchandise purchased from federal and state agencies 
• Realty rental   
• Subscriptions 
• Rental fee for meeting rooms 
• Annual maintenance agreements for information technology 
• Tuition to an institution of higher education 
• Training and Travel expenses per budget rules 
• Other prepayments as authorized by the County Auditor 
 
Travis County departments are encouraged to do business with companies who adhere to 
the federal and state labor law and regulations including but not limited to: 
• The Fair Labor Standards Act through limiting child labor, requiring payment for 

overtime work and establishing a minimum wage.  
• The Occupational Health and Safety Act which requires safe working practices and 

procedures in all projects.  
• Any state or federal law prohibiting discrimination or harassment based on age, 

gender, race, religion, or national origin in the work place.  
 
Travis County, including the Purchasing Office, is strongly committed to upholding these 
beliefs in ethical and humane business practices.  
 
Grants should be administered via a written contractual agreement between the County 
and the party providing the service.  Government Code Sec. 2261.002(1) includes grants 
in its definition of a contract unless certain criteria are met.  All purchases made with grant 
monies will comply with the terms and conditions of the grant, as well as the County’s 
procedures regarding all purchases.   The department is responsible to provide the 
Purchasing Agent a copy of all procurement requirements in the grant document in a timely 
manner.  Grants often have short time frames to meet. 
 

Prepayments 
and Advance 
Payments 

Ethical 
Procurement 

Grant Funded 
purchases 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm

http://www.co.travis.tx.us/purchasing/solicitation.asp�


Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual The Requisitioning Process 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  8-1 

Chapter 8: The Requisitioning Process 

Requisitioning is the formal request for a purchase to be made. It is the first step after the 
need for goods or services is recognized. 
 
The department's purchase requisition authorizes the Purchasing Office to enter into a 
contract with a vendor to purchase goods or services. This automated form is for internal 
use and cannot be used by a department to order materials directly from a vendor. 
 
Travis County uses an automated requisitioning system, commonly referred to as the 
H.T.E. system. Based on pre-established budget line items, the user department enters 
purchase requisitions into the H.T.E. system. Adequate budget funds must be available in 
the departmental line items before the Purchasing Office can purchase the requested 
goods and services. Manual requisitions and purchase orders are not acceptable, unless 
the Purchasing Agent has approved the manual process in writing. 
 
The only exceptions to automated purchase orders are the Requests of Payment 
processed directly by the Auditor’s Office for the following goods or services:  
• Utilities,  
• cellular telephones, 
• attorney's vouchers, 
• foster parents, 
• specified court related expenditures, 
• routine duty travel, 
• long distance trunk lines, 
• travel, meals, and lodging, 
• appropriations to other governments, 
• RSVP mileage 
• Training and seminars 
• Risk Management claims 
• Purchases not required by statue to be processed by the Purchasing Agent 
 
Purchase requisitions should fully describe what to buy, when it is required, and where the 
goods are to be delivered or the services are to be performed. For contract items, the 
H.T.E. system “builds” the description of the item from a pre-loaded contract. For non-
contract or “open market” requisitions, the user department needs to “build” a complete 
description of the item(s) needed. Exhibit 5 identifies the information and steps the user 
department should follow to obtain the full descriptive information needed to process open 
market requisitions expeditiously. The information should be researched and obtained 
before the user department enters a requisition in the H.T.E. system.  
 
After the Purchasing Office receives a purchase requisition, it determines the appropriate 
purchasing method based on the cost of the purchase, the goods and services to be 
purchased, the existing contracts for goods and services and other relevant factors.   
 
Specific instructions on entering purchase requisitions into the automated H.T.E. system 
are not covered in this manual. The user department can contact the Purchasing Office for 
training. 
 
The Purchasing Office classifies purchase requisitions according to the type of action and 
the time required for the purchase. There are four types: contract, routine, expedited, and 
emergency.   

Types of 
Purchase 
Requisitions 

Definition 

Policy 

Purpose 

Procedure 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual The Requisitioning Process 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  8-2 

• Contract Requisitions - Normal purchases of items ordered from existing contracts 
that are loaded in the H.T.E. system. Contract requisitions generally require one 
working day to process. 
 

• Routine – Normal purchases under $50,000 that are not under contract (i.e. “open 
market” requisitions).  These generally require 2 to 4 weeks to process. 
 

• Expedited - Open market purchases where the goods or services are needed sooner 
than the routine cycle time. Expedited purchases generally do not qualify as 
emergency purchases and are subject to all applicable bidding requirements. 
Expedited purchase requisitions require 1 to 3 working days to process. They are 
goods or services needed quickly to prevent costly delays, and therefore warrant the 
additional cost and effort caused by the interruption of the normal work routine. They 
should not be used unless absolutely required. There are two types of expedited 
purchase requisitions: 
 

 Walk Through – Open market purchases for goods or services needed within 
three working days to avoid work interruption, loss of service or significant added 
cost of operations. The user department should hand-carry all paperwork to the 
Purchasing Office immediately after entering the purchase requisition into the 
H.T.E. system.  

 
 Work Stoppage – Open market purchases for goods or services needed 

immediately to prevent work stoppage due to unanticipated conditions. The user 
department should telephone or e-mail the Purchasing Office immediately upon 
entering the purchase requisition into the H.T.E. system and should also provide 
written documentation of the existence of a work stoppage for the contract file 
(written comments in the requisition or e-mail justification from department head, 
executive manager or designee are acceptable documentation). The Purchasing 
Office instructs the user department on what action to take. 

 
• Emergency - Emergency means circumstances where an immediate response is 

required for the safety of persons or property.  Emergency purchases with a total cost 
under $50,000 are handled like an expedited purchase requisition. The user 
department should immediately contact the Purchasing Agent so that proper action can 
be initiated immediately. 

 
Note:  Cycle time to process a requisition refers to the time between when a purchase 
requisition is received in the Purchasing Office and when an actual purchase order is 
placed with a vendor. Cycle time does not include the time required for delivery, or the time 
it takes for the Purchasing Office or the user department to make corrections to budget line 
item accounts, commodity codes, and similar actions associated with a purchase that are 
not processed by the Purchasing Office. 
 
Reminder: It is the department’s responsibility to follow their requisition to make sure it is 
released from the Auditor’s queue. Time the requisition may spend in the Auditor’s queue 
is not included in cycle time. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual The Requisitioning Process 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  8-3 

Exhibit 5: Open Market Requisition Checklist 

Step Reference Source: 
Identify the commodity and sub-commodity code for 
the item(s) to determine the accounting line item(s) 
to be used and ensure that there are sufficient 
budgeted funds available. Perform budget transfer if 
necessary, before submitting requisition. 

H.T.E. system (purchasing module 
for commodity/sub-commodity and 
financial module for account line 
item balances) 

Find the desired item(s) and obtain the following 
information: 

 Manufacturer Name (e.g. Dell) 
 Model Number (e.g. Pentium series II, model 

Number 135867) 
 Unit of measure (e.g. each) 
 Unit price, quantity, and total price 
 Item description (complete description with as 

much detail as possible) 

Vendor catalog, Internet research 
 
Helpful hint: copy the model 
description information from the 
source and either type it in the 
requisition or forward via interoffice 
mail or e-mail to purchasing. Also, 
identify where you got the 
information (e.g. Office Depot 
catalog p.22 or online at 
www.officedepot.com, item xxx) 

Obtain the full description for the item(s) being 
purchased. Example of full description (file 
cabinet): 
File Cabinet, Vertical, 2 Drawer, Letter Size, 
Dimensions 27 3/4"H x 17 11/16"W x 25"D, 
Color:  Steel Gray 
Shipping Weight: 320 Lb. 
MFG: FireKing P/N FK25 
(seen online at Office Depot catalog) 

Vendor catalog, Internet research 
 
 
 

Check the vendor name to see if the vendor exists in 
the H.T.E. system and verify the vendor number. If 
the vendor does not exist, obtain the following to 
enter into requisition comments: 

 Vendor name 
 Vendor address 
 Vendor telephone number 
 Vendor point of contact (who you talked with to 

get product information) 
 HUB status (ethnicity, gender, expiration date) 

H.T.E. Purchasing module 
(requisition function) 

Identify shipping and delivery information including: 
 Date required 
 Shipping (determine if it is included in price or is 

a separate item) 
 Department point of contact to whom item will be 

delivered 
 The “Ship to” location 
 Any specific delivery instructions (location, time 

of day etc.) 
 Any special options that are available, but not 

part of description (color, fabric, etc.) 

H.T.E. Purchasing module 
(requisition function) 

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm

http://www.officedepot.com/�


Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Open Market Purchases Under $50,000 

  
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 9-1 

Chapter 9: Open Market Purchases Under $50,000 
 
For open market purchases of goods and services totaling less than $50,000, the 
Purchasing Agent is authorized to select the exact goods or services to meet the requests 
of user departments. The Purchasing Agent is authorized to select the vendor and to 
perform all actions necessary to conclude a contract for the purchase of the goods and 
services, including execution of the contract without specific approval of the 
Commissioners Court. 
 
In selecting the exact goods or services requested by the user departments, the 
Purchasing Agent considers the following: 
 
• the stated needs of the user department and whether the selected goods or services 

meet those needs; 
 
• available information about sources and prices of the goods and services; 
 
• the delivery requirements of the vendor and the user department; and 
 
• any other information that a reasonable and prudent purchasing professional would 

consider in all the circumstances of the purchase. 
 
The user department submits an open market purchase requisition to the Purchasing 
Office with detailed descriptions of the goods or services required. 
 
Based on the information in the purchase requisition, wherever reasonable and practical 
the Purchasing Agent or Purchasing Office: 

• attempts to obtain at least three quotations (at least one of which is a certified HUB) 
before selecting a vendor;  

• documents in writing the vendors notified and prices offered;  

• selects the vendor who makes the best offer taking into account not only price but also 
the urgency of the user departments need and the speed of delivery and the quality of 
the goods and services offered; and, 

• orders these goods and services from the vendor who provides the quality, cost, and 
delivery schedule most consistent with the best interest of the County. 

 
If quality and delivery terms meet County needs, the vendor who provides the lowest price 
is selected. If the vendor offering the lowest price is not used, a notation is made to the 
quotation documentation to indicate the reason another vendor is selected. 
 
The Purchasing Agent may deviate from the policy for purchases under $50,000 if it is in 
Travis County’s best interest and if it facilitates specific County operations. 
 
Important: If cumulative purchases from a single commodity code are anticipated to 
exceed $50,000 in a fiscal year, then formal competitive bidding is required and an 
annual term contract is established. Cumulative purchases include countywide 
purchases, and are not limited to departmental requirements.  
 
Intentionally separating purchases or invoices to avoid the $50,000 formal competitive 
bidding requirement is a violation of the Purchasing Act.  The final conviction of a County 
officer or employee for this violation results in the immediate removal from office or 
employment.  For four years after the final conviction, the removed officer or employee is 

Policy 

Considerations 

Procedures 

Violations  
and Penalties 

Commodity 
Purchases 
Limits 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Open Market Purchases Under $50,000 

  
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 9-2 

ineligible: 

• to be a candidate for or to be appointed or elected to a public office in Texas; 

• to be employed by Travis County; and 

• to receive any compensation through a contract with Travis County. 
 
 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Specifications 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 10-1
  

Chapter 10: Specifications 

A specification is a concise description of goods or services that user departments seek to 
buy and the requirements the vendor must meet to be considered for the award. A 
specification may include requirements for testing, inspection, preparing any goods or 
services for delivery, or installing them for use. The specification is the total description of 
the goods and services to be purchased. 
 
The primary purposes of any specification is to provide vendors with firm criteria about a 
minimum standard acceptable for goods or services by providing reasonable tests and 
inspections to determine their acceptability and to provide purchasing personnel with clear 
guidelines from which to purchase.   As a result, the specification also:  
 
• promotes competitive bidding, and  
• provides a means to make an equitable award to the lowest and best bid from a 

responsible bidder. 
 
In writing specifications, user departments are encouraged to obtain an existing 
specification before starting to write a new one. The existing specification can provide 
ideas and examples that can be customized for Travis County purposes. The user 
department should contact the Purchasing Office for assistance in obtaining existing 
specifications to facilitate the specification development process.  
 
To gather information to facilitate writing specifications, a Request for Information (RFI) 
may be issued.  Responses to an RFI allow the business community to have input into the 
solicitation document based on the current industry practices and market factors, and may 
provide information to prepare a complete solicitation. 
 
There are numerous sources for specifications. These include other governments, 
professional trade associations, professional purchasing associations and user knowledge. 
Some specification libraries that are available include: 

• Texas Specification Library located at the Texas  Comptroller of Public Accounts  
website:   www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/pub/specifications-library/ 

• General Services Administration, Federal Supply Service – Specifications Section 
found at www.gsa.gov 

• Texas Department of Transportation Standard Specification Index located at 
http://www.dot.state.tx.us/gsd/purchasing/tssi_alpha.htm   

• National Institute of Governmental Purchasing.  Contact Purchasing for assistance 
because this is available to members only.  

 
The user department, occupant department, or an outside agency may propose 
specifications.  To ensure compliance with legal purchasing requirements, the Purchasing 
Office has final acceptance of the specifications, except those for construction projects.  
This ensures proper quality control and avoids the proliferation of conflicting specifications 
in the different County departments.  The Purchasing Office may submit any purchases 
that were not approved in the budget process to Commissioners Court before 
specifications are prepared and advertised. 
 
To facilitate specification development and avoid duplication of their efforts, user 
departments should submit their specifications in electronic format to the Purchasing 
Office. 

Definition

Purpose 

Preparation  

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm

http://www.gsa.gov/�
http://www.dot.state.tx.us/gsd/purchasing/tssi_alpha.htm�


Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Specifications 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 10-2
  

 
An effective specification has the following characteristics:  
 
• Simple: Avoids unnecessary detail, but is complete enough to ensure that purchased 

goods and services satisfy their intended purpose.  
 

• Clear:  
 

 Uses terminology that is understandable to the user department and vendors.  
 

 Eliminates confusion by using correct spelling and appropriate sentence structure.  
 

 Avoids the use of jargon and “legalese”.  
 

• Accurate: Uses units of measure that are compatible with industry standards, 
identifies all quantities, and describes packing requirements.  
 

• Competitive: 
 

 Identifies at least two commercially available brands, makes, or models (whenever 
possible) that satisfy the intended purpose. 

 
  Avoids unneeded “extras” that could reduce or eliminate competition and increase 

costs.  
 

• Flexible:  
 

 Avoids situations that prevent the acceptance of a response that could offer greater 
performance for fewer dollars.  
 

 Uses approximate values that are within a 10% range for the dimensions, weight, 
speed, etc. (whenever possible) if these values can satisfy the intended purpose.  

 
The Purchasing Office uses a number of specification types:  
 
• Design - Details description of a good or service, including details of construction or 

production, dimensions, chemical composition, physical properties, materials, 
ingredients and all other information needed to produce an item of minimum 
acceptability. Design specifications are usually required for construction projects, 
custom-produced items and many services. 

 
• Performance – Details required performance parameters such as required power, 

strength of material, test methods, standards of acceptability, and recommended 
practices. Performance specifications are usually used for capital equipment 
purchases. 

 
• Brand Name or Equal - Lists goods or services by brand-name, model, and other 

identifying specifics, except that products with performance equivalent to the 
characteristics of the named brand are specified as acceptable. Other manufacturers 
may provide a nearly identical product under another brand name. The Purchasing 
Office uses this method only if there is sound justification. The burden of 
justification rests with the user department. 

 
• Industry Standard – States an industry standard that is identical, regardless of 

manufacturer that results in acquisition of goods of uniform quality. The UL standard 

Types 

Characteristics  

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Specifications 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 10-3
  

for electrical products is an example of an industry standard. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 11-1
  

 Chapter 11: Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000 

 
There are two primary types of solicited purchases - competitive bidding and competitive 
proposals. Competitive solicitation means letting available vendors compete with each 
other to provide goods or services.  
 
The Texas Supreme Court states:  
 

"Competitive bidding requires due advertisement, giving opportunity to bid, 
and contemplates a bidding on the same undertaking upon each of the same 
material items and services covered by the contract; upon the same thing. It 
requires that all bidders be placed upon the same plane of equality and that 
they each bid upon the same terms and conditions involved in all the items 
and services and parts of the contract, and that the proposal specify as to all 
bids the same, or substantially similar specifications.” Sterrett v. Bell, 240 
S.W. 2d 516 (Tex. Civ. App.-Dallas 1951, no writ).  

 
The Texas Supreme Court also states:  
 

”The purpose of competitive bidding is to stimulate competition, prevent 
favoritism, and secure the best work and materials at the lowest practicable 
price for the best interest of the taxpayers and property owners." Sterrett v. 
Bell, 240 S.W. 2d 516 (Tex. Civ. App.-Dallas 1951, no writ).  
 

The first purpose of competitive solicitations is to ensure the best possible value is 
received. Competitive solicitations also increase the likelihood that public monies are spent 
properly, legally, and for public projects only. 
 
The second purpose is to give those qualified and responsible vendors who desire to do 
business with the County a fair and equitable opportunity to do so.  
 
Competitive Bidding: The term “Formal Competitive Bidding” generally applies to public 
purchasing when the solicitation process complies with Texas Local Government Code, 
section 262.023, which requires approval by the Commissioners Court.  
 
“Sealed” bids are solicited through an Invitation for Bid (IFB) for contracts expected to 
exceed $50,000. The IFB is the document used to solicit bids from vendors in response to 
the County’s specifications and contractual terms and conditions. The Commissioners 
Court must approve the returned and signed IFB.  The awarded IFB with the Notice of 
Contract Award letter signed by the Purchasing Agent forms the contract between Travis 
County and the vendor. Competitive bids are not negotiated. With few exceptions, price 
is the sole determinant factor if the vendor’s product or services meet the requirements of 
the specification. 
 
The IFB method is the most preferred method of procuring goods and supplies and non-
personal services.   It is used when the requirement can be definitively described, is readily 
available, and is an off-the-shelf kind of requirement. 
 
Competitive proposals: The term “Formal Competitive Proposal” is generally applies to 
public purchasing when the solicitation process complies with Texas Local Government 
Code, section 262.030, which requires approval by the Commissioners Court.  

Definitions 
and Use 

Purpose of 
Competitive 
Bidding 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 11-2
  

Competitive proposals are solicited through a sealed Request for Proposals (RFP) 
process. Vendors submit responses to the RFP for consideration. The RFP solicits 
proposals from vendors in response to the County's requirements and contractual terms 
and conditions. A formal contract, reviewed by the County Attorney's Office, must be 
approved by the Commissioners Court.   
 
Formal "sealed" proposals are used to procure insurance, high technology goods and 
services, landscape maintenance, travel management and recycling. 
 
"High technology" goods or services mean goods or services of a highly technical nature, 
including: 

 
• data processing equipment, software and firmware used in conjunction with data 

processing equipment; 
 

• telecommunications, radio, and microwave systems; 
 

• electronic distributed control systems, including building energy management 
systems; and 
 

• technical services related to those goods and services. 
 
While the competitive proposal (RFP) process is similar to the competitive bidding (IFB) 
process, there are notable differences. The primary difference is that the RFP results in a 
negotiated procurement. Cost is not the only determining evaluation factor; however, its 
relative importance to other evaluation factors must be specified in the RFP and 
considered in recommending award. Also, the proposals are received, but are not opened 
publicly. Proposal contents are not disclosed until after the contract is awarded. Proposal 
contents that are trademarked or proprietary may remain confidential pursuant to the 
Texas Public Information Act. 
 
In accordance with the Texas Local Government Code 262.030(d), the formal competitive 
proposal (RFP) method may also be used to purchase other items more typically bid when 
the purchasing agent determines that it is in the best interest of the county and obtains the 
consent of the Commissioners Court.  
 
In Travis County, competitive solicited procurement which call for approval by 
Commissioners Court due to an expenditure in excess of $50,000 are required to comply 
with the requirements of Subchapter C of the Purchasing Act and, with few exceptions, are 
accomplished by the following process. Throughout this chapter, “bids” are vendor 
responses in the IFB process and “proposals” are vendor responses in the RFP process. 
Unless specifically noted, the procedures apply to both the IFB and RFP. 
 
IFB:  When the need for a good or service costing more than $50,000 is identified, the 
user department should immediately contact the Purchasing Office for assistance in 
developing the specifications. The specification should be comprehensive and broadly 
defined to allow for maximum competition.  
 
RFP:  When the need for the goods or services (greater than $50,000) is identified, the 
user department should immediately contact the Purchasing Office for assistance in 
defining the requirements to be used for the solicitation. The user department is 
responsible for submitting a Statement of Work (SOW) or Technical Requirements, which 
functionally define its needs and requirements. Purchasing Office staff ensure that the 

Procedures 

Defining the 
Need  

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 11-3
  

SOW or Technical Requirement is quantified and structured to:  
 

• secure the best economic advantage utilizing best value;  
 
• state the needs clearly;  
 
• be contractually sound;  
 
•  treat all vendors fairly and without favoritism;   
 
• encourage innovative solutions to the requirement described; and  
 
• permit free and open competition to the maximum extent reasonably possible.   

 
A written memo submitted to the Purchasing Agent and signed by the Official or Executive 
Manager or designee or a direct e-mail from the Official or Executive Manager or designee 
serves as the initial purchase requisition for goods or services. The memo must include the 
budget line items from which the purchase is funded or an explanation about how funding 
is obtained before the Purchasing Office proceeds with the preparation of the competitive 
solicitation. 
 
Requirements or specifications should be attached to the memo and forwarded 
electronically to the Purchasing Office. If requirements or specifications are not attached, 
Purchasing and the user department jointly develop them. 
 
The user department follows up the memo request with entry of a purchase requisition in 
the H.T.E. system. The Purchasing Office does not proceed with a purchase unless: 
 
• the appropriate budget line item includes sufficient unencumbered funds for the 

purchase; or  
 
• the Planning and Budget Office verifies that funds are available through budget 

transfers. 
 
Once the Purchasing Office has finalized the specification or requirements with the user 
department, the Purchasing Office prepares the solicitation for issuance and publishes a 
notice of the proposed purchase that complies with the requirements in Texas Local 
Government Code, section 262.025. 
 
According to section 262.025, notice of a proposed purchase must be published at least 
once a week in a newspaper of general circulation in the County, with the first day of 
publication occurring before the 14th day before the date of the solicitation opening. To 
ensure vendors sufficient time to complete and return the solicitation, the Purchasing 
Office generally advertises for 21 days. If necessary, advertising time can be extended or 
decreased, but must be at least 15 days. The notice must include: 

 
• the specifications (requirements) describing the goods and services to be purchased, 

or a statement of where the specifications (requirements) may be obtained; 
 

• the time and place for receiving and opening solicitations and the name and position of 
the employee to whom the solicitations are sent; 
 

• whether the vendor should use lump-sum or unit pricing;  

Purchase 
Requisition 

Notice 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 11-4
  

 
• the type of bond required of the vendor; and 

 
• the method of payment by the County. 
 
IFB:  If unit pricing is required, County must specify approximate quantities estimated on 
the best available information. The solicitation must explain how the lowest price is 
calculated in the IFB. 
 
RFP:  
 
• The Purchasing Office publishes a notice of the proposed purchase unless 

Commissioners Court approval of the RFP is required.  
 
• The Commissioners Court must approve advertising for any RFP for which there is not 

adequate funding approved in the budget and for which PBO has not verified that the 
goods and services sought have been approved by the Commissioners Court in the 
budget process.  

 
• If the RFP is for high technology goods and services, ITS must review it before it is 

advertised.  
 
• Records Management and Communication Resources may also review any technology 

purchases related to record management.  
 
• For all other purchases, the Commissioners Court delegates its authority to approve 

the description of the requirements to the Purchasing Agent.  
 
The Commissioners Court authorizes the Purchasing Agent to extend the proposal opening 
date on the notice of a solicitation if an error is discovered, or if the nature of the goods or 
services requires an extension. The Purchasing Agent may amend a solicitation:  
 
• If inquiries about the meaning indicate the need for an amendment to clarify its original 

intent or to correct clerical errors;  
 
• If the changes are so insignificant that they are not likely to matter to the vendor in 

determining ability to respond; and  
 
• If the amendment does not change the general scope.  
 
There should be at least three days between the date of the amendment and the opening 
date in the notice.  If there are less than three days, the opening date is extended to allow 
for a minimum of three days between the date of the amendment and the opening date in 
the amendment. 
 
Texas Local Government Code, section 262.0256 allows the Commissioners Court to 
require potential vendors to attend a mandatory pre-bid (pre-proposal) conference to 
discuss contract requirements and answer vendor questions. The Purchasing Agent works 
with the user department to determine if a pre-bid (pre-proposal) conference is necessary 
and whether attendance is mandatory or optional. The Purchasing Office manages any 
pre-bid (pre-proposal) conference and requests that the user department makes staff 
available to answer questions at the conference. 

Amendment of 
Solicitation 

Pre-Bid  
(Proposal) 
Conference 

Special 
Considerations 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 11-5
  

 
To ensure the identification, security, and confidentiality of responses to solicitations, both 
electronic and paper, the following procedures are adhered to: 
 
• The Purchasing Agent receives all responses as specified by the solicitation document. 
 
• Solicitations are not accepted after the opening time on the day of response 

opening. All responses offered after the opening time are returned unopened to the 
vendor with a letter from the Purchasing Agent notifying the vendor that the submitted 
response arrived after the due date and time. 

 
• The Purchasing Office records the name of the vendor's representative submitting the 

solicitation, and the time and date the response was submitted.  
 
• After a response is received, the Purchasing Office provides a secure place to hold it 

until the opening date. The responses are only accepted if sealed.  Responses remain 
sealed until the Purchasing Office opens them in a public forum at the advertised date 
and time. 

 
• On occasion, responses that are received in the mail or by other independent carrier 

may be inadvertently opened. If this situation occurs, another employee of the 
Purchasing Office is immediately called to act as a witness that the details of the 
response (especially the price for a bid) were not reviewed and the response is 
resealed by that employee of the Purchasing Office, and the incident is documented. 

 
The above process shall be undertaken in a manner that precludes any perception of 
favoritism, and avoids revealing prices or response information. Publicly receiving sealed 
responses and recording the submission of requested responses inhibits any perception 
that the Purchasing Office is manipulating the receipt of solicitations.  
 
IFB:  The Purchasing Agent publicly opens, reads aloud, and documents the bids at the 
date, time, and place specified in the notice. Preliminary tabulations are provided to the 
public upon request.  
 
RFP:  The Purchasing Agent publicly opens and documents sealed proposals at the date, 
time, and place specified in the notice. Only the names of vendors submitting proposals 
are announced.  
 
Proposals are opened to avoid disclosure of contents to competing proposers and are kept 
secret during the process of negotiation. All proposals that have been submitted are 
available and open for public inspection after the contract is awarded, except for trade 
secrets and confidential proprietary information contained in them.  Disclosure of all 
information obtained from a vendor is subject to the provisions of the Texas Public 
Information Act. 
 
RFP:  As fully described in Chapter 2, the Purchasing Office uses a confidentiality 
memorandum to ensure compliance with the ethics policy related to keeping proprietary 
information confidential. Before the evaluation of confidential proposals, the Purchasing 
Office sends a memorandum to evaluation committee members for signature and 
certification. The memorandum contains requirements to keep information confidential 
until the Commissioners Court approves an award. The evaluation committee 
members are expected to adhere to this memorandum during the competitive process. 
These requirements also include disclosure of any potential conflict of interest, and any 

Receipt of 
Competitive 
Solicitations 

Public 
Opening  
of Solicitations 

Confidentiality 
Memorandum  

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 11-6
  

attempted communication by the proposer directly with the evaluation committee members 
during evaluation.  
 
IFB:  The Purchasing Office evaluates all bids with assistance from the user department 
and recommends the lowest responsible bid to the Commissioners Court for award. The 
Purchasing Office evaluates bids based on: 
 
• the relative price, including  the cost of repair and maintenance if heavy equipment is 

the subject of the bid or the cost of delivery and hauling if road construction is involved;  
 

• the compliance of  goods and services with specifications; and  
 

• the vendor’s past performance, the responsibility of the vendor, including the vendor's 
financial and practical ability to perform the contract, and the vendor's safety record if 
the IFB states that it is to be considered. 

 
The Purchasing Office forwards the bids and the Bid Tabulation Package to the Official or 
Executive Manager for completion and signature. The user department recommendation 
and other appropriate documentation from the user department are submitted with the 
agenda request to justify the recommended award.  
 
When the lowest priced bid is not the best bid, clear justification for not selecting the lowest 
bid must be documented. Commissioners Court either approves the recommendation or 
rejects all bids and authorizes the Purchasing Agent to re-bid the goods or services. 
 
RFP:  The Purchasing Office supervises the evaluation process performed by the user 
department or committee to ensure that the evaluation is conducted fairly and consistently 
and that the integrity of the process is maintained. Depending on the procurement, there 
may be additional technical evaluation assistance provided by the Planning and Budget 
Office, Auditor, ITS, or Records Management, if applicable.  
 
The RFP must specify the relative importance of price and other evaluation factors 
including the relative weight of each factor.  Evaluators only use these specified factors in 
evaluating the proposals. Purchasing staff leads the evaluation team and is responsible 
for:  

 
• tabulating scores;  

 
• calculating values; and  

 
• either  

 
 coordinating follow-up meetings for Best and Final Offer negotiations and 

recommending an award; or  
 

 discontinuing the process.  
 
After the evaluation is completed, Purchasing forwards an evaluation summary to the 
Official or Executive Manager for concurrence with the selection and requests that the 
Official or Executive Manager submit a memo to the Purchasing Agent signifying their 
concurrence. Purchasing makes the recommendation to Commissioners Court. 
 
Note:  For high visibility or high dollar value procurements, the Purchasing Agent may take 

Evaluation 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 11-7
  

the recommendations to Commissioners Court and request its approval to negotiate with 
top ranked firm(s) before requesting best and final offers. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 11-8
  

 
The Purchasing Agent supervises all negotiations. Any conversations with proposers must 
be coordinated with the Purchasing Agent. A member of the Purchasing Office should 
be present for all discussions with proposers. Departments that contact proposers 
without coordinating with the Purchasing Agent risk jeopardizing the integrity of the County 
procurement process. 
 
All proposers must be accorded fair and equitable treatment with respect to any 
opportunity for discussion and revision of proposals and submittal of a "Best and Final 
Offer” (BAFO). 
 
After the negotiations are complete, the Purchasing staff requests qualified proposers to 
submit a BAFO to a specified location by a specified date. Based on the negotiations, the 
BAFO must allow the proponent to:  
 
• Modify the initial offer;  
 
• Update pricing based on any changes the user department or County has made; and 
 
• Include any added inducements to improve the overall score in accordance with the 

evaluation plan of the RFP. 
 
IFB:  The Purchasing Agent recommends contract award to Commissioners Court. The 
Commissioners Court either: 
 
• Awards the contract to the responsible bidder who submits the lowest and best bid; 

or 
 
• Rejects all bids and publishes a new notice if the goods or services are still needed. 
 
If two responsible bidders submit the lowest and best bid, the Commissioners Court 
decides between the two by drawing lots in a manner prescribed by the County Judge. 
 
A contract may not be awarded to a bidder who is not the lowest priced bidder meeting 
specifications unless, before the award, each lower bidder is given notice of the proposed 
award and is given an opportunity to appear before the Commissioners Court and present 
evidence about its responsibility. 
 
After Commissioners Court approves the contract, the Purchasing Agent issues a Notice of 
Contract Award.  This notice and the original contract form the complete contract.    A 
complete original contract is maintained in the Purchasing Office.   The other originals are 
furnished to the Contractor and the County Clerk.  Copies of these are furnished to the 
user department, the Auditor’s Office, and the County Attorney. 
 
RFP:  The BAFO is the basis of a recommendation of contract award. The award of the 
contract is made by Commissioners Court to the responsible proposer, whose proposal is 
determined to be the lowest evaluated offer resulting from negotiation, taking into 
consideration the relative importance of price and other evaluation factors in RFP. 
 
The Purchasing Office, via the H.T.E. system, monitors the expiration dates of all 
contracts. Purchasing notifies user departments by memo at least four months before 
contract expiration and verifies whether the goods or services continue to be needed and 
the contract needs to be re-bid or extended, if extensions are available. Purchasing also 

Contract Award 

Re-solicitation  
of Annual 
Contracts

Negotiations 
(RFP) 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 11-9
  

sends the existing specifications or requirements to the user department and requests any 
changes before the solicitation is reissued. The user department returns the specifications 
or requirements with any additions, deletions, or corrections.  
 
In purchasing goods and services, the Purchasing Agent may use reverse auction 
procedures under Texas Government Code, chapter 2155.  Reverse auction means:  
 
• a real-time bidding process usually lasting less than one hour and taking place at a 

previously scheduled time and Internet location, in which multiple suppliers, 
anonymous to each other, submit bids to provide the designated goods or services; or  

 
• a real-time bidding process usually lasting less than two weeks and taking place during 

a previously scheduled period and at a previously scheduled Internet location, in which 
multiple suppliers, anonymous to each other, submit bids to provide the designated 
goods or services.  

 

An often-overlooked cost of equipment or software is on going maintenance. All on-going 
maintenance issues should be considered, evaluated, and priced in the initial procurement 
process.

Reverse 
Auctions 

On-going 
maintenance 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Competitively Solicited Purchases Exceeding $50,000 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 11-10
  

Exhibit 6: Procurement Methods 
 

Procurement Method Use When Advantages Disadvantages 
 
Competitive Bids 
 
(Invitation for Bids) 

 
Adequate competition 
exists. 
 
The product or service is 
available from more than 
one source. 

 
Award process is 
simpler. 
 
Award is made to the 
lowest responsive, 
responsible bidder 
providing the best value 
to the County. 

 
Defined 
specifications may 
be difficult to 
develop. 
 
Does not encourage 
innovative solutions. 

 
Competitive Proposals 
 
(Request for Proposals 

 
When factors other than 
price are evaluated. 
 
When negotiations are 
desired. 
 
Vendor is expected to 
provide innovative ideas. 

 
Allow factors other than 
price to be considered. 
 
Allows for customized 
proposals suggesting 
different approaches to 
the same business need. 
 
Allows for negotiations in 
order to obtain the best 
value for the County. 
 

 
RFPs can be used 
for high technology 
goods and services, 
landscape 
maintenance, travel 
management and 
recycling, and other 
determined items 
when it is 
determined to be in 
the best interest of 
the county.  
 
Lead times for 
procurement may be 
greater. 
 
Evaluations are 
more complex and 
subjective. 

 
Request for Information 

 
There is insufficient 
information to write 
specifications for any 
procurement method. 

 
Provides information to 
prepare a complete bid 
or proposal document. 
 
Allows the business 
community to have input 
into the solicitation 
document based on 
current industry 
practices and market 
factors. 
 
Informs County of any 
potential problems early 
in the procurement. 

 
Lengthens the 
procurement 
process. 

 
Request for 
Qualification/Services 
[This method is required 
by statute (e.g. 
Professional Services)] 

 
Selection is made solely 
on the skills and 
qualifications of the 
professional. For 
Architect/Engineers, 
price is not a factor until 
after a qualified vendor 
is selected. 
 

 
Emphasizes the 
competency of the 
proposed professional 
contractors 

 
Contractor is 
tentatively selected 
before price is 
negotiated. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual State Purchasing Programs 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 12-1 

Chapter 12: State Purchasing Programs 

There are three  types of purchasing programs that allow local governments to purchase goods 
and services using contracts previously competed by the State of Texas or other governments. 
The Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts Procurement and Support Services (TPASS) 
manages two of them. The third program allows local governments to purchase computer 
technology directly from the state’s Department of Information Resources (DIR). 

• State Term Contracts (authorized by sections 271.081 through 271.083 of the Texas Local 
Government Code).  The County may purchase from vendors on the same terms and 
conditions as the State.  The State has entered into term contracts after using competitive 
bidding procedures. The TPASS manages this program for the State. 

• Texas Multiple Award Schedule (TXMAS) (authorized by section 2155.502 of the Texas 
Government Code).  The County may purchase goods and services from a schedule of 
multiple award contracts developed by the TPASS. The schedule is adapted from General 
Services Administration (GSA) Federal Supply Service contracts.  TXMAS contracts take 
advantage of the most favored customer (MFC) pricing and under certain circumstances; the 
County may negotiate a lower price for the goods or services offered on a scheduled 
contract. 

• DIR (authorized by the Interlocal Cooperation Act, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government 
Code).  The County may purchase computer-related equipment through the DIR and its 
contracted vendors. 

 
The Purchasing Agent acts for Travis County in all matters related to purchase of goods and 
services from a vendor under any contract based on any State Purchasing program. Travis 
County is responsible for making payments directly to these vendors. 
 
The award of any purchase order contract from state term, TXMAS or DIR contracts must be in 
writing, approved and signed by the Purchasing Agent before any goods are delivered or services 
are rendered. The Commissioners Court authorizes the Purchasing Agent to execute all contracts 
for state contract purchases that are procured in compliance with this chapter, including 
purchases in excess of $50,000, if funding for the purchase was previously approved by the 
Commissioners Court.  
 

State Term Contract Purchases 
 
Travis County participates in the purchasing program of TPASS for local governments.  
 
The Purchasing Agent either submits requisitions to the TPASS under a contract or electronically 
sends purchase orders directly to vendors and reports to TPASS on actual purchases in 
compliance with its regulations. The Purchasing Agent monitors vendor compliance with all the 
conditions of delivery and quality of the purchased goods and services. The Purchasing Agent 
may sign and deliver all necessary documents for all purchases under this program made for the 
County. 
 
To initiate this process, the user department submits a purchase requisition. The Purchasing 
Office determines whether or not the requested goods or services are available from TPASS 
contracts. If they are available, the Purchasing Office assigns a state requisition number that is 
used for reporting and payments.  
 

Texas Multiple Award Schedules (TXMAS) Purchases 
 
Travis County participates in the purchasing program of the TPASS using TXMAS contracts 
developed from contracts that have been competitively awarded by the federal government or 

Background  
and Statutory 
Authority 

Official 
Representative 

Policy 

Procedure 

Policy 

Contract  
Award 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual State Purchasing Programs 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 12-2  

any other governmental entity of any state.  
 
The Purchasing Agent monitors vendor compliance with all the conditions of delivery and quality 
of the purchased goods and services. The Purchasing Agent may sign and deliver all necessary 
documents for purchases under this program for Travis County. 
 
To initiate this process, the user department may research goods and services on the TPASS 
website to determine if the goods or services are available from TXMAS. Based on its research, 
the user department submits an “open market” purchase requisition and identifies in the 
requisition comments that the good or service may be available through TXMAS. The 
Purchasing Office determines whether or not the requested goods or services are available from 
TXMAS and compares prices among TXMAS vendors to obtain the best value. The Purchasing 
Office works with the user department to determine best value and then issues a purchase order 
with the selected vendor providing the best value. 
 
Note:  If TXMAS contracts have been loaded in H.T.E., the user department submits a contract 
requisition using the procedures outlined in Chapter 8 of this manual.  
 

Department of Information Resources  (DIR) Purchases 
 
The County purchases computer-related equipment and services through the state’s Department 
of Information Resources (DIR) and from its contracted vendors. The County contracts with DIR 
and uses its Go DIRect program.  
 
The Purchasing Agent either submits requisitions to the DIR under any contract or electronically 
sends purchase orders directly to DIRect vendors. The Purchasing Agent monitors vendor 
compliance with all the conditions of delivery and quality of the purchased goods and services. 
The Purchasing Agent may sign and deliver all necessary documents for purchases under this 
program made on behalf of the County. 
 
To initiate this process, the user department may research goods and services on the DIR 
website to determine if the goods or services are available from DIR or its contracts. Based on 
its research, the user department submits an “open market” purchase requisition and identifies in 
the requisition comments that the good or service is available from DIR. The Purchasing Office 
determines whether or not the requested goods or services are available from DIR, and if 
available, the Purchasing Office compares prices among DIR vendors to obtain the best value. 
The Purchasing Office works with user department to determine best value and issues a 
purchase order with the selected vendor providing the best value.   For larger, more complex IT 
purchases, the Purchasing Office works with the County Attorney’s Office on a supplemental 
contract to ensure the best interest of the county are covered.  The user department should plan 
their procurements accordingly to allow sufficient time. 
 
If the purchase is from a vendor who is part of the Go DIRect program, the County issues the 
purchase order directly to the vendor and pays the vendor directly. If the purchase is to a vendor 
that is not part of the Go DIRect program, the County issues the purchase order to DIR, which 
authorizes a separate purchase order to the vendor. 
 
 
  

Procedure 

Policy 

Procedure 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Cooperative Purchasing Agreements 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 13-1  

 
Chapter 13: Cooperative Purchasing Agreements 

The Interlocal Cooperation Act, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code, authorizes local 
governments to contract directly with other governments to increase their efficiency and 
effectiveness. Texas Government Code, Section 791.025(c) states that a local government that 
purchases goods and any services reasonably required for the installation, operation, or 
maintenance of those goods under the Interlocal Cooperation Act satisfies the requirement of the 
local government to seek competitive bids for the purchase of goods and their services. The 
County has a variety of interlocal agreements.  

 
The County participates in the purchasing programs of various local, state, and national 
cooperatives such as Houston Area Council of Governments (H-GAC), Texas Association of 
School Boards (BuyBoard), The Cooperative Purchasing Network (TCPN), U.S. Communities, 
and Federal Supply Schedules. Before using any cooperative, the Purchasing Agent researches 
and recommends cooperatives to the Commissioners Court. The Commissioners Court 
approves an interlocal agreement acknowledging the terms and conditions for using each 
cooperative, including any fee schedules, and authorizes the Purchasing Agent to make 
purchases under the terms of the interlocal agreement. 
 
The Purchasing Agent acts for Travis County at the direction of Commissioners Court in all 
matters relating to all cooperative purchasing programs, including the purchase of goods and 
services from a vendor under any contract.  
 
The Purchasing Agent must approve all interlocal agreements involving the purchase of goods, 
repair, or maintenance agreements before the agreement is submitted to Commissioners Court 
for approval.  Interlocal agreements approved by the Purchasing Agent are assigned a number 
and entered into the H.T.E. system for tracking and payment purposes.  Other interlocal 
agreements may be added to the H.T.E. system on request. Revenue-generating interlocals are 
added to the H.T.E. system to aid in tracking these types of interlocal agreements.  
 
To initiate this process, the user department may research goods and services on the approved 
cooperative’s website to determine if the needed goods or services are available from the 
cooperative. Based on its research, the user department submits an “open market” purchase 
requisition and identifies in the requisition comments that the good or service is available from 
the cooperative. The Purchasing Office determines whether or not the requested goods or 
services are available from a specific cooperative.  If available, the Purchasing Office compares 
prices among cooperative and local vendors to obtain the best value. The Purchasing Office 
works with the user department to determine best value and issues a purchase order with the 
selected vendor using the purchasing method that provides the best value.  
 
The Purchasing Agent either submits requisitions to the applicable cooperative or electronically 
sends purchase orders directly to vendors using the processes defined by the specific 
cooperative. The Purchasing Agent monitors vendor compliance with all the conditions of 
delivery and the quality of the purchased goods and services. The Purchasing Agent may sign 
and deliver all necessary documents for purchases under cooperative purchasing programs 
made on behalf of the County. 
 
The Purchasing Agent may execute all contracts for purchases through interlocal agreements 
that are procured in compliance with this chapter, including purchases in excess of $50.000, 
provided funding for the purchase has been approved by the Commissioners Court and the 
interlocal agreement was approved by the Commissioners Court.  
 
All interlocal agreements that involves the purchase of goods, services, repair, or maintenance 
agreements must be approved in writing by the Purchasing Agent before being submitted to 
Commissioners Court for approval.  Interlocal agreements approved by the Purchasing Agent 

Policy 

Procedure 

Contract 
Award 

Background 
and Statutory 
Authority 

Official 
Representative 

Interlocal 
Agreements 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Cooperative Purchasing Agreements 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 13-2  

are assigned a number and entered into the H.T.E. system for tracking and payment purposes. 
Other Interlocal Agreements may be added to the H.T.E. system on request. 
 
Texas Local Government Code Section 271.103 states that a local government that purchases 
goods and services available under Federal supply schedules of the United States General 
Services Administration to the extent permitted by federal law satisfies the requirement of the 
local government to seek competitive bids for the purchase of those goods and services 
 
Under the Cooperative Purchasing Program, state and local government entities may purchase 
a variety of Information Technology (IT) products, software, and services from contracts awarded 
under GSA Federal Supply Schedule 70, Information Technology, as well as from contracts 
under the Consolidated (formerly Corporate Contracts) Schedule containing IT special item 
numbers. 

State and local government entities may also purchase alarm and signal systems, facility 
management systems, firefighting and rescue equipment, law enforcement and security 
equipment, marine craft and related equipment, special purpose clothing, and related services 
from contracts awarded under GSA Federal Supply Schedule 84, Total Solutions for Law 
Enforcement, Security, Facility Management Systems, Fire, Rescue, Special Purpose Clothing, 
Marine Craft, and Emergency/Disaster Response. 

 
 

 

Federal 
Supply 
Schedules 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm

http://www.gsaelibrary.gsa.gov/ElibMain/scheduleSummary.do?scheduleNumber=70&flag=coop�
http://www.gsaelibrary.gsa.gov/ElibMain/scheduleSummary.do?scheduleNumber=00CORP&flag=coop�
http://www.gsaelibrary.gsa.gov/ElibMain/scheduleSummary.do?scheduleNumber=84&flag=coop�


Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Procurement of Professional Services 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 14-1  

 
Chapter 14: Procurement of Professional Services 

 
In procuring professional services, the County must comply with two statutes: the Professional 
Services Procurement Act (Chapter 2254 of the Texas Government Code) and the County 
Purchasing Act (Chapter 262 of the Texas Local Government Code). There are two kinds of 
professional services: 
 
• Those professional services specifically listed in the Professional Services Procurement Act; 

and, 
 

• Those "other" professional services that are not specifically listed which must be obtained in 
compliance with the County Purchasing Act. The Purchasing Agent relies on court cases and 
attorney general opinions to determine what services may be included in these "other" 
professional services. 

 
“Professional services” is defined in Chapter 2254 of the Texas Government Code as:  

 
• those within the scope of the practice of accounting, architecture, landscape architecture, 

optometry, medicine, land surveying, professional engineering, real estate appraising or 
professional nursing, or   
 

• provided in connection with the professional employment or practice of a person who is 
licensed or registered as an architect, an optometrist, a physician, a surgeon, a certified 
public accountant, a land surveyor, a landscape architect or professional engineer, a state 
certified or state licensed real estate appraiser, or a registered nurse.  

 
Contracts for the procurement of these professional services may not be awarded on the basis 
of bids. Instead, services must be awarded on the basis of demonstrated competence and 
qualifications. 
 

Professional Services Procurement Act 
 

To ensure professional firms a fair and equal opportunity to do business with the County, and to 
ensure that the services of the most qualified professional are obtained, professional services 
are procured using the Request for Qualifications (RFQ) process.  
 
Departments forward a recommendation memo to the Purchasing Agent when professional 
services are required. The memo identifies the following: 

• scope of work 

• qualification and experience requirements 

• project description  and deliverables 

• time frames 

• budgeted amount and budget line items 

• suggested professionals 
 
Based on the information provided in the memo, applicable state laws, and all relevant facts, the 
Purchasing Agent makes a determination about implementing a formal RFQ or an informal 
procurement process.  
 
Unless specifically exempted by the Commissioners Court, all professional services anticipated 
to cost more than $50,000 are procured using the formal RFQ process. The Purchasing Agent 
submits all exemption orders to the Commissioners Court.  The Purchasing Agent submits the 

Background  
and Statutory 
Authority 

Request for 
Qualifications 
(RFQ) 

Procedures 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Procurement of Professional Services 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 14-2  

exemption order to the Commissioner Court for approval before selecting and negotiating with 
any firms.  
 
Either the memo submitted to the Purchasing Agent, signed by the Official or Executive Manager 
or a direct e-mail from the Official or Executive Manager serves as the initial requisition. The 
memo must include the budget line items from which the purchase is funded or an explanation 
that is acceptable to the Purchasing Office about how funding is obtained before the Purchasing 
Office prepares of the RFQ.  Requirements (scope of work) and necessary qualifications should 
be attached to the memo and also forwarded electronically to the Purchasing Office. If 
requirements and necessary qualifications are not attached, Purchasing and the user 
department jointly develop them. 
 
The user department follows up the memo request with entry of a requisition into the H.T.E. 
system.  
 
After development of requirements and qualification and preparation of the RFQ, a notice of the 
proposed purchase is published by the Purchasing Office unless Commissioners Court approval 
of the RFQ is required. The Commissioners Court must approve advertising for any RFQ for 
which there is not adequate funding in the budget or for which the Planning and Budget Office 
has not verified that the goods and services sought have been approved by the Commissioners 
Court in the budget process. 
 
Notice of a proposed purchase must be published at least once a week in a newspaper of 
general circulation in the County, with the first day of publication occurring before the 14th day 
before the date of the solicitation opening. To ensure firms sufficient time to complete and return 
their solicitation, Purchasing generally advertises for 21 days. If necessary, advertising time can 
be extended or decreased, but must be at least 15 days.  
 
The Purchasing Agent may extend the response opening date on the notice of an RFQ if an 
error is discovered, or the nature of the services requires an extension. The Purchasing Agent 
may amend an RFQ to clarify its original intent or to correct clerical errors if:  
 
• inquiries about the meaning of the RFQ indicate the need for an amendment;  
 
• changes are so insignificant that they are not likely to matter to the firm in determining ability 

to respond; and  
 
• the amendment does not change the general scope of the RFQ.  
 
There must be at least three days between the date of the amendment and the opening date 
specified in the notice. If less than three days exist, the opening date should be extended to 
allow for a minimum of three days between the date of the amendment and the opening date 
specified in the amendment. 
 
The Purchasing Agent works with the user department to determine if a pre-proposal conference 
is necessary. Purchasing staff manages any pre-proposal conference and requests that the user 
department makes staff available to answer questions at the conference. 
 
To ensure confidentiality, the following procedures are adhered to when receiving  responses: 
 
• The Purchasing Agent receives all responses as specified by the RFQ. 

 
• All responses are stamped with the time and date received. The "Date Stamp Clock" in the 

Purchasing Office serves as the official time clock for identifying the date and time 
responses is received in the Purchasing Office.  

Notice 

Pre-
Proposal 

Amendment  
of RFQ 

Receipt of 
Responses 

Purchase 
Requisition 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Procurement of Professional Services 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 14-3 

 
• Responses are not accepted after the opening time on the day of opening. All 

responses offered after the opening time are returned unopened to the offeror with a letter 
from the Purchasing Agent notifying the offeror that the submitted response arrived after the 
due date and time. 
 

• The Purchasing Office records the name of the firm's representative submitting the 
response, as well as the time and date the response was submitted. If a response is 
received by mail, express mail, or courier, the method of delivery is reflected in the record. 
 

• After responses are received, the Purchasing Office keeps them secured until the opening 
date. The responses are to be received sealed and remain sealed until they are opened by 
the Purchasing Office on the advertised date and time. 
 

• On occasion, responses that are received in the mail, or by some other independent carrier, 
may be inadvertently opened. If this situation occurs, another employee of the Purchasing 
Office is immediately called to act as a witness that the details of the response were not 
reviewed and the response was sealed again by an employee, and the event is documented. 

 
The above process is undertaken in a manner that precludes any perception of favoritism and to 
avoid revealing response information. Publicly receiving sealed bids and recording the 
submission of requested bids inhibits the perception that the Purchasing Office is manipulating 
the receipt of bids. 
 
Sealed responses are opened and documented by the Purchasing Office.  Only the names of 
firms submitting responses are announced. The Purchasing Agent opens the responses on the 
date specified in the notice.  
 
Proposals are opened to avoid disclosure of contents to competing proposers and are kept 
secret during the process of negotiation. All proposals that have been submitted are available 
and open for public inspection after the contract is awarded, except for trade secrets and 
confidential proprietary information.  Disclosure of all information obtained from a firm is subject 
to the provisions of the Texas Public Information Act. 
 
As described in Chapter 2 of this manual, the Purchasing Office uses a confidentiality 
memorandum to ensure that proprietary information is kept confidential. Before the evaluation of 
confidential proposals begins, the Purchasing Office sends a memorandum to evaluation 
committee members for signature and certification. The memorandum contains requirements to 
which the evaluation committee member is expected to adhere until the Commissioners Court 
approve an award.  This memorandum includes disclosure of any potential conflict of interest, 
or any attempted communication by the firm directly with evaluation committee members.  
 
The Purchasing Office supervises the evaluation process performed by the user department or 
committee to ensure that it is conducted fairly and consistently and that the integrity of the 
process is maintained. Depending on the procurement, there may be additional technical 
evaluation assistance provided by the Planning and Budget Office, Auditor, ITS or Records 
Management, if applicable.  
 
The RFQ must specify the evaluation factors, including price, to be used to determine minimum 
qualifications and demonstrated experience. Evaluators may use only the specified evaluation 
factors in evaluating the responses. Purchasing staff leads the evaluation team and is 
responsible for:  

 
• developing evaluation matrix and criteria 
 

Opening of 
Responses 

Confidentiality 
Memorandum 

Evaluation 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Procurement of Professional Services 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 14-4  

• tabulating scores;  
 
• calculating values; and  

 
• either  

 
 coordinating follow-up meetings for Best price negotiations and recommending an award; 

or  
 

 discontinuing the process.  
 
After the evaluation of proposals has been completed, Purchasing forwards an evaluation 
summary to the Official or Executive Manager for concurrence with the selection and requests 
that the Official or Executive Manager submit a memo to the Purchasing Agent with their 
recommendation. Purchasing makes the recommendation to Commissioners Court. 
 
Note:  For high visibility or high dollar value procurements, the Purchasing Agent may take the 
recommendations to Commissioners Court and request its approval to negotiate with top ranked 
firm(s) before requesting best and final offers.  
 
Before any services are rendered, a contract for professional services, in writing, is approved 
and signed by either the Purchasing Agent if less than $50,000 or Commissioners Court if more 
than $50,000. The Purchasing Agent may execute any contracts for professional services that 
are procured in compliance with the Professional Services Procurement Act and in which the 
cost of services does not exceed $50,000 if the Planning and Budget Office verifies that the 
services sought have been approved by the Commissioners Court and adequate funds are 
budgeted for it and the County Attorney has reviewed the contract. 
 

Architectural and Engineering Services 
 
Architectural and Engineering Services are the only services where price cannot be used as an 
evaluation factor.  When procuring architectural or engineering services, the County follows the 
RFQ process described above and adds a second step. First, respondents to the RFQ are 
evaluated. The Purchasing Office works with the evaluation committee to develop a rank 
ordering of respondents.  Based on the committee’s evaluation of responses, they identify the 
“most highly qualified” firms (“short list”) with whom the County wishes to negotiate. The 
Purchasing Agent recommends to Commissioners Court the most highly qualified firm and 
requests authorization to negotiate price on the basis of demonstrated competence and 
qualifications. The Purchasing Agent and Official or Executive Manager enters into negotiations 
for a contract at a fair and reasonable price. 
 
The Purchasing Office supervises the evaluation process performed by the user department or 
committee to ensure that it is conducted fairly and consistently and that the integrity of the 
process is maintained. Depending on the procurement, there may be additional technical 
evaluation assistance provided by the Planning and Budget Office, Auditor, ITS or Records 
Management, if applicable.  
 
The RFQ must specify the evaluation factors to be used to determine minimum qualifications 
and demonstrated experience.  Evaluators may use only the specified evaluation factors in 
evaluating the responses. Purchasing staff leads the evaluation team and is responsible for:  

 
• developing evaluation matrix and criteria 
 
• tabulating scores;  
 

Evaluation 

Architectural 
and 
Engineering 
Services 

Written Contract 

Recommendation 
for Award 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Procurement of Professional Services 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 14-5  

• determining ranking, and   
 
• coordinating negotiations with top ranked firm. 

 
If the County is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with the most highly qualified vendor, 
negotiations formally end with that vendor. The next most highly qualified vendor is then asked 
to negotiate. Negotiations are continued in this sequence until a contract is finalized. 
 
After the evaluation of qualifications and demonstrated experience has been completed, 
Purchasing forwards an evaluation summary to the Official or Executive Manager for 
concurrence with the selection and requests that the Official or Executive Manager submit a 
memo to the Purchasing Agent with their recommendation. Purchasing makes the 
recommendation to Commissioners Court. 
 
Note:  For high visibility or high dollar value procurements, the Purchasing Agent may take the 
recommendations to Commissioners Court and request its approval to negotiate with top ranked 
firm(s) before requesting best and final offers.  
 
The Purchasing Agent works with the Official or Executive Manager to develop the 
recommendation for award and present it for approval to the Commissioners Court. 
 
Before any services are rendered, a contract for professional services, in writing, is approved 
and signed by either the Purchasing Agent if less than $50,000 or Commissioners Court if more 
than $50,000. The Purchasing Agent may execute any contracts for professional services that 
are procured in compliance with the Professional Services Procurement Act and in which the 
cost of services does not exceed $50,000 if the Planning and Budget Office verifies that the 
services sought have been approved by the Commissioners Court and adequate funds are 
budgeted for it and the County Attorney has reviewed the contract. 
 

Other Professional Services 
 

As used in this manual "other" personal or professional services are those services usually 
referred to as a professional service, but not specifically listed in the Professional Services 
Procurement Act. Various court opinions have stated that these "other" professional services are 
services requiring technical skill and expertise; labor and skill which is predominantly mental or 
intellectual, rather than physical or manual; or, a special skill and experience.  "Other" personal 
services have been defined as services that must be performed by a particular person and, by 
the terms of the contract, no substitutions are allowed. Examples include computer 
programmers, lawyers, and facilitators. 
 
To ensure firms a fair and equal opportunity to do business with County, and to ensure the 
services of the most qualified person or professional,  "other" personal or professional services 
must be procured using the Request for Services (RFS) process unless the contract is for less 
than $50,000 or the Commissioners Court approves another procedure. 
 
The Sheriff is authorized to negotiate and execute contracts with independent contractors for the 
following other professional services if the firms are selected on the basis of qualifications, the 
contracts are within budget and the County Attorney and the Purchasing Agent review the 
contract.  
 
• nursing in the corrections facilities, 
 
• instructors for the sheriff's academy, 
 
• chaplains for the corrections facilities, and  

Written Contract 

Other 
Professional 
Services  

 

Recommendation 
for Award 

Exceptions 

Request for 
Services (RFS) 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Procurement of Professional Services 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 14-6  

 
• prisoner detention services.    
 
User departments forward a memo to the Purchasing Agent when "other" personal or 
professional services are required. The memo identifies the following: 
 
• scope of work 

 
• qualification and experience requirements 

 
• project description and deliverables 

 
• time frames 

 
• budgeted amount and budget line items 

 
• suggested persons or professionals 

 
• selection criteria 
 
Based on the anticipated costs, information provided in the memo, applicable state laws and all 
relevant facts, the Purchasing Agent determines whether a formal RFS or an informal 
procurement process are implemented or recommended to the Commissioners Court. 
 
Unless specifically exempted by the Commissioners Court, all personal or professional services 
anticipated to cost over $50,000 are procured using the formal RFS process. The Purchasing 
Agent submits all exemption orders to the Commissioners Court. Unless there is an urgent need 
for the services, the exemption order is submitted to the Commissioners Court for approval 
before selecting and negotiating with any vendors.  
 
Either a memo signed by the Official or Executive Manager and submitted to the Purchasing 
Agent or a direct e-mail from the Official or Executive Manager serves as the initial requisition. 
The memo must include the budget line items from which the purchase is funded or an 
explanation about how funding is obtained that is acceptable to the Purchasing Office before the 
Purchasing Office prepares the RFS.  Requirements (scope of work) and necessary 
qualifications should be attached to the memo and also forwarded electronically to the 
Purchasing Office. If requirements and necessary qualifications are not attached, Purchasing 
and the user department jointly develop the requirements. 
 
The user department follows up the memo request with entry of a requisition into the H.T.E. 
system.  
 
After development of requirements and RFS preparation, the Purchasing Office usually 
publishes a notice of the proposed qualification unless Commissioners Court approval of the 
RFS is required. The Commissioners Court must approve advertising for any RFS if PBO has 
not verified that the services sought have been approved by the Commissioners Court and the 
Court has placed adequate funding in the budget. 
  
Notice of a proposed purchase is generally published at least once a week in a newspaper of 
general circulation in the County, with the first day of publication occurring before the 14th day 
before the date of the response opening. To ensure firms sufficient time to complete and return 
responses, Purchasing generally advertises for 21 days. If necessary, advertising time can be 
extended or decreased. 
 

Procedures 

Notice 

Purchase 
Requisition 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Procurement of Professional Services 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 14-7  

 
The Purchasing Agent may extend the response opening date on an RFS notice if an error is 
discovered, or the nature of the services requires an extension. The Purchasing Agent may 
amend an RFS to clarify its original intent or to correct clerical errors:  
 
• if inquiries about the meaning of the RFS indicate the need for an amendment;  
 
• if the changes are so insignificant that they are not likely to matter to the firm in determining 

ability to respond; and  
 
• if the amendment does not change the general scope of the RFS.  
 
There must be at least three days between the date of the amendment and the opening date 
specified in the notice. If less than three days exist, the opening date should be extended to 
allow for three days between the date of the amendment and the opening date specified in the 
amendment. 
 
The Purchasing Agent works with the user department to determine if a pre-proposal conference 
is necessary. Purchasing staff manages any pre-proposal conference that is held and requests 
that the user department make staff available to answer questions at the conference. 
 
To ensure confidentiality, the following procedures are adhered to when receiving responses: 
 
• The Purchasing Agent receives all proposals as specified by the RFS. 

 
• All responses are stamped with the time and date received. The "Date Stamp Clock" in the 

Purchasing Office serves as the official time clock for the purpose of identifying the date and 
time responses was received in the Purchasing Office.  

• Responses are not accepted after the opening time on the day of opening. All 
responses offered after the opening time are returned unopened to the offeror with a letter 
from the Purchasing Agent notifying the firm that the submitted response arrived after the 
due date and time. 

• The Purchasing Office records the name of the firm's representative submitting the 
response, as well as the time and date the response was submitted. If a response is 
received by mail, express mail, or courier, the method of delivery is reflected in the record. 

• After responses are received, the Purchasing Office keeps them secure until the opening 
date. The responses are to be received sealed and remain sealed until the Purchasing Office 
opens them on the advertised date and time. 

• On occasion, responses that are received in the mail or by some other independent carrier 
may be inadvertently opened. If this situation occurs, another employee of the Purchasing 
Office is immediately called to act as a witness that the details of the response were not 
reviewed and the response is sealed again by that employee, and the incident is 
documented. 

 
The above process is undertaken to preclude any perception of favoritism and avoid revealing 
response information. Publicly receiving sealed responses and recording the submission of 
requested responses should inhibit any perception that the Purchasing Office is manipulating the 
receipt of proposals.  
 
Sealed proposals are opened and documented by the Purchasing Office. Only the names of 
firms submitting proposals are announced. The Purchasing Office opens the proposals on the 
date specified in the notice. The Purchasing Agent may extend the date specified in the notice if 

Pre-Proposal 
Conference 

Amendment of 
RFS 

Receipt of 
Proposals 

Opening of 
Responses 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Procurement of Professional Services 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 14-8  

the original RFS needs to be amended 
 
Responses are opened to avoid disclosing the contents to competing firms and are kept secret 
during the process of negotiation. All responses that have been submitted are available and 
open for public inspection after the contract is awarded, except for trade secrets and confidential 
proprietary information.  Disclosure of all information obtained from a firm is subject to the 
provisions of the Texas Public Information Act. 
 
As fully described in Chapter 2, the Purchasing Office uses a confidentiality memorandum to 
ensure compliance with the ethics policy related to keeping proprietary information confidential. 
Before the evaluation of confidential proposals, the Purchasing Office sends a memorandum to 
the evaluation committee members for signature and certification. The memorandum contains 
requirements to which the evaluation committee member is expected to adhere during the 
course of the evaluation process to keep information confidential until the Commissioners 
Court approves an award.  The memorandum includes disclosure of any potential conflict of 
interest, and any attempted communication by the firm to evaluation committee members during 
evaluation.  
 
The Purchasing Office supervises the evaluation process performed by the user department or 
committee to ensure that it is conducted fairly and consistently and that the integrity of the 
process is maintained. Depending on the procurement, there may be additional technical 
evaluation assistance provided by the Auditor, PBO, ITS, or Records Management, if applicable.  
 
In selecting firms to provide other personal or professional services, a department must base its 
choice on demonstrated competence, knowledge, and qualifications and on the reasonableness 
of the proposed fee for the services, as specified in the RFS. 
 
Evaluators use only the specified evaluation factors in evaluating the proposals.  Purchasing 
staff leads the evaluation team and is responsible for:  
 
• developing evaluation matrix and critieria 
 
• tabulating scores;  

 
• calculating values; and  

 
• either  
 

 coordinating follow-up meetings for Best and Final Offer negotiations and 
recommending an award; or  

 
 discontinuing the process.  

 
Once the evaluation is completed, Purchasing forwards an evaluation summary to the Official or 
Executive Manager for concurrence with the selection and requests that the Official or Executive 
Manager submit a memo back to the Purchasing Agent with their recommendation. Purchasing 
makes the recommendation to Commissioners Court. 
 
Note:  For high visibility or high dollar value procurements, the Purchasing Agent may take the 
recommendations to Commissioners Court and request its approval to negotiate with top ranked 
firm(s) before requesting best and final offers.  
 
The Purchasing Agent supervises all negotiations. All conversations with proposers must be 
coordinated with the Purchasing Agent. A member of the Purchasing Office should be present 
for all discussions with firms. Departments that contact firms without coordinating with the 

Evaluation 

Confidentiality 
Memorandum 

Negotiations 
and Best and 
Final Offer 
(BAFO) 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Procurement of Professional Services 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 14-9  

Purchasing Agent risk jeopardizing the integrity of the County procurement process. 
 
 
All firms must be accorded fair and equitable treatment with respect to any opportunity for 
discussion and revision of responses and submittal of a BAFO. 
 
After the negotiations are complete, the Purchasing staff may request that qualified firms submit 
a BAFO by a specified date and to a specified location. Based on the negotiations, the BAFO 
must allow the firm to:  
 
• modify the initial offer;  

 
• update the response based on any changes the user department or County has made; 

and  
 

• include any added inducements that may improve the overall score based on the 
evaluation plan of the RFS. 

 
The Purchasing Agent works with the Official or Executive Manager to develop the 
recommendation for award and present it for approval by Commissioners Court. 
 
To be considered responsive, a person who offers to provide personal or professional services 
to a user department who has been employed by the County at any time during the two years 
before making the response must disclose in the response: 
 
• the nature of the previous employment with the department; 

 
• the date the employment was terminated; and  

 
• the annual rate of compensation at the time of termination.  
 
Before any services are rendered, a contract for "other" personal or professional services shall 
be in writing, approved, and signed by either the Purchasing Agent if less than $50,000 or the 
Commissioners Court if more than $50,000.   If less than $50,000, the Purchasing Agent 
determines which person or professional is selected based on the recommendation of the user 
department. The Purchasing Agent may execute any contracts for "other" personal or 
professional services that are procured in compliance with the Purchasing Act and in which the 
cost of services does not exceed $50,000.  
 
The Purchasing Agent may execute contracts for legal representation based on the attorney 
selected by the client on the recommendation of the County Attorney if the cost does not exceed 
$50,000.   
 
If, as a result of an RFS or RFQ, County enters into contracts with more than one qualified 
professional firm a pool of these professionals is created to provide services as needed. The 
user department must ensure that an RFQ is distributed at least once every 4 years so that 
newly qualified professionals may be added to the pool. 

Written Contract 

Disclosure of 
Former 
Employees 

Recommendation 
for Award 

Vendor 
“Pools” 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Construction Procurement 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 15-1 

 
Chapter 15: Construction Procurement 

Subsection 262.011 (e) of the Texas Local Government Code states that "The County Purchasing 
Agent shall supervise all purchases made on competitive bid...” Chapter 271 Subchapter C is 
used only for public works projects funded by Certificates of Obligation. Chapter 271, Subchapter 
H provisions are used when an alternative project delivery method (other than traditional 
competitive bidding) is used for public works projects.  
 
Construction procurement is consistent with other procurement procedures in this manual and 
with pertinent statutes. The Purchasing Agent supervises all construction procurements. All 
competitive bids are accomplished by the following process: 
 
A memo or email submitted to the Purchasing Agent, signed by the Official or Executive Manager 
serves as the initial notification that a competitive bid is needed. After receipt of the memo, the 
assigned buyer provides an IFB number and contract number to the project manager, to be 
included in the project manual and plans.  An electronic copy of the technical specifications is 
submitted with the memo to assist in the development of the project manual. Before the  project 
manual and plans are submitted to the printer for copying, the Purchasing Agent and County 
Attorney review and approve the Bidding and General Requirements. The Purchasing Agent 
reviews the specifications for compliance with the Purchasing Act and the County Attorney 
reviews them for legal considerations. 
 
NOTE: Purchasing prints the document when there is only a project manual and no plans.  The 
user department is responsible for printing when there are both a project manual and plans. A 
minimum number of documents are printed as the preferred method for distribution of 
construction project documents and subsequent receipt of bids is through BidSync. 
 
The user department must provide the Purchasing Office at least ten (10) workdays to develop 
the IFB, circulate it for the appropriate reviews, and printing. During this time, Purchasing 
develops a Procurement Schedule detailing the milestones of the solicitation, including dates 
and times for the pre-bid conference, bid opening, pre-award conference, if applicable, and pre-
construction conference. The Purchasing Office assigns an IFB number and contract number to 
the project at this time if it has not already been assigned. 
 
The Purchasing Office enters all construction contracts into the H.T.E. system. The County uses 
the H.T.E. system to process and track payments to the prime contractor. Payments to HUB 
subcontractors are also tracked using a separate software application maintained by the HUB 
Program Coordinator. 
 
The Purchasing Office publishes the advertisement for bid, which must include the following: 

• Description of work; 

• Location at which the bidding documents, plans, specifications, or other data may be 
examined without charge by all potential bidders.   

• The location at which plans and specifications may be obtained and the amount of the 
deposit required; 

• The County's goal for HUB contractor and subcontractor participation; 

• Time and place for submitting bids; 

• Time and place of bid opening; 

• The method of payment. If payment is by certificate of obligation, the advertisement must 
state either : 

Purchasing 
Statutes 

Purchase 
Requisition 

Bidding Notice 

H.T.E. Use 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Construction Procurement 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 15-2  

 that the bidder must accept certificates, or  

 that the bidder must elect to accept certificates or assign them to a financial institution 
with which County has made an arrangement. 

 
If the contract is to be awarded on a unit price basis, the notice must also include the approximate 
quantities of the goods and services needed that are to be bid on and the quantities must be 
based on the best available information. 
 
Notice of a proposed purchase must be published at least once a week in a newspaper of 
general circulation in the County, with the first day of publication occurring before the 14th day 
before the date of the bid opening. To ensure bidders sufficient time to complete and return 
IFB’s, Purchasing generally advertises for 21 days. If necessary, advertising time can be 
extended or decreased, but must be at least 15 days.  
 
If the IFB states that the safety record may be considered in determining the responsibility of the 
bidder and includes the Safety Record Questionnaire in the IFB, County takes into account the 
bidder’s safety record in determining the responsible bidder. The safety record includes 
compliance with requirements for the safety of the environment.  In relation to the safety record, 
bidder includes not only the bidder; but also the firm, corporation, partnership or institution 
represented by the bidder; or anyone acting for such a firm corporation, partnership or institution. 
 
The definition and criteria for determining the safety record of a bidder: 
 
1. If the bidder reveals more than two (2) cases in which final orders have been entered by 

the Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission (OSHRC) against the bidder for 
serious violations of OSHA regulations within the past three (3) years, County will, at its 
discretion, determine whether to disqualify the bidder. 

 
2. If the bidder reveals more than one (1) case in which bidder has received a citation from 

an environmental protection agency for violations within the past five (5) years, County 
will, at its discretion, determine whether to disqualify the bidder.   
 
Environmental Protection Agencies include the U.S. Army Corps of Engineer (USACOE), 
the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), the Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA), the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ), and its past associated 
agency, the Texas Natural Resource Conservation Commission (TNRCC), the Texas 
Department of Health, the Texas Parks and Wildlife Department (TPWD), the Structural 
Pest Control Board (SPCB), agencies of local governments responsible for enforcing 
environmental protection laws or regulations, and similar regulatory agencies of other 
states of the United States.  Citations include notice of violation, notice of enforcement, 
suspension/revocations of state or federal licenses or registrations, fines assessed 
pending criminal complaints, indictments, or convictions, administrative orders, draft 
orders, final orders, and judicial final judgments.  Notice of Violations and Notice of 
Enforcement received from TCEQ shall include those classified as major violations and 
moderate violations under TCEQ’s regulations for documentation of Compliance History, 
30TAC, Chapter 60.2 (c) (1) and (2). 
 

3. If the bidder reveals that the bidder has been convicted of a criminal offense within the 
past ten (10) years which resulted in serious bodily harm or death, County will determine 
whether to disqualify the bidder. 

 
Bonds are not required for construction contracts that are less than $25,000. 
 
Bid bonds are not required from any bidder whose rates are subject to regulation by a state 
agency. If the Purchasing Agent decides that a bid bond is required for a particular contract, the 

Consideration of 
Safety Records 

Bonding 

Bid Bonds 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Construction Procurement 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 15-3  

IFB states that a bid security in the amount of 5% of the contract price is required and that it 
must be executed by a surety company authorized to do business in Texas.   The bid security 
may be in the form of a bond, company or cashier’s check, or money order. 
 
Letters of Credit may not be substituted for any bid bonds related to a public works project, if the 
cost of the project exceeds $25,000.  
 
For all contracts in excess of $100,000 for the construction, repair, or alteration of a public work 
or the prosecution or completion of any public work, before commencing work, the vendor must 
execute a performance bond that is: 
 
• payable to Travis County, Texas,  
 
• in the full amount of the contract, 
 
• conditioned on faithful performance of the work in accordance with the plans, specifications, 

and contract documents, 
 
• solely for the protection of Travis County Texas, 
 
• executed by a corporate surety or sureties in accordance with the Insurance Code, and  
 
• in a form approved by the Commissioners Court. 
 
Any performance bond that is furnished by a contractor in attempted compliance with the 
requirements of Texas Government Code, chapter 2253 is construed as if it conforms to that 
chapter in relation to rights created, and limitations on the bonds and remedies provided. 
 
Letters of Credit may not be substituted for any performance bonds related to a public works 
project if the cost of the project exceeds $25,000.  
 
For all contracts in excess of $25,000 for the construction, repair, or alteration of a public work or 
the prosecution or completion of any public work, the vendor, before commencing work, must 
execute a payment bond that is: 
 
• solely for the protection and use of payment bond beneficiaries who have a direct contractual 

relationship with the prime contractor or a subcontractor to supply labor or material for a 
public work, 
 

• payable to Travis County, Texas, 
 

• in the full amount of the contract, 
 

• executed by a corporate surety or sureties in accordance with the Insurance Code, and   
 

• in a form approved by the Commissioners Court. 
 
Payment bonds must be effective from commencement of performance until the end of the fourth 
month after all work for the project is completed, unless releases are obtained from all 
subcontractors and materialmen. Any payment bond that is furnished by a contractor in 
attempted compliance with the requirements of chapter 2253 of the Texas Government Code are 
construed as if it conforms with that chapter in relation to rights created, limitations on the bond, 
and remedies provided. 
 
A bond required under this section must clearly and prominently display on the bond or on an 
attachment to the bond:  

Performance 
Bonds 

Payment Bonds 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Construction Procurement 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 15-4  

• the name, mailing address, physical address, and telephone number, including the area 
code, of the surety company to which any notice of claim should be sent; or  

• the toll-free telephone number maintained by the Texas Department of Insurance under 
Article 1.35D, Insurance Code, and a statement that the address of the surety company to 
which any notice of claim should be sent may be obtained from the Texas Department of 
Insurance by calling the toll-free telephone number.  

The County may not require a contractor for any public building or other construction contract to 
obtain a surety bond from any specific insurance or surety company, agent, or broker. 
 
Letters of Credit may not be substituted for any payment bonds related to a public works project 
if the cost of the project exceeds $25,000.  
 
The Purchasing Office provides detailed information on the bidding requirements of the IFB to 
ensure that purchasing procedures are complied with and the user department provides 
technical information and to ensure that technical standards are complied with. Purchasing 
schedules the pre-bid conference and assists in conducting the conference as follows:  
 
• Have all attendees sign the attendance roster.  
 
• Provide a detailed Agenda which: 
 

 Provides a brief introduction of the project title, magnitude, and performance period. 
 

 Indicates whether there has been any addendum issued, and if so, provides all 
attendees and project document holders with a copy. 
 

 Discusses the Purchasing Office role in the procurement and administration process. 
 

 Establishes a “cut-off” date for questions and requests for clarifications, as well as a final 
date for issuance of addendum 

 
 Discusses the Historically Underutilized Business (HUB) requirements as outlined in the 

appropriate section of the project manual. 
 
• Have the project Engineer, Architect or Project Manager discuss the specifics of the project 

including review of the plans and specifications and allows for a question and answer 
session. 

 
• Determine any issues discussed during the conference that require issuance of an 

addendum. The Purchasing Agent may extend the date specified in the notice if needed. The 
Purchasing Office issues the amendment only if there are at least five (5) days between the 
date of the addendum and the date specified for bid opening. If less than five days exist, the 
opening date should be extended to allow for a minimum of five days between the date of the 
addendum and the opening date specified in the addendum. 

 
• Have the user department provide Purchasing with the technical documents (i.e. changes or 

additions to the plans and or specifications).  
 
• Prepare addendum using standard form and distributes the addendum to all attendees and 

project document holders.  
 
• Record the minutes of the meeting and distributes them to all attendees. 
 
 

Pre-Bid 
Conference 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Construction Procurement 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 15-5  

The following procedures are adhered to when receiving bids: 
 
• The Purchasing Office receives all bids as specified by the IFB. 

 
• Bids are not accepted after the opening time on the day of bid opening.   All bids 

offered after the opening time are returned unopened to the bidder with a letter from the 
Purchasing Agent notifying the bidder that the submitted bid arrived after the due date 
and time.  

• The Purchasing Office records the name of the vendor submitting the bid, as well as the time 
and date the bid was submitted. If a bid is received by mail, express mail, or courier, the 
method of delivery is reflected in the record. 

• After bids are received, the Purchasing Office provides a secure place to hold the bids until 
the opening date. The bids are to be received sealed and remain sealed until the Purchasing 
Office opens them in a public forum on the advertised date and time. 

• On occasion, bids that are received in the mail or by some other independent carrier may be 
inadvertently opened. If this situation occurs, another employee of the Purchasing Office is 
immediately called to act as a witness that the details of the bid, especially the price, were 
not reviewed, then the bid was sealed again by that employee, and the incident is 
documented. 

 
The above process shall be undertaken in a manner that precludes any perception of favoritism 
and avoids revealing bid prices or any bid information. Publicly receiving sealed bids and 
recording the submission of requested bids inhibits the perception that the Purchasing Office is 
manipulating the receipt of bids. 
 
The Purchasing Office publicly opens and documents sealed bids on the date, time and place 
specified in the notice. Preliminary bid tabulations are provided to the public upon request. The 
Purchasing Office and the user department determine who is responsible for creating the bid 
tabulation and, if it is the user department, then the user department provides a copy to the 
Purchasing Office for distribution to the general public. For those bids that contain numerous line 
items, a tabulation that includes the total bid amount, excluding individual line item amounts per 
bidder, can be provided immediately after bid opening. Requests for all-inclusive bid tabulation 
are honored after it is completed and may require at least four (4) County business days. 
 
The Purchasing Agent provides a copy to the Commissioners Court with the contract award 
package. A bid that has been opened may not be changed for the purpose of correcting an error 
in the bid price.  In cases of discrepancy between the price written in words and the price written 
in numerals, the price written in words shall govern.   If a conflict between the unit price and total 
contract amount/price exist, the unit price shall govern. 
 
The Purchasing Office evaluates all bids with assistance from the user department and they 
jointly develop a recommendation for award to Commissioners Court. The evaluation of bids is 
based on the following factors: 

• the relative prices of the bids, including the cost of repair and maintenance of heavy 
equipment if that is subject of the bid, or the cost of delivery and hauling if road construction 
equipment is the subject of the bids;    

• the compliance of goods and services offered with specifications; and   

• the responsibility of the vendor, including the vendor’s past performance, the vendor's 
financial and practical ability to perform the contract, and the vendor’s safety record if 
Commissioners Court has adopted a definition of safety that is stated in the IFB.  

 
Purchasing forwards a complete bid packet to the Official or Executive Manager for completion 

Receipt of 
Competitive 
Bids 

Public Opening 
of Bids 

Evaluation of 
Bids 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Construction Procurement 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 15-6  

and signature. The form and any other documentation from the user department is submitted 
with the agenda request to justify the award. Purchasing is responsible for placing the item on 
the agenda of the Commissioners Court.  
 
When the lowest priced bid is not the best bid, clear justification for not selecting the lowest 
bidder must be documented to the Commissioners Court. This recommendation may be 
supported by clear and concise documentation from the user department that determines the 
rationale for awarding to a bidder other than the lowest bidder. A joint review of the bid by the 
user department and the Purchasing Office is required. 
 
To ensure the vendor understands all the requirements of the project manual and plans, and to 
provide the vendor the opportunity to voice any concerns or issues they may have with the 
project or the project documents as designed, a pre-award conference may be held prior to 
contract award.  Any potential Value Engineering (VE) opportunities that may improve the 
project, offer a cost savings to the County, or provide a better method in achieving the desired 
goal may also be discussed at this time.  The pre-award conference ensures, to the greatest 
extent practical, the successful award, performance and completion of the project. 
 
Pre-award conferences are normally reserved for more complex and complicated construction 
projects or in some instances where it is the vendor’s first construction project with the County.   
 
A joint determination, by the Purchasing Office and the project manager, is made as to the 
necessity of a pre-award conference.    The Purchasing Office schedules the conference, 
prepares the agenda, and conducts the meeting.  The project manager ensures the vendor  has 
a clear understanding of the project technical requirements, and that the bid covers all 
requirements, evaluates the feasibility of any suggested VE options, and addresses any 
issues/problems, , with the project documents or design. 
 
The Purchasing Agent and the Official or Executive Manager recommend contract award to 
Commissioners Court in session. The Court shall: 

• Award the contract to the responsive and responsible bidder who submits the lowest and 
best bid; or 

• Reject all bids and publish a new notice if the goods and services are still needed. 
 
If two responsive and responsible bidders submit the lowest and best bid, the Commissioners 
Court shall decide between the two by drawing lots in a manner prescribed by the County Judge. 
 
A contract may not be awarded to a bidder who is not the lowest dollar bidder meeting 
specifications unless, before the award, each lower bidder is given notice of the proposed award 
and is given an opportunity to appear before the Commissioners Court and present evidence 
about its responsibility. After award, the County Judge signs the contract for the County and the 
Purchasing Agent returns the bid bonds of any vendor that was not awarded a contract. 
 
After an award is made, a notice of contract award form is processed.   An original contract, 
along with contract award form, is maintained in Purchasing.  The other originals, along with a 
contract award form, are furnished to the Contractor and the County Clerk when approved by 
Court.  Copies of all documents are furnished to the user department, the Auditor’s Office, and 
the County Attorney. 
 
A Notice-of-Award ("NOA") letter, issued by the Purchasing Office, accompanies the contractor's 
copy of the contract. The NOA letter includes the requirements for the contractor to submit 
various documents, and the time period within which they must be submitted. For example, 
Payment Bonds, Performance Bonds, HUB documentation and an Insurance Certificate must be 
submitted within ten (10) workdays after contractor receipt of the NOA letter. Unless otherwise 
indicated, the NOA also states that Notice-to-Proceed is not issued unless the contractor 

Contract Award 

Pre-Award 
Conference 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Construction Procurement 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 15-7  

submits the required documents within the specified time period.   If the contractor does not 
submit the required documents within the specified time period, the County has the option of 
holding the bid security and awarding the contract to the next lowest bidder. 
 
Purchasing schedules the Pre-Construction Conference (also known as the Pre-Performance 
Conference). The user department is responsible for all technical presentations and the 
Purchasing Office ensures that all applicable purchasing procedures are followed. Purchasing 
assists in conducting the conference by: 
 
• Having all attendees sign the attendance roster, introduce themselves, and briefly explain 

their involvement in the project; 
 
• Discussing briefly the contract requirements, amount, and any other pertinent information 

about the project. The user department representative (technical representative) is 
responsible for providing a thorough synopsis of contract requirements and any County 
policies to which contractor must adhere; 

 
• Establishing dates for submissions of all required documents such as material submittals, 

progress reports, payrolls, (when applicable), etc. 
 
• Receiving required documents from the contractor, i.e., Performance Bond, Payment Bond, 

Insurance Certificate and the optional forms like HUB Documents, Notice of Intent Forms, if 
not previously provided; 

 
Note:  The NTP is not issued until all required bonds and insurance certificates have 
been received, reviewed and verified with the appropriate agency (i.e. surety or 
insurance agency); 

 
• Ensuring a complete understanding by all participants on all issues before adjourning. 
 
• Preparing minutes of the Conference, including all technical discussions and distributing 

them. 
 
Purchasing works with the user department on the timing of the issuance of the Notice-To-
Proceed (NTP). After Purchasing receives all of the required documents, the user department 
determines when the NTP is issued.  If all is in order, Purchasing issues the NTP.  
 
The user department is responsible for monitoring and documenting contractor performance and 
compliance and provides Purchasing with copies of this documentation, which keeps the 
Purchasing Office informed about all performance and compliance issues. Discussions that 
merely explain the interpretation of the specifications may be dealt with orally by the user 
department.  
 
If poor performance or non-compliance with the contract is evidenced, the user department 
initiates written corrective action with the contractor and provides Purchasing with an advance 
copy of any written correspondence directing correction of a discrepancy. The user department 
solicits Purchasing to initiate corrective action when the user department cannot resolve conflict 
through correspondence in consultation with the occupant department. 
 
The user department must not provide any instructions or requests for changes directly to the 
contractor. The user department must provide all information necessary for the contractor to 
meet its needs either through the user department that is responsible for constructing the facility 
or the Purchasing Office. Only the user department's project manager or the Purchasing Agent 
has the authority to give any directions directly to the contractor. 
 
The Purchasing Agent takes all steps related to correcting non-compliance with the contract but 

Pre-Construction 
Conference 

Contract 
Administration 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Construction Procurement 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 15-8  

must consult with the County Attorney before taking any steps toward suspension or termination 
of the contract unless emergency, life safety, or property damage issues require immediate 
temporary work stoppage. Before any letters, notices or other communication related to 
termination or suspension are sent to the contractor, the contents of these must be reviewed by 
the County Attorney as the initial steps toward potential litigation.   
 
Documentation of contractor performance is often overlooked and is most important if 
suspension or termination is sought. To enforce contractual terms, documentation of specific 
non-compliance must be available. Specific dates, locations, examples, etc. must be 
documented. 
 
Contract administration duties are basic daily, weekly, and monthly activities of the Purchasing 
staff and must take place to ensure successful completion of the project and to ensure the 
County receives the goods and services for which it has contracted. Unless otherwise noted, the 
following are responsibilities of the Purchasing Office: 
 
• Schedule and assist in conducting the pre-construction conference.  
 
• Maintain a comprehensive, neat, and orderly contract file that includes all documentation 

related to the procurement process including the pre-solicitation, solicitation, contract award, 
post award, and administration phases of the project. 

 
• Monitor the continued insurance coverage and obtain updated certificates on a timely basis  
 
• If project is federally funded, receive and review copies of contractor payrolls to ensure 

payments made to contractor’s employees comply with the prevailing wage rate 
classifications by trade that are included in the contract. 

 
• Perform periodic visits to the construction site to perform spot labor interviews to ensure 

contractor compliance with prevailing labor laws. 
 
• Receive and review copies of contractor invoices for accuracy.  Discrepancies are reported 

to the contractor and user department for resolution. The user department provides 
Purchasing with a copy of the invoice immediately upon receipt from the contractor. The 
Purchasing Office verifies in writing that the invoice is appropriate for payment before 
submitting it to the County Auditor for payment. 

 
• Maintain and monitor correspondence: The user department may hold oral discussions with 

the contractor that merely explain or interpret the specifications. All correspondence, 
concerning major issues involving non-compliance, between the contractor and the County 
are directed through the Purchasing Office. This ensures that the Purchasing Office is aware 
of any directives being issued to the contractor or any potential problems that may occur in 
the performance of the contract.  

 
In emergency situations, or those regarding minor issues, correspondence may be issued 
directly to the contractor through the user department. However, Purchasing must be 
provided a copy of the correspondence immediately.  The professional judgment of the user 
department representative determines what constitutes an emergency, and what is considered 
to be a minor issue. If it appears that the level of non-compliance may result in a suspension or 
termination of the contract, the Purchasing Agent must seek the advice of the County Attorney 
before sending a notice to show cause not to terminate or placing the contract on the agenda for 
the Commissioners Court to authorize termination. 
 
Bid bonds may be required with all bids over $50,000.  The contractor provides payment and 
performance bonds within ten (10) workdays after receipt of the Notice-of-Award letter. They are 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Construction Procurement 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 15-9  

reviewed by both the user department representative and Purchasing.  Originals are maintained 
in the Purchasing Office. Copies are provided to the user department upon request. Insurance 
certificates are provided by the contractor during the pre-construction conference. The certificate 
is maintained in the main contract file in the Purchasing Office.  
 
The Purchasing Agent on the recommendation of the Official or Executive Manager responsible 
for the project may approve change orders to construction contracts. 
 
The Purchasing Agent may modify contracts at any time, in writing, if the changes are within the 
general scope of the contract including changes to any of the following: 
 
1. drawings, designs, or specifications; 
 
2. correction of errors of a general administrative nature or other mistakes; 
 
3. increases or decreases in the quantity of items purchased;  
 
4. increases or decreases in cost of $50,000 or less; as long as: 
 
•  the original contract price has not been increased by more than 25 percent unless the 

change order is necessary to comply with a federal or state statute, rule, regulation, or 
judicial decision enacted, adopted, or rendered after the contract was made, and 

 
• the contractor has consented to decreases in the original contract price of 18 percent or 

more. 

5. time extensions allowed by the contract terms and conditions; 

6. contract name changes; and 

7. assignments of payment 
 
Negotiations of change orders, particularly those which result in an increase in contract price or 
performance period, require that the Purchasing Office be notified on a timely basis so that the 
Purchasing Agent can approve it. Purchasing shall be provided a copy of the proposed change 
order, with available supporting documentation. 
 
A change order shall not be issued until it is determined that the necessary funds are budgeted 
and available.  A statement to that effect should be included with the back up documentation. 
 
The Purchasing Agent ensures that all applicable warranty certificates are received and 
safeguarded throughout the term of the warranty. The Purchasing Office provides copies of the 
warranty certificates to the user department and the occupant department.  
 
The Purchasing Agent supervises return of bonds in cooperation with the user department to 
ensure that the contract is complete in all respects before these are returned. Every 
subcontractor and materialsman must provide a release that states that the subcontractor or 
materialman releases Travis County from all claims arising from labor or materials provided for 
the project. 
 
Chapter 271, Subchapter H of the Texas Local Government Code applies if an alternative 
project delivery method (that is, not “traditional” competitive bidding) is being utilized.  Specific 
procedures and requirements are developed for each specific project using an alternative 
delivery method.  If an alternative project delivery method is not being used, the provisions of 
Chapter 262 of the Texas Local Government Code apply. 

 
 

Change Orders 

Close Out 
Procedures 

Alternative 
Project 
Delivery  
Methods 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Exemptions to the Competitive Procurement Process 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  16-1 

Chapter 16: Exemptions to the Competitive Procurement Process 
 
Some goods and services can be exempted from the competitive procurement process if the 
Commissioners Court orders the purchase exempt. Section 262.024 of the Texas Local 
Government Code lists all the circumstances when exemptions are available for purchases 
made out of current funds, bond funds, or through time warrants. The following is a list of these 
circumstances: 

• Goods and services that must be purchased in a case of public calamity, if it is necessary to 
make the purchase promptly to relieve the necessity of the citizens or to preserve the 
property of the County; 

• Goods and services necessary to preserve or protect the public health or safety of the 
residents of the County;  

• Goods and services necessary because of unforeseen damage to public property; 

• Personal or professional services; 

• Work performed and paid for by the day, as the work progresses to a maximum of 20 days 
within any three-month period;  

• Any land or right of way; 

• Goods and services that can only be obtained from one source (sole source), including: 

 Goods and services for which competition is precluded because of the existence of 
patents, copyrights, secret processes, or monopolies; 

 Films, manuscripts, or books; 

 Electric power, gas, water, and other utility services; and 

 Captive replacement parts for equipment.  

• Food goods if purchased after solicitation of at least three bids by telephone or written 
quotation at intervals specified by the Commissioners Court; 

• Personal property sold at auction by a state licensed auctioneer, in a going out of business 
sale held in compliance with the Business and Commerce Code, or by a political subdivision, 
state agency or federal government entity;  

• Work performed under a community and economic development contract under section  
381.004 of the Texas Local Government Code; and  

• Renewal of an equipment lease or equipment maintenance agreement if the lease was 
competitively bid within the last year and the extension does not exceed one year. 

• vehicle and equipment repairs 
 
In addition, section 271.056 of the Texas Local Government Code lists all the circumstances 
when exemptions are available for purchases made from funds obtained from certificates of 
obligation. The following is a list of these circumstances: 

• Goods and services that must be purchased in a case of public calamity, if it is necessary to 
make the purchase promptly to relieve the necessity of the citizens or to preserve the 
property of the County; 

• Goods and services necessary to preserve or protect the public health or safety of the 
residents of the County;  

• Goods and services necessary because of unforeseen damage to public property; 

• Personal or professional services; 

Purchasing Act 

Public Finance 
Act 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Exemptions to the Competitive Procurement Process 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  16-2 

• Work performed by the County's employees and paid for as the work progresses;  

• The purchase of any land, building, existing utility system, or right of way for authorized 
needs and purposes authorized under the certificate of obligation; 

• A contract paid entirely from current funds or bond funds or a contract for which advertising 
was done in compliance with Chapter 271 of the Texas Local Government Code and 
certificates of obligation are issued to provide for a deficiency in current funds or bond funds; 

• The sale of a public security as defined in section 1204.001 of the Texas Government Code; 

• A contract that is not required to be made in accordance with competitive bidding procedures 
under the County Purchasing Act.  

 
Exemption orders must be processed through the Purchasing Agent. For purchases exceeding 
$50,000, the Purchasing Agent requests the exemption order from Commissioners Court in all 
cases except the acquisition of interests in land for county purposes 
 
The Official or Executive Manager submits a memo to the Purchasing Agent requesting an 
exemption to the competitive procurement process and identifying the basis for the exemption 
(e.g. emergency, sole source). The memo must state specific details and explain why an 
exemption from the competitive procurement process should be requested and granted. When 
possible, it should also contain the name of the vendor, goods or services covered by the order 
and the expected maximum cost and other relevant programmatic information justifying the 
exemption.  
 
If there is a declaration of a local state of disaster, the County Judge is the authority to approve 
purchases.  When purchases are necessary because any other emergency situation exists, the 
Purchasing Agent must be contacted to ensure compliance with the Purchasing Act. Emergency, 
as used in the Purchasing Act and this chapter, is an urgent unforeseeable need to make a 
purchase that does not result from a local state of disaster as defined in chapter 63 of the Travis 
County Code. 
 
Emergency purchases exceeding $50,000 require an exemption order granted by the 
Commissioners Court before a purchase order can be issued. 
 
Sole-source goods and services require a signed statement from the Purchasing Agent about 
the existence of only one source, and specifically noting which type of listed sole source good or 
service is being purchased. For purchases over $50,000, the statement is submitted for 
acceptance by Commissioners Court, and must be reflected in the minutes of the meeting of the 
Commissioners Court. Sole-source items include: 
 
• Goods and services for which competition is precluded from bidding because of the 

existence of patents, copyrights, secret processes, or monopolies; 
 
• Films, manuscripts, or books; 
 
• Electric power, gas, water, and other utility services; and 
 
• Captive replacement parts for equipment. 
 
The Commissioners Court orders that food purchases for Travis County adult and juvenile 
correctional facilities are exempt from the competitive bidding requirements of the Purchasing 
Act if the following procedures are followed in making the purchases: 
 
1. The Food Manager in the Sheriff’s Office maintains a list of all vendors that wish to bid on 

food. To be added to the list, a vendor must request a specification package for each 
category of food on which the vendor wants to bid.  This specification package states the 

Policy 

Procedure 

Emergency 

Food Purchases 

Sole Source 
Goods and 
Services 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Exemptions to the Competitive Procurement Process 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009  16-3 

approximate amounts of foods required in the specified timeframes, the quality and service 
level requires, and the terms and conditions of the contract.   

 
2. When applicable, specifications for food categories require fixed prices for one year.  
 
3. The Food Manager in the Sheriff’s Office solicits at least three bids by telephone,  written 

quotation, or electronically for the following categories at the following intervals: 
   

Produce Monthly 

Canned Good Quarterly 

Meat Quarterly 

Groceries Quarterly 

Dairy products Annually or semi-annually 

Bread Annually or semi-annually 
 
4. The Food Manager, through the Purchasing Agent, submits the bids to the Commissioners 

Court with a recommended award of the food purchase contract(s) to the responsible bidder 
who submits the lowest and best bid.  The Food Manager may also recommend that the 
Court reject all bids and repeat the bidding process if it is determined to be in the best 
interest of the County. The lowest and best bid is determined based either (1) on the overall 
low bid or (2) on the line item low bid, whichever is more advantageous to the County. In 
recommending the responsible and lowest and best bid, the Food Manager considers the 
relative price of the bids, compliance of the products with the specifications, financial 
condition of the vendor, ability to perform the contract terms, and past performance with the 
County.  If after award, any vendor does not provide the volume or quality of food, or the 
timeliness of delivery required by the contract, the Food Manager may procure items from 
the next lowest vendor until the Commissioners Court considers termination of the contract 
or the end of the timeframe if the contract is bid weekly.  

 
5. If the Food Manager has maintained documentation on the details that support the 

removal of a vendor from the list of those who wish to bid and presents it to the 
Commissioners Court, the Commissioners Court may remove a vendor from the vendor 
list for the following reason: 

• the vendor has not bid in response to three consecutive requests for bids, or  

• the vendor has not provided the volume or quality of food or timely deliver as 
required by the contracts. 

 
6. The Food Manager encumbers funds for the contracts using either a manual requisition or 

purchase order on the H.T.E. system.  
 
7. The Food Manager must maintain a record of all bids solicited, vendors contacted, and the 

awarded food contract for at least two years after expiration of the contract, or until audited 
by the County Auditor, whichever occurs first. 
 

The Commissioners Court has directed that the Facilities Management Department, with the 
advice of the County Attorney, handle the acquisition and administration of real property. The 
Purchasing Agent does not supervise the lease or purchase of real property.  
 
An Exemption Order approved by the Commissioners Court for a specific contract shall be in 
effect until rescinded by the Court, unless a specific period of time for the exemption is 

Real 
Property 

Duration of 
Exemption 

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Professional Development and Certification 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. July 2009 16-4 

authorized by the court.  

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Renewal of Equipment Leases and Maintenance Contracts 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 17-1 

Chapter 17: Renewal of Equipment Leases and Maintenance Contracts 

The first renewal or extension of an equipment lease or of an equipment maintenance contract 
can be exempted from formal competitive bidding, if the Commissioners Court orders the 
exemption and if: 

• the lease or contract has gone through formal competitive bidding within the preceding year; 
and 

• the renewal or extension does not exceed one year. 
 

The Purchasing Office processes the procurement of all equipment leases and maintenance 
contracts and exemption orders for all renewals or extensions. The Purchasing Agent supervises 
all negotiations with vendors. Purchasing maintains the contract originals and sends the user 
department a copy. Purchasing monitors maintenance contracts for expiration dates and treats 
their renewal as annual term contracts. 
 
The Purchasing Agent may execute any contract for equipment leases and maintenance 
contracts that are procured in compliance with the Purchasing Act and in which the cost does not 
exceed $50,000. 
 
The user department enters a requisition into the H.T.E. system identifying the budget line item 
account. The requisition identifies the purchase as either a lease or maintenance contract.  The 
requisition should include the serial number, model number and physical location of equipment. 
The beginning and end dates of coverage should be specified. 
 
If the user department is processing a renewal either the original County contract number or the 
State term contract number should be identified in the requisition. 
 
If the request is for a sole source lease or maintenance contract, the user department must 
follow up the requisition with a memo justifying why it is a sole source purchase. 
 
Note:  If the lease or maintenance contract is from an authorized state contract or cooperative 
agreement vendor, the user department must include the Vendor ID number, part number, class 
and item number, and contact person on the requisition. 
 
Records Management & Communication Resources (RMCR) and Information and 
Telecommunications Services (ITS) may be involved in the analysis of whether a maintenance 
contract or in-house repairs are more appropriate. Departments should coordinate with either 
RMCR or ITS on these analyses and provide a statement from the appropriate department that 
the maintenance contract sought is appropriate. 
 
Note: An often-overlooked cost of equipment or software is on going maintenance. All on-going 
maintenance issues should be considered, evaluated, and priced in the initial procurement 
process. 
 
RMCR must be contacted on maintenance contracts for all micro processing and copying 
equipment.  
 
ITS must be contacted on all software and hardware procurements and ongoing maintenance 
contracts.  An ITS Assessment form should be submitted along with each agenda item for 
Commissioners Court action for these services.   
 

Statute 

Policy 

Procedures 

Technical 
Department 
Approvals 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Receipt of Goods and Payment 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 18-1 

Chapter 18: Receipt of Goods and Payment 
 

Departments must notify the Purchasing Office if goods are not received by the due date or if 
damaged goods are delivered. 
 
Department employees receiving shipments must pay particular attention to the delivery ticket, 
and determine whether it matches the County's purchase order. The person receiving the goods 
must verify that all goods were shipped as stated on the delivery ticket, and sign in his or her 
own name (a full signature in ink) on all of the appropriate receiving documentation, 
particularly the County copy. 
 
The user department must acknowledge receipt and acceptance of delivered goods through the 
H.T.E. system within five working days. (Please do not accept items in the H.T.E. system if 
damaged goods have to be returned.)  Timely receipt of goods in the H.T.E. system is critical to 
the timely processing of payments to vendors in compliance with Texas Government Code, 
section 2251.021 Prompt Payment Act.  According to this section, payment for goods or services 
received is overdue on the 31st day after the later of: 
 
• the date the County receives the good under the contract. 
 
• the date the performance of the service under the contract is complete, or 
 
• the date the County receives and invoice for the goods or service. 
 
When a shipment arrives, the user department must inspect the condition of all cartons. If goods 
are undamaged, the department receiving the shipment should sign the freight bill. If goods are 
visibly damaged, the receiving department must instruct the freight line driver to: 
 
1. Note the damage on the freight bill, and; 
 
2. Sign the freight bill. 
 
If there is concealed damage, save the shipping cartons so that the Purchasing Office can notify 
the freight line and request an "inspection and report of concealed damage". A receiving report 
noting the damage should be completed and matched with the receiving copy of the purchase 
order. 
 
All boxes and packing materials should be kept in the event of visibly damaged and concealed 
damage goods shipments. 
 
Damaged goods must be reported to the freight line within 15 days after delivery. After 15 days 
the freight line is no longer liable for the damage. 
 
All goods not received properly or not in compliance with the contract should be documented 
and reported to the Purchasing Office as soon as possible so that the contractor can be notified 
and instructed about corrective action.  To comply with the Prompt Payment Act, the Purchasing 
Office notifies the contractor within 21 days of any damaged goods received to avoid interest 
being paid to the contractor. 
 
Damaged goods should not be returned to the freight line or the contractor, unless specifically 
requested to do so and then only if a claim has been filed or if authorization has been given by 
the contractor or the Purchasing Office. 

Policy 

Verify Order 

Damaged 
Goods 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Receipt of Goods and Payment 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 18-2 

 
All receiving documentation must be maintained by the user department for their record. All 
vendor invoices are sent directly to the Auditor.  The department should provide documentation 
to the Auditor’s Office regarding any disputes in receipts of goods.  
 
Any warranty information must be copied to the Purchasing Office. Warranty information can be 
tracked through the H.T.E. system. 
 

Documentation 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Contract Modifications 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 19-1 

Chapter 19: Contract Modifications 

During the term of a contract, it may be necessary to make changes to the contract. These 
changes can be minor, administrative changes such as a change of address or they can be 
substantial changes that affect the price and delivery.   
 
There are basically two ways to change a contract.  One way is a bilateral modification, in which 
both parties to the contract agree that a modification is necessary.  Both parties must sign to 
indicate their agreement.  The second way is a unilateral modification.  In this case, terms and 
conditions in the original contract set forth the situations under which the County may exercise a 
right to modify the contract without the contractor’s consent. 
 
The Purchasing Agent may modify contracts, in writing, if the changes are within the general 
scope of the contract including changes to any of the following: 
 
1. drawings, designs, or specifications when the goods to be furnished are to be specially 

manufactured for the County in accordance with the drawings, designs, or specifications; 
 
2. method of shipment or packing; 
 
3. place of delivery;  
 
4. correction of errors of a general administrative nature or other mistakes;  
 
5. increases or decreases in the quantity of items purchased;  

 
5. increases or decreases in cost of $50,000 or less as long as: 
 
• the original contract price has not been increased by more than 25 percent unless the 

change order is necessary to comply with a federal or state statute, rule, regulation, or 
judicial decision enacted, adopted, or rendered after the contract was made or  

 
• the contractor has consented to a decrease of 18 percent or more ;  

 
7. time extensions allowed by the contract terms and conditions; 
 
8. contract name changes; and 

 
9. assignments of payment. 

 
Note:  The total contract price may not be increased unless the cost of the change can be paid 
from current and available funds. 

 

Policy 

Unilateral 
Changes

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Contract Administration 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 20-1 

Chapter 20: Contract Administration 

Contract administration and oversight includes four general processes: 
 
• Planning 
 
• Monitoring Contractor Performance 
 
• Payment Approval 
 
• Change Management 
 
All aspects of the of contract administration are important.  Documentation of specific non-
compliance must be available to enforce contractual terms. Documentation includes a 
description of specific dates, locations, examples, etc. of non-performance and any contact or 
communication with the contractor about non-compliance.  
 
The user department has primary responsibility for monitoring and documenting contractor 
performance and compliance.  The user department must provide copies of all documentation of 
non-compliance to the Purchasing Office.  Copies may be sent by e-mail to the Purchasing 
Agent. The Purchasing Office maintains all documents about events during the term of the 
contract including contract performance and documents related to clarification of expected 
performance.  The user department does not need to provide copies of documentation about 
clarification of expected performance standards with which the contractor complied after 
clarification. The user department should contact the Purchasing Office if there is any question 
about what should or should not be documented.  
 
If the user department observes poor performance or non-compliance with the contract, 
Purchasing communicates with the contractor and initiates any corrective action. The Purchasing 
Agent takes all steps related to obtaining contract compliance, but consults with the County 
Attorney before taking any steps toward contract suspension or termination. Before any letters, 
notices and other communication related to termination or suspension are sent to the contractor, 
they are reviewed by the County Attorney as the initial steps toward potential litigation.  
 
The objectives of contract administration are to: 
 
• Ensure the contract requirements are satisfactorily performed before payment, 

 
• Properly discharge of the responsibilities of both parties, 
 
• Identify any material breach of contract by assessing the difference between contract 

performance and material non-performance, and 
 
• Determine if corrective action is necessary and take that action if required. 
 
• Resolve any disputes. 
 
The statement of work is the guide for contract administration.  Therefore, planning for contract 
administration occurs before issuance of the solicitation. Effective contract administration 
minimizes or eliminates problems and potential claims and disputes. 
 
Good contract management ensures that the contract requirements are satisfied, that the good 
and services are delivered in a timely manner, and that the financial interests of the County are 
protected.  

Policy 

Contract 
Administration 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Contract Administration 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 20-2 

The contractor must perform and meet the requirements of the contract.  To do so, contractors 
sometimes need technical direction and approval from County staff.  County staff must provide 
this technical direction and approval in a timely and effective manner. All guidance provided to a 
contractor must be within the scope of the contract. 
  
The responsibilities of the contract manager are: 
 
• Participating, as necessary, in developing the solicitation and writing the draft documents, 

 
• Monitoring the contractor’s progress and performance to ensure goods and services 

conform to the contract requirements, 
 
• Managing any county property used in contract performance, 
 
• Authorizing payments consistent with the contract documents, 
 
• Exercising remedies, as appropriate, where a contractor’s performance is deficient, 
 
• Resolving disputes in a timely manner, 
 
• Documenting significant events, and 
 
• Maintaining appropriate records. 
 
A good contract manager ensures that the contract requirements are satisfied, that the goods 
and services are delivered in a timely manner, and that the financial interests of the County are 
protected. 
 
A post award conference is a meeting with the contractor and includes the principals responsible 
for administering the contract.  The conference is typically held soon after the contract is 
awarded.  It is an orientation for the contractor to ensure a clear and mutual understanding of all 
contract terms and conditions, and the responsibilities of all parties.  The conference also serves 
as a tool to clarify and resolve any potential misunderstandings early.  Although both the 
contractor and County staff should be fully aware of the contract requirements, the post award 
conference ensures that those involved directly in the contract administration process 
understand all requirements of contract performance. 

 
Monitoring the performance of a contractor is a key function of proper contract administration. 
The purpose is to ensure that the contractor is performing all duties in accordance with the 
contract and for the user department to be aware of and address any developing problems or 
issues. 
 
In some instances the obligation to monitor the progress of a contract is assigned to another 
contractor.  This is known as independent oversight.  For example, in a construction contract, the 
architectural firm that provided the construction plans may perform the task of ensuring progress 
in accordance with the contract.  
 
Dispute resolution is covered by statute under Texas Government Code Chapter 2260.  The goal 
of the resolution process is to resolve all problems before they escalate to the next level. To 
avoid escalation of problems to the next level and ensure the County has not exacerbated 
potential problems, County personnel must respond promptly to all contractor inquiries.  Initial 
steps to be taken are: 
 
• Identify the problem – what may appear to be a problem can sometimes be resolved by 

Contract 
Management 

Post Award 
Conference 

Monitoring 
Performance 

Monitoring 
by Third 
P ti

Dispute 
Resolution 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Contract Administration 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 20-3 

providing the contractor with information or clarification 
 
• Research facts – Purchasing should obtain all the information about the potential problem 

from all relevant sources, including the project manager and the contractor. 
 
• Evaluation – Purchasing should review all of the facts in conjunction with the requirements 

and terms and conditions of the contract.  Purchasing determines the appropriate course of 
action. 

 
Proper dispute resolution is a core skill of successful contract management.  Identifying 
problems early in the performance period, effectively communicating, and formalizing the 
process in writing through a cure note procedure or less formal written procedure is essential.  A 
contract termination is a failure by BOTH parties to a contract.  Termination is the last resort. 
 
A termination for convenience, also known as a no-fault termination, allows the County to 
terminate any contract, in whole or in part, at any time in its sole discretion, if it is determined 
that the termination is in the best interest of the County.  

 
Purchasing provides the contractor a written notice specifying the extent of termination and the 
effective date, providing as much notice as possible. 
 
The Contractor is generally paid for allowable costs incurred up to the termination. The County is 
not liable for payment to the contractor related to the terminated portion of the work or any work 
performed or costs incurred after the effective date of the termination 
 
A contract may be terminated for default when the County concludes that the contractor fails to 
perform, make progress, or in any way breaches the contract. 
 
Termination for default should be used as the last resort and not as punishment.   The County 
should do everything within reason to assist the contractor in curing any default.  Factors to 
consider before making a termination for default decision include: 
 
• The provisions of the contract and applicable regulations, 
 
• The specific contractual failure(s) and the explanation provided for the failures, 
 
• The urgency of the need for the contracted supplies or services, 
 
• The availability of the supplies or services from other sources and the time required to obtain 

them, and 
 
• Availability of funds or resources to re-purchase if the costs cannot be recovered from the 

delinquent contractor.  Under a termination for default, the County may demand re-
procurement costs from the defaulting contractor. 

 
Keeping one complete master contract administration file is critical.  The file provides a basis for 
settling claims and disputes if they arise in administrative or court actions.  Throughout the life of 
the contract, the Purchasing Office contract administration file should contain such things as: 
 
• An original copy of the current contract and all modifications, 

 
• An original copy of the agenda request(s), 

Termination for 
Convenience 

Termination for 
Default 

Contract File 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Contract Administration 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 20-4 

• A copy of all specifications, drawings or manuals incorporated into the contract by reference, 
 
• The solicitation document, the contractor’s response, evaluation determination, and the 

notice of award document, 
 
• A list of contractor submittal requirements, 
 
• A list of County furnished property or services, 
 
• A copy of the pre-award conference summary, if applicable, 
 
• A  copy of all general correspondence related to the contract, 
 
• The originals of all contractor data or report submittals, 
 
• A copy of all notices to proceed, to stop work, to correct deficiencies and change orders, 
 
• The records or minutes of all meetings, both internal and external, including sign-in sheets 

and agendas, 
 
• A  copy of the original bidders list, and  
 
• Any other information required by the standard contract file checklist 

 

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Professional Development and Certification 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 21-1 

Chapter 21: Professional Development and Certification 

The policy of the Travis County Purchasing Office is to develop and maintain a professional 
procurement staff that achieves these broad purposes: 
 
• To provide the best service possible to all county departments in a fair and equitable 

manner; 
 

• To ensure an atmosphere of equality to all vendors without regard to undue influence or 
political pressures; and  

 
• To protect the interest of county taxpayers in all expenditures. 

 
Within the stated purposes, the Purchasing Office strives to meet the following key 
objectives: 

 
• The actions of the office must be legal, ethical, and defensible. 

 
• The office contributes to the attainment of Travis County’s organizational goals. 

 
• The office effectively communicates with all county employees and vendors. 

 
• The office consistently provides sound management data, including historical 

performance records. 
 

• The professional staff obtains the skills and training necessary to perform their duties 
effectively and efficiently. 

 
• The professional staff attempt to obtain purchasing certification. 

 
To support these purposes and objectives, the training policy of the Purchasing Office is: 
 
• All staff must maintain an extensive knowledge of software programs to perform 

effectively within each related job.  They must be current on all software applications 
used by the office. Training courses are assigned depending on knowledge and position 
requirements of the individual.  Staff takes advantage of computer training offered by the 
County before pursuing external sources. 

 
• Professional staff are required, as funding is available, to attend the following standard 

seminars: 
 

 Basic Public Purchasing 
 

 Public Purchasing Law 
 

 Advanced Public Purchasing 
 

 Specification Writing 

• Depending on availability, these courses may be substituted for other approved courses.  
The professional staff may continue their professional education to remain current on 
purchasing issues through applicable seminars as available. 

• All professional staff is encouraged to participate in relevant training to enhance their 
efficiency and effectiveness in performing their duties. 

Policy 

Key 
Objectives 

Training 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Professional Development and Certification 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 21-2 
 

 
• Professional staff is encouraged to pursue professional certification through the National 

Institute of Governmental Purchasing or the Institute of Supply Management. 
 

• Management support and funding are provided for training to allow staff educational 
opportunities related to the position.  Registration for training must have prior approval of the 
Purchasing Agent, and all expenses must comply with Travis County Travel and Training 
policies. 

 
 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Definitions 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 22-1 

Chapter 22: Definitions 
 
Advertisement - A public notice put in a newspaper of general circulation containing information about a 
solicitation in compliance with legal requirements 
 
Alternate Delivery Method – a method of procuring construction services other than “traditional” competitive 
bidding.  Methods may include design-build, construction manager (either at risk or as agent), and job order. 
 
Amendment/Addendum - A document used to change the provisions of a Solicitation.  Addendum is the preferred 
term in the Construction Industry. 
 
Annual Term Contract - A recurring contract for goods or services, usually in effect on a 12 month basis. 
 
Auditor - Travis County Auditor and her designated representatives. 
 
Best Value - A method of evaluating the price that includes an evaluation based on the total life cycle cost of the 
item or service.  Best value is the best and lowest overall life cycle cost proposal taking into consideration various 
factors depending on what is being procured.  
 
Bid Bonds – A deposit required of bidders to protect the county if a low bidder withdraws its bid or fails to enter 
into a contract.  Acceptable forms of bid deposits are limited to: cashier’s check, certified check, or irrevocable 
letter of credit issued by a financial institution subject to the laws of Texas and entered on a US Department of the 
Treasury’s listing of approved sureties; a surety or blanket bond from a company chartered or authorized to do 
business in Texas. 
 
Bidder – A vendor that submits a bid including anyone acting on behalf of the vendor that submits a bid, such as 
agents, employees, and representatives. 
}} 

 
Bidders List - An automated list of vendors who stated in writing an interest in submitting bids for particular 
categories of goods and services. 
 
Centralized Master Bidders List (CMBL) - A list maintained by the Texas Procurement and Support Services 
containing the names and addresses of prospective bidders. 
 
Change Order - A document used in construction contracts to change the contract by modifying the specifications, 
increasing or decreasing the cost, adjusting the time for performance or changes the goods or services to be 
delivered. 
 
Commissioners Court - Travis County Commissioners Court. 
 
Commodity Code - The accounting system classification of goods and services with a unique number assigned to 
each description. 
 
Competitive Bidding – Process that allows available vendors to compete with each other to provide goods or 
services. 
 
Competitive Proposal Process – Process that allows available vendors to compete with each other to provide 
goods and services and permits flexibility in product solicitation and negotiation in compliance with TEX. LOC. GOV'T 
CODE ANN.,  section 262.030. 
 
Component Purchases - A series of purchases of component parts of goods that are normally purchased as a 
whole. 
 
Consultant – A person who provides or proposes to provide advice and counsel in a specialized area. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Definitions 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 22-2 

 
Contract - A formal, written agreement executed by the County and a vendor containing the terms and conditions 
under which goods or services are furnished to the County which commits the County's funds. 
 
Contractor - A vendor who has been awarded a contract by Travis County. 
 
County - Travis County. 
 
County Attorney - Travis County Attorney or his designated representatives. 
 
County Clerk - Travis County Clerk or her designated representatives. 
 
Cycle Time - The time between when a purchase requisition is received in the Purchasing Office and placement of 
a purchase order with a vendor. Cycle time does not include the time required for delivery or the time it takes for 
the Purchasing Office to obtain corrections to line item accounts, commodity codes, and other necessary 
information. 
 
Design-Build Contract – A single contract for the design and construction of a facility that includes both an 
engineer or architect and a builder qualified to engage in building construction in Texas. 
 
Design Criteria Package – A set of documents that provides sufficient information to permit a vendor to prepare a 
response to County request for qualifications and any additional information requested, including criteria for 
selection. 
 
Department - All county and precinct offices and subdivisions of them, as well as district offices and subdivisions 
when the purchases are funded even partially with county funds. 
 
Emergency Purchase - An item that must be purchased in a case of public calamity if it is necessary to make the 
purchase promptly to relieve the necessity of the citizens or the preserve the property of the county  
 
Employee - Any county or precinct elected official, appointed official, or employee and any district elected official, 
appointed official or employee when the purchase is funded even partially with county funds or anyone who acts on 
behalf of any of them. 

Executive Manager - Any Executive Manager and any person authorized to act on his or her behalf. 
 
Formal Competitive Bidding - The bidding process in compliance with the County Purchasing Act which requires 
approval by the Commissioners Court. 
 
Goods - Any personal property purchased by the County, including equipment, supplies, material, and component 
or repair parts. 
 
Historically Underutilized Business (HUB) - A business in which at least 51% ownership is owned by one or 
more persons who have been historically underutilized (socially disadvantaged) because of their identification as 
being African Americans, Hispanic Americans, Asian-Pacific Americans, Native Americans or Caucasian Women. 
 
H.T.E. System - Travis County Financial Management System which includes modules for accounting, purchasing 
and fixed asset management. 
 
Invitation For Bid (IFB) - Specifications and formal bidding documents requesting pricing for a specified good or 
service which has been advertised for bid in a newspaper. 
 
Lease - A contract for the use of personal property for a period of time in return for a specified compensation.  
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Definitions 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 22-3 

Lowest Responsible Bid - The offer from a bidder who submits the lowest and best price meeting all 
requirements of the specifications, terms, and conditions of the invitation for bid and includes any related costs to 
the county in a total cost concept and who has the financial and practical ability to perform the contract and whose 
past performance indicates the ability to comply with the contract. 
 
Modification - A document used to change the provisions of a contract. 
 
Negotiations – A consensual bargaining process in which the County and vendors attempt to reach agreement on 
differences in desired contract provisions or a potentially disputed matter for the purpose of reaching an 
understanding. 
 
Occupant Department - The department that ultimately uses the finished goods or services when the purchase or 
construction is completed, which may be different from the user department. 
 
Official - Any elected or appointed official and any person authorized to act on his or her behalf. 
 
Other Professional Services – those services usually referred to as a professional service, but not specifically 
listed in the Professional Services Procurement Act and which require specialized technical skill and expertise; 
labor and skill which is predominantly mental or intellectual, including but not limited to computer programmer, 
lawyer, and facilitators.  
 
Payment Bond - A surety bond executed in connection with a contract that secures the payment requirement of 
the contractor. 
 
Performance Bond – A surety bond that provides assurance of a bidder’s performance of a certain contract.  
 
Pre-Bid/Proposal Conference - A conference conducted by the Purchasing Office for the benefit of those wishing 
to submit a response for services or supplies required by the County which is held in order to allow vendors to ask 
questions about the proposed contract and particularly about the contract specifications. 
 
Professional Services - Services directly related to professional practices as defined by the Professional Services 
Procurement Act, including those services within the scope of the practice of accounting; architecture; optometry; 
medicine; land surveying; and professional engineering. 
 
Proprietary Information - Information provided in responses to solicitations to which vendor claims ownership or 
exclusive rights and which may be protected from disclosure under the Texas Public Information Act (TEX. GOV’T 
CODE ANN., chapter 551). 
 
Public Works - Constructing, altering, or repairing a public building or carrying out or completing any public work.  
 
Purchase Order - An order by the Purchasing Office for the purchase of goods and services written on the 
county's standard Purchase Order form and which, when accepted by the contractor without qualification within the 
specified time limit, becomes a contract or an amendment to an existing contract which operates as the vendor's 
authority to deliver and invoice for goods or services specified, and is the County's commitment to accept the 
specified goods or services for an agreed upon price. 
 
Purchase Requisition - An automated request from a user department submitted to the Purchasing Office that 
authorizes the Purchasing Office to enter into a contract with a vendor to purchase goods or services for the 
County and authorizes the Auditor to charge the appropriate department budget and which is for internal use and 
cannot be used by a department to order materials directly from a vendor. 
 
Purchasing - The acquisition of goods and services including construction and professional services. 
 
Purchasing Act - Chapter 262, subchapter C of the Texas Local Government Code, which governs the conduct of 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Definitions 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 22-4 

purchasing activity for counties. 
 
Purchasing Agent - A person appointed by the Purchasing Board of County to make contracts on behalf of the 
County for: (1) erecting or repairing a county building; (2) supervising the erecting or repairing of a county building; 
or (3) any other purpose authorized by law.  
 
Purchasing Board - A board composed of three district judges and two county commissioners who are 
responsible for appointing the Purchasing Agent and approving the office's budget. 
 
Purchasing Laws - The laws that govern county purchasing including the following laws: 
 

Purchasing Act, (TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE ANN., ch. 262, subch. C)  
 
Public Property Finance Act, (TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE ANN., ch. 271, subch. B) 
 
State Contract, (TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE ANN., sec. 262.002, 271.081-3) 
 
Services and Products of Severely Disabled, (TEX. HUM. RES. CODE ANN., chapter. 122.) 
 
Interlocal Cooperation Agreement, (TEX .GOV’T CODE ANN., ch. 791)  
 
Prompt Payment Act, (TEX. GOV’T CODE ANN., ch. 2251)  
 
Bidders from other States and 5% Retainage, (TEX. GOV’T CODE ANN., ch. 2252) 
 
Public Works Performance and Payment Bonds, (TEX. GOV’T CODE ANN., ch. 2253)  
 
Professional Services Procurement Act, (TEX GOV’T CODE ANN., ch. 2254, subch. A) 
 
Wage Rate for Construction Projects, (TEX GOV’T CODE ANN., ch. 2258) 
 
Sales tax exemption for governmental entities (TEX. TAX CODE ANN.  151.309) 
 
Worker's Compensation Compliance (Workers Compensation Rule 110.110) 
 
Uniform Electronic Transaction Act (TEX. BUS. & COM.CODE ANN. Chapter 322 
 

Purchasing Office – The Office of the Travis County Purchasing Agent and her staff. 
 
Purchasing Liaisons – designated purchasing contact within each department 
 
Request for Information (RFI) - A general request to contractors for information for a potential future solicitation 
which is used as a research and information gathering tool for preparation of specifications and requirements. 
 
Request for Proposal (RFP) - A document requesting an offer from vendors, which allows for negotiations after a 
proposal has been received and before award of the contract for goods and services procured in compliance with 
TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE ANN., sections 262.0295 and 262.030. 
 
Request for Qualifications (RFQ) - A document that requests details about the qualifications of professionals 
whose services must be obtained in compliance with the Professional Services Procurement Act. 
 
Request for Services (RFS) - A document that requests information about qualifications and details of services to 
be provided and costs for other professional services that are not covered by in the Professional Services 
Procurement Act, but may be exempted from competitive solicitation under the County Purchasing Act. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Definitions 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 22-5 

 
Responsive – A vendor who has complied with all material aspects of the solicitation document, including 
submission of all required documents. 
 
Responsible – A vendor who has the capability to perform fully and deliver in accordance with the contract 
requirements based on consideration of past performance, financial capabilities, and business management.  
 
Sealed Bids - Offers in response to an Invitation for Bids that is advertised in a newspaper and submitted to the 
Purchasing Office in a manner that conceals the price. 
 
Separate Purchases - Acquisitions made in a series of different orders for goods and services that in normal 
purchasing practices that would be purchased in a single order. 
 
Sequential Purchases - Acquisitions made over a period of time that in normal purchasing practices, would be 
made at one time. 
 
Services - The furnishing of labor by a contractor that includes all work or labor performed for the County on an 
independent contractor basis, including maintenance, construction, manual, clerical, personal or professional 
services. 
 
Sole Source Good or Service - A good or service that can be obtained from only one source that is purchased in 
compliance with TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE ANN., section 262.024. 
 
Solicitation - A document, such as an invitation for bid, request for proposal, request for offers or request for 
qualifications issued by the Purchasing Office that contains terms and conditions for a contract to solicit a response 
from vendors to provide goods or services needed by the County. 
 
Solicitation Conference – A meeting chaired by purchasing staff, designed to help potential vendors understand 
the requirements of a solicitation.  Also known as a pre-bid or pre-proposal conference 
 
Specifications - A total description of a good or service to be purchased by the County, and the requirements the 
vendor must meet to be considered for the contract which may include requirements for testing, inspection, or 
preparing any good or service for delivery, or preparing or installing it for use.  
 
User Department - All county and precinct offices and subdivisions of them, as well as district offices and 
subdivisions when the purchases are funded even partially with county funds; the department from whose budget 
line item the contract is paid.  
 
Vendor - A business entity or individual that seeks to have or has a contract to provide goods or services to the 
County.  

 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-1 

TRAVIS COUNTY PURCHASING OFFICE  
P-CARD POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 
1.0 PURPOSE 
 
These policies and procedures are to establish the methodology for employees of the Travis County Purchasing 
Agent to use purchasing cards and define the limits of their use in making purchases of Items. These policies and 
procedures are expected to provide Travis County with a method to purchase from vendors who do not accept 
purchase order, and provide a quicker turnaround of requests for low-dollar-value Items and to reduce paperwork 
and handling costs. Payments to vendors are made via the P-card settlement system.  Travis County makes 
monthly settlements with the P-card Issuer. 
 
2.0 ATTACHMENTS 
 
The following forms are attached and form an integral part of the procedures for use of P-cards: 
 

2.1 Enrollment/Request Form 
2.2 Employee P-card Agreement 
2.3 Purchasing Log  
2.4 Dispute Report 

 
3.0 GENERAL 
 

3.1 DEFINITIONS 
 

3.1.1 P-card: A card issued by the P-card Issuer to a Cardholder which allows the Cardholder to 
purchase Items on credit within the limits authorized by the P-card Issuer as directed by the 
Purchasing Agent. 
 
3.1.2 Cardholder:  Employee of the Travis County Purchasing Agent who  

 
(a) has been selected by the Purchasing Agent as honest, responsible, reliable, and likely to 
need to purchase Items not on solicited contracts,  
(b) has signed an Employee P-card Agreement in the form in the attachments,  
(c) has been issued a P-card, and  
(d) is authorized to use that P-card only to make purchases in strict compliance with these 
policies and procedures. 
 

3.1.3 Item:  Any good or service that is to be purchased for use by Travis County.  
 
3.1.4 P-card Issuer:  The financial institution that provides P-cards upon submission of a properly 
completed Enrollment/Request Form, authorizes the Single Purchase Limit and the overall monthly 
limit requested by the Purchasing Agent in that form, provides Statements and directly pays the 
vendors. 

 
3.1.5 Administrator: The Purchasing Agent who administers the P-card Policies and Procedures 
and regularly reviews the use of each P-card that has been issued, certifies a Cardholder’s 
Statement, and enforces the P-card policies and procedures whenever there is any non-compliant 
use. 
 
3.1.6 Purchasing Agent: Travis County Purchasing Agent Cyd V. Grimes or her designee. 
 
3.1.7 Purchasing Log:  A list of Items purchased using a specific P-card including the description 
of the Item, the vendor and other relevant information that is maintained by each Cardholder 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-2 
 

 
3.1.8 Statement: The monthly listing of all transactions made using the P-card, which is prepared 
and distributed directly to the Cardholder by the P-card Issuer. 

 
3.1.9 Single Purchase Limit: The maximum allowable value of a transaction authorized for a 
specific Cardholder on a specific P-card that is assigned by the P-card Issuer based on the 
instructions of the Administrator which may vary from P-card to P-card which shall not exceed 
$2,500 for any Cardholder on a specific P-card.  
 
3.1.10 Transaction limit: The maximum allowable number of transactions authorized for a specific 
Cardholder on a specific P-card during a single month, which shall not exceed 10 for any for any 
Cardholder on a specific P-card. 

 
3.1.11 Unauthorized Purchase: A purchase that does not comply with the P-Card Issuing 
Agreement and/or the Travis County Purchasing Office P-Card Policies and Procedures 

 
 
4.0 PROCEDURE: 
 

4.1 APPLYING FOR A P-CARD 
 

4.1.1 The Administrator may propose employees of the Purchasing Office to be Cardholders by 
submitting a properly completed but unsigned Enrollment/Request Form to the Purchasing Agent.  
The Purchasing Agent determines whether the employee is an appropriate person to be issued a P-
card based on the requirements in 3.1.2. (a) and, if so, determines and indicates the Single 
Purchase Limit and overall monthly limit authorized for that employee on the Enrollment/Request 
Form and approves submission of the Enrollment/Request Form to the P-card Issuer after the 
employee complies with 4.1.3. 
 
4.1.2 The Administrator shall give the approved employee a copy of these policies and 
procedures.  
 
4.1.3 To obtain a P-card, the employee must complete all of the following: 
 

(a)  read the P-card Policies and Procedures.   
(b)  read and sign a properly completed Employee P-card Agreement which states that 

the employee understands the P-card Policies and Procedures and the 
responsibilities of a Cardholder; and 

(c)  sign the previously submitted Enrollment/Request Form which contains all 
information required to be issued a P-Card.   
 

4.1.4 After an employee complies with 4.1.3, the Administrator shall submit the 
Enrollment/Request Form to the P-card Issuer and provide the P-card to the Cardholder when it is 
available. The unique card that the Cardholder receives directly from the P-card Issuer has his or 
her name embossed on it and ONLY the Cardholder is authorized to use it.  The Cardholder shall 
NOT ALLOW ANY OTHER PERSON to use that card. The Cardholder is responsible for all use of 
his or her card. 
 
4.1.5 The Administrator or her designee shall maintain all records related to P-card requests, 
authorized limits, Cardholder transfers, and information about lost, stolen, and destroyed P-cards.  
The Administrator shall also notify the P-card Issuer of all P-card requests, authorized limits, 
Cardholder transfers, and information about lost, stolen, and destroyed P-cards. 

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-3 
 

4.2 CHECKLIST FOR PURCHASING WITH A P-CARD 
 

4.2.1 The Cardholder may make purchasing transactions on behalf of Travis County with the 
approval of the Administrator. 

 
4.2.2 The Cardholder shall limit use of the P-Card to the following conditions: 

 
(a) The Cardholder shall not make purchases where the value of the transaction 

exceeds his or her Single Purchase Limits.   
(b) The Cardholder shall not split payment for a purchase into multiple transactions to 

stay within his or her Single Purchase Limit. 
(c) The Cardholder shall not purchase any “over the counter” Items unless the Items 

are immediately available at time of P-Card use.   
(d) The Cardholder shall not use the P-card to purchase any back-ordered 

merchandise. 
(e) The Cardholder shall not exceed the number of transactions or the dollar limits of 

authorized transactions. 
 

4.2.3 The Cardholder shall not use the P-Card for the following: 
 

(a) Personal purchases or purchases for family members or friends;  
(b) Identification; 
(c) Entertainment expense or meals or lodging, rental car, airfare or other travel 

expenses; 
(d) Cash advances or money orders;  
(e) Telephone calls or monthly service for any utility; 
(f) Gasoline, oil, or other automotive supplies; 
(g) Alcoholic Beverages or tobacco products; or 
(h) Any additional Items that may be restricted by other Travis County policy. 

 
4.2.4 If a Cardholder makes any unauthorized purchases or uses the P-Card in any unauthorized 
manner, the Cardholder shall pay Travis County for the total dollar amount of these unauthorized 
uses and purchases plus any administrative fees charged by the P-card Issuer  and any other costs 
associated with the  unauthorized use.  The Cardholder is also subject to disciplinary action for 
unauthorized use the severity of which is consistent with the seriousness of the unauthorized used 
and which may include termination. 

 
4.2.5 Before making any purchase, the Cardholder shall determine if the Item is available under a 
county contract and whether the contract establishes an exclusive provider relationship.  If the 
contract does establish an exclusive provider relationship, the Cardholder shall not purchase the 
Item.  If the Item is available under a county contract that does not establish an exclusive provider 
relationship for the Item, the Cardholder shall not purchase it with the P-card unless the P-card 
transaction would result in better quality at a better price and would provide Travis County with the 
best value and the reasons for this are documented on the purchase order. 
 
4.2.6 Before making any purchase, the Cardholder shall process a request for a purchase order to 
the vendor that includes all generally required information, such as the appropriate expenditure 
account, that references the P-card Issuer and P-card clearing account in the purchase order as the 
account code and estimates the amount expected to be purchased using the P-card.  To verify 
funds availability, a purchase order is issued but not mailed in order  
 
4.2.7 If the Items are not available on a county contract and their value is $2500.00 or less, the 
Cardholder may purchase Items from a vendor without comparing sources or competition between 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-4 
 

vendors in compliance with the Travis County Purchasing Policies and Procedures. 
 
4.2.8 If vendors furnish a standing price quotation or catalog price on a recurring basis, the 
Cardholder shall check that the price listed is current. 

 
4.2.9 When a vendor confirms that the Item is available and meets the specification and delivery 
requirements, the Cardholder shall confirm that the vendor accepts the P-card and that sales taxes 
are not payable on the Item purchased or charged to the transaction. 
 
4.2.10 When the Cardholder makes an “Over the Counter” purchase, the Cardholder shall make 
certain that the vendor lists the quantity and fully describes the Item(s) on the P-card receipt.  The 
Cardholder shall document the transaction in the Purchasing Log. 
 
4.2.11 When the Cardholder makes a purchase by telephone, the Cardholder shall document the 
transaction on the Purchasing Log and retain all shipping documentation. 
 
4.2.12 When the Cardholder makes a purchase over the Internet, the Cardholder shall document 
the transaction on the Purchasing Log and retain purchase confirmation and all shipping 
documentation, if applicable. 
 
4.2.12 If the Item is to be shipped, the Cardholder shall direct the vendor to include the following 
information on the packing list or shipping label: 

(a) Cardholder’s name and telephone number, 
(b) Complete delivery address, 
(c) The words “P-Card Purchase”, and  
(d) The vendor’s order number. 
 

 4.2.13 The Cardholder shall advise the Purchasing Office receptionist who receives deliveries 
about the expected delivery including the vendor’s name, the order number, the anticipated delivery 
date, the number of boxes expected, and the carrier (UPS, Fed Ex, etc.).  The receptionist shall 
notify the Cardholder when delivery is made so that the Cardholder can retain proper 
documentation. The vendor must deliver all purchases to the Cardholder ordering the Item to 
ensure that the documents necessary for record keeping are readily available to the Cardholder. 
 

4.3 P-CARD RETURNS  
 

4.3.1 If Items purchased by the use of the P-card are unacceptable because the wrong Item is 
received, the Item received is not satisfactory, or is damaged or defective, or is a duplicate order; 
the Cardholder should contact the vendor to explain the problem.  The Cardholder shall obtain 
replacement or correction of the Item or inquire about return policies within one business day after 
an issue is discovered.  Immediate action to resolve a dispute is of extreme importance. 

 
4.3.2 If the vendor has not replaced or corrected the Item by the date the Cardholder receives his 
or her Statement, the Cardholder shall consider the purchase of the Item in dispute.  

 
4.3.3 If the Cardholder is disputing a charge, he or she shall: 
 

(a) Contact the vendor to negotiate an appropriate resolution.   
(b) If contacting the vendor does not resolve the issue, complete a Dispute Report and 

submit it to the P-card Issuer’s representative with copies of the Dispute Report to 
the Administrator and County Auditor.  

(c) If an Item has been returned, the Cardholder shall request a credit voucher.  If the 
Cardholder receives a credit voucher, the Cardholder shall verify that the credit is 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-5 
 

reflected on the Statement.   
(d) The Cardholder shall not accept a cash refund under any circumstances. 

 
4.3.4 The Cardholder shall maintain a list of all disputed Items that have not been resolved and 
prepare a monthly report noting the Items from previous months. 

 
4.4 CARDHOLDER RECORD KEEPING 

 
4.4.1  For each P-card transaction, the Cardholder shall retain documentation to verify the 
purchases listed on the Cardholder’s Statement.   
 
4.4.2 The Cardholder shall continually maintain the Cardholder’s Purchasing Log and include all 
pertinent information about each and every P-card purchase legibly in it. 
 
4.4.3 When the Cardholder makes an “Over the Counter” purchase, the Cardholder shall retain 
the invoice and “customer” copy of the P-card receipt.   
 
4.4.4 When the Cardholder makes a purchase by telephone, the Cardholder shall retain the 
documentation in the Purchasing Log and retain all shipping documentation. 
 
4.4.5  The Cardholder shall send a copy of the Purchasing Log for the period covered by the 
Statement with the Cardholder’s Statement to the Administrator within five (5) days after receipt of 
the Statement each month. 
 
4.4.6 If purchased Items or credits are not listed on the Statement, the Cardholder shall retain the 
applicable transaction documentation until the next Statement.  If the purchase Item or credit does 
not appear on the next Statement or the second following billing cycle Statement, the Cardholder 
shall notify the Administrator and the Purchasing Agent. 

 
4.5 REVIEW OF MONTHLY STATEMENT 

 
4.5.1 When the Cardholder receives the Statement from the P-card Issuer at the end of each 
billing cycle, the Statement should list the Cardholder’s P-card transactions for that period, the 
Cardholder shall check each transaction listed on the Statement against his or her Purchasing Log, 
receipts and any shipping documents to verify the Statement and note any discrepancies. 
 
4.5.2 Upon receipt of the Statement from the P-card Issuer, the Cardholder shall write the 
applicable purchase order number next to the corresponding line item on the Statement, and send a 
copy of the Statement with the charges and the certified original Purchasing Log, to the County 
Auditor for payment processing. 
 
4.5.3 The Cardholder shall carefully match complete supporting documents to the Purchasing Log 
and then to the Statement.  The Cardholder shall neatly attach the original sales documents 
(purchase order, packing slip, invoice, cash register tape and P-card slips, etc.) for all Items listed 
on the Statement to the Statement and Purchasing Log in the order the transactions are listed in the 
Purchasing Log to facilitate audit substantiation.  IF THE CARDHOLDER DOES NOT ADHERE TO 
THIS PROCEDURE WITHIN 5 DAYS OF RECEIPT OF THE STATEMENT, THE 
ADMINISTRATOR SHALL REVOKE THE CARDHOLDER’S AUTHORITY TO USE THE P-CARD. 

 
4.5.4 If the Cardholder does not have documentation of a transaction listed on the Statement, he 
or she shall attach a certified statement that includes a description of the Items purchased, date of 
purchase, vendor’s name, and the reason for lack of supporting documentation.   

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-6 
 

4.5.5 If there are any discrepancies, the Cardholder shall list the transactions incorrectly billed and 
show that the Item has been disputed. 

 
4.5.6 The Cardholder shall sign the Statement, and present the Statement and supporting 
documentation to the Administrator for review.  The Cardholder shall present the list of Cardholder’s 
disputed Items to the Administrator. 

 
4.5.7 The Administrator shall maintain a master list of all unresolved disputed Items on 
Statements. 

 
4.5.8 If the Cardholder does not present a Statement and supporting documentation to the 
Administrator on a timely basis, the Administrator shall terminate the P-card and require the 
Cardholder to return the P-card to the Administrator.  
  
4.5.9 Within 1 calendar day of receipt from the Cardholder, the Administrator shall forward the 
original signed and approved Statements and copies of supporting documentation to the 
Purchasing Agent for review, approval, and signature.  

 
4.5.10 To minimize the risk of late charges and fees within three (3) calendar days after receipt of 
the Statement and supporting documentation, the Purchasing Agent shall check the Cardholder’s 
Statement and Purchasing Log and confirm at least the following: 
 

(a) Receipts and shipping documents exist for each purchase. 
(b) The goods were received or the services were performed. 
(c) The Cardholder has complied with applicable procedures, including these P-Card 

policies and procedures. 
 
4.5.11 The Purchasing Agent shall return the certified Statements and supporting documentation to 
the Administrator within three (3) calendar days of receipt of the initial package. 
 
4.5.12 If the Purchasing Agent discovers missing documentation, failure to comply with the P-card 
policies and procedures, failure to comply with any Purchasing policies and procedures, or other 
discrepancies or issues; the Purchasing Agent shall immediately notify the Administrator to 
investigate the discrepancies.  If there are no discrepancies or issues, the Purchasing Agent shall 
sign and approve the Cardholder’s Statement for submission to the County Auditory for payment.  
 
4.5.13 The Purchasing Agent’s approval and signature on a Cardholder’s Statement indicates that 
the Cardholder was authorized to make the purchases listed on the Statement and that those 
purchases were made in accordance with the applicable procedures. 
 
4.5.14 The Administrator shall retain the Statements, original receipts, and supporting 
documentation for County files for a minimum of four years, and make those records available for 
audit upon request. 
 

4.6 MONTHLY STATEMENT SUMMARIES 
 

4.6.1 The contract with the P-card Issuer shall require the P-card Issuer to provide monthly 
Statement Summaries listing all transactions of all Travis County Cardholders to the Administrator.  
These summaries allow the Administrator to track each Cardholder’s activities.  These summaries 
act as a checklist for the Administrator to anticipate the Statements that are due from each 
Cardholder. 
 

4.7 1099 CALENDAR YEAR REPORT 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-7 
 

 
4.7.1 The contract with the P-card Issuer shall require that the P-card Issuer provide a report of all 
vendors from which purchases were made through the credit card that may be 1099-reportable  
within five business days of the end of each calendar year  The Administrator shall use all 
reasonable efforts to obtain this statement from the P-card Issuer on a timely basis and provide this 
report to the Auditor’s Office no later than January 10 of each year or as soon after that as the 
Administrator can obtain the report.    If the report is not received timely, the Administrator shall take 
all appropriate measures to remedy any breach of the P-card contract.  The County Auditor shall 
compare the report from the P-card Issuer with other County purchases to determine if the 
combined total of purchases for each vendor is 1099 reportable.   
  

4.8 FOREIGN VENDOR 1042 REPORTING 
 

4.8.1 Only the Administrator is authorized to make P-card purchases from foreign vendors.  
Before any credit card purchases are made from foreign vendors, the Administrator shall coordinate 
with the County Auditor to determine the appropriate tax forms to be completed, require the vendor 
to complete these tax forms, and receive the tax forms from the vendor.  If the tax law requires that 
Travis County withhold money from a foreign vendor’s payment, the credit card can not be used to 
make the purchase.   

 
4.9 CARD SECURITY 
 

4.9.1 The Cardholder is responsible for safeguarding the P-card and the account number.   
 
4.9.2 If the P-card is lost or stolen, the Cardholder shall immediately notify the P-card Issuer at 1-
800-890-0669. P-card Issuer’s representatives are available 24 hours a day.  The Cardholder must 
tell the representative that the call is regarding a Travis County P-Card.  The Cardholder shall notify 
the Administrator immediately if it is lost or stolen. The Cardholder is responsible for any 
unauthorized use of the P-card that is posted to the Statement after the P-card is lost or stolen.  
The Cardholder is also subject to disciplinary action the severity of which is consistent with the 
Cardholder’s degree of responsibility for the loss or theft and may include termination. 

 
4.9.3 A new P-card may be issued to the Cardholder after the reported loss or theft if the 
Cardholder provides evidence that the loss or theft was not avoidable and not due to any 
carelessness or inappropriate behavior by the Cardholder.  If a Cardholder finds a P-card that was 
reported lost or stolen, the Cardholder shall destroy the recovered P-card and return the pieces to 
the Administrator. 
 
4.9.4 The Cardholder shall not allow anyone else to use his or her account number.   

 
4.9.5 If the Cardholder allows anyone else to use his or her P-card or provides anyone else with 
his or her account number, the Administrator shall revoke the Cardholder’s authority to use the P-
card and require the Cardholder to return the P-card to the Administrator. The Cardholder is also 
subject to disciplinary action, the severity of which is consistent with the seriousness of the 
unauthorized used and may include termination. 
 
4.9.6 If the Administrator revokes the authority of a Cardholder to use a P-card or if any 
Cardholder stops working for the Travis County Purchasing Office, the Administrator shall notify the 
P-card Issuer in writing to cancel that Cardholder’s P-card immediately. 
 

4.10 CARDHOLDER SEPARATION 
 

4.10.1 Before a Cardholder stops working for the Travis County Purchasing Office, the Cardholder 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-8 
 

shall surrender the following to the Administrator 
 

(a) P-Card  
(b)  Purchasing Log since the last Statement period ended, 
(c) original sales documents like the purchase order, invoice, cash register tape and P-

card slips, for Items not previously list on a Statement 
(d) original delivery documents like packing slip, cash register tape and P-card slips for 

Items not previously list on a Statement, and  
(e) all information and documents related to disputed Items that have not previously 

been resolved, and  
(e)  any other relevant documentation 
   

4.10.2 Upon receipt of these, the Administrator will review, and approve the Purchasing Log. The 
responsibility for the surrendered P-card remains with the Cardholder until the Purchasing Agent 
receives it. 

 
4.10.3 If a Cardholder makes an unauthorized purchase, the Administrator shall require the 

Cardholder to pay the County for the total dollar amount of all unauthorized purchases and 
other unauthorized costs charged to the P-card immediately.  If the Cardholder does not pay 
for the unauthorized purchase immediately, the Administrator shall notify the Cardholder 
that the total dollar amount of all unauthorized purchases and other unauthorized costs 
charged to the P-card is a debt due and owing to the county and no funds are payable by 
the County to the Cardholder until the debt is paid.  The amount may be deducted from the 
Cardholder’s pay check unless a settlement agreement with the Cardholder provides for 
installment deductions to pay the amount over time.  The Administrator shall notify Payroll 
Disbursement that a payroll deduction is necessary and prepare the forms requested by the 
County Auditor for this purpose. 

 
4.10.4 If it is anticipated that a Cardholder may terminate employment, either voluntarily or 
involuntarily or if a Cardholder has given notice of termination, the Administrator shall determine 
whether there are any unauthorized purchases since the last certified Purchasing Log was 
submitted by the Cardholder.  In addition, the Administrator shall determine whether there are any 
amounts still due from previous unauthorized purchases.  If there are any such amounts due, the 
Administrator shall require the Cardholder to pay the County the entire amount due immediately.  If 
the Cardholder does not pay for the entire amount due immediately, the Administrator shall notify 
the Cardholder that the entire amount due is a debt due and owing to the county and will be 
deducted from the Cardholder’s pay check.  The Administrator shall determine the amount of 
compensation and accrued leave available to pay any the amounts due and payable.  If there is any 
amount due to the County as a result of unauthorized purchases or and other unauthorized costs 
charged to the P-card, the Administrator shall not allow the terminating Cardholder to use any 
accrued leave until the entire amount due is paid in full.  The Administrator shall notify Payroll 
Disbursement that a payroll deduction is necessary and prepare the forms requested by the County 
Auditor for this purpose. 
 
4.10.5 If the Administrator does not follow the procedures in 4.10.3 and 4.10.4 timely to ensure that 
the Cardholder pays any amount due to the County as a result of unauthorized purchases or and 
other unauthorized costs charged to the P-card in full on or before termination, the Administrator is 
liable for the unpaid amounts that result from this negligence. 
 
4.10.6 If the Administrator does not require any Cardholder to sign the “Employee P-Card 
Agreement,” before a P-card is issued to the Cardholder, the Administrator is liable for the unpaid 
amounts that result from this negligence. 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-9 
 

TRAVIS COUNTY PURCHASING OFFICE 
P-CARD PROGRAM 

ENROLLMENT/REQUEST FORM 
 
I request that I be enrolled in the Travis County Purchasing Office P-Card Program.  I understand that, if approved, 
I will be issued a P-card in my name that I can only use for authorized official Travis County business.  As a 
Cardholder, I understand that I will be required to sign an Employee P-card Agreement before a P-card is issued to 
me. 
 
REQUESTOR’S NAME: ________________________________________________ 
 
 EMPLOYEE ID NUMBER: ________________________________________________  
 
DEPARTMENT AND DEPARTMENT HEAD: _Purchasing______________________ 
 
IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR OF REQUESTOR: _______________________________ 
 
ACCOUNT NUMBER: ________________________________________________ 
 
DEPARTMENT ADDRESS: _P. O. Box 1748_____________________________ 
 
DEPARTMENT PHONE #: _512-854-9700___________________________________ 
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD NAME: __Cyd Grimes______________________________ 
 
IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR: __________________________________________ 
 
I request a Single Purchase Limit of $________________, not to exceed $__________ per month.  Attached to this 
form is a list of merchants/product categories/activities to be restricted from purchase by this Cardholder (to be 
completed by Purchasing Agent). 
 

For Purchasing Office Use Only 
 
Card Number: ___________________________________ Date Issued:______________ 
 
Date Returned/Cancelled:__________________________ Holder’s Initials:__________ 
 
Date of Training/Policy Issuance:___________________ 
 
Administrator Signature: ___________________________________________________ 
 
As Cardholder, my signature acknowledges that I have received the listed P-card, training and P-card policies and 
procedures. 
_______________________________________________ ________________________Cardholder Signature 
     Date 

 
 

Attachment 1

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-10 
 

EMPLOYEE P-CARD AGREEMENT 
 
I, ______________________, request a Purchasing Card (“P-Card”) through the Travis County Purchasing Office 
P-Card Program.  As a Cardholder, I agree to comply with the following terms and conditions related to my use of 
the P-Card. 
 
I understand that I am being entrusted with the P-Card and am making financial commitments on behalf of Travis 
County.   
 
I understand that Travis County is ultimately liable to the P-card Issuer for all charges made on the P-Card.  
 
I acknowledge that I am liable for all charges for purchases that are made that are not in compliance with this 
Agreement or not in compliance with the Travis County Purchasing Office P-Card Policies and Procedures (the 
“Policies”), a copy of which is attached to this Agreement. 
 
I have received a copy of the Policies and understand the requirements of the use of the P-Card.  I shall use the P-
Card only for purchases made in compliance with the Policies.  I shall not to make any personal purchases or any 
other purchase in violation of the Policies. I understand that the burden of proof will be upon me to show that the 
items were purchased in compliance with the Policies. I agree to obtain the best value for Travis County when 
using the P-Card to make a purchase.  
 
If the P-Card is used in a manner not authorized by the Policies, I agree to notify the Purchasing Agent 
immediately. I understand that the County Auditor and the Purchasing Agent audit the use of the P-Card and that 
the Purchasing Agent takes appropriate actions to enforce this Agreement and violations of the Policies.  If I do not 
follow the Policies, I shall return the P- card to the Purchasing Agent and I am also subject to disciplinary action, 
the severity of which is consistent with the seriousness of the violation of the Policies and may include termination. 
 
I understand that it is my responsibility to safeguard the P-Card and account number and that I am personally liable 
for any charges resulting from my failure to safeguard the P-Card and account number. If the P-Card is lost or 
stolen, I shall notify the Purchasing Agent and P-Card Issuer immediately. 
 
I agree to return the P-Card immediately upon request or upon termination of my employment (including 
retirement). 
 
If I make purchases in violation of the Policies  I am subject to disciplinary action, as well as liability for 
the total dollar amount of these unauthorized purchases, including any administrative fees charged by 
the P-Card Issuer or other associated costs in connection with the misuse. 
 
I authorize the County Auditor to deduct total dollar amount of all purchases and other costs charged to the P-Card 
issued to me that are made not in compliance with this Agreement or with the Travis County Purchasing Office P-
Card Policies and Procedures from my pay. 
 
 
Employee Signature  Employee ID#  Date  Department 
 
 
 
Purchasing Agent       Date 

 
 
 
 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-11 
 

Attachment 2 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-12 
 

P-CARD 
TRANSACTION LOG 

    
Cardholder 
Name: 

 Cycle Period:  

Cardholder ID  Number  
Sequence 

      
Number 

Requisition      
   Number 

Date of       
   Transaction

Vendor 
Name 

Description of     
  Goods/Services 

Purchased 
Transaction      

Amount PO # 

Items Not     
         

Reconciled 
Disputed       
     Charge 

    
     
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

All transactions have been reconciled unless indicated with an X in the column titled Items Not 
reconciled 

 

    
 

I certify that this Purchasing Log is true, complete, and correct to the best of my knowledge. 
 
Cardholder signature:         Date:     
Administrator/Purchasing Agent:      Date:    

 
 

Attachment 3

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual Appendix A 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. November 2009 A-13 

TRAVIS COUNTY  
P-CARD PROGRAM 
DISPUTE REPORT 

 
 
In accordance with the Travis County P-Card Program policies and procedures, the listed Item is in dispute: 
 
 
Item Ordered:  ______________________________________________________ 
 
Date Ordered:  ______________________________________________________ 
 
Date Received: ______________________________________________________ 
 
Authorized Amount: ______________________________________________________ 
 
Statement Amount: ______________________________________________________ 
 
Vendor:  ______________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
Card Number:  ______________________________________________________ 
 
Cardholder Name: ______________________________________________________ 
 
Phone Number: ______________________________________________________ 
 
User Department:  ______________________________________________________ 
 
Department Account: ______________________________________________________ 
 
 
Reason for Dispute: ______________________________________________________ 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Actions taken to Remedy:___________________________________________________ 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

Attachment 4 
 

 
 
 
  

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

Travis County 
Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 

November 2009 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Office of the 
Travis County Purchasing Agent 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 2 of 47 pages 

 
1.0 General Information...................................................................................................... 3 
1.1. Introduction................................................................................................................... 3 
1.2. Authority. ...................................................................................................................... 3 
1.3. Department Responsibilities and Designation of Representative................................. 4 
1.4. Protection Of Property. ................................................................................................. 5 
1.5. Fixed Asset Definition and Fixed Asset Types. ........................................................... 6 
1.6. H.T.E. System Overview and Access. .......................................................................... 7 
2.0 Purchasing and Asset Inventory Process .................................................................... 10 
2.1. Sub-Processes and Participants................................................................................... 10 
3.0 User Department Responsibilities .............................................................................. 11 
3.1. Assignment of Staff. ................................................................................................... 11 
3.2. Acknowledgement Form............................................................................................. 11 
3.3. Ordering and Receiving Items in H.T.E. .................................................................... 11 
3.4. Notifications to Purchasing for Special Acquisitions of Assets. ................................ 13 
3.5. Software Tracking....................................................................................................... 14 
3.6. Completion of the Travis County Inventory Form. .................................................... 15 
3.7. Notification of Returns, Warranties and Trade-ins..................................................... 16 
3.8. Conduct of the Department’s Annual Physical Inventory. ......................................... 17 
3.9. Coordination with Purchasing to Dispose of Assets................................................... 19 
3.10. Reporting Damaged, Vandalized and/or Stolen Assets. ............................................. 20 
3.11. Checking Status of Assets in H.T.E............................................................................ 21 
3.12. Rules of Cannibalization............................................................................................. 21 
3.13. Vehicle Titles and Licenses. ....................................................................................... 22 
3.14. Asset Reuse................................................................................................................. 22 
4.0 Purchasing Office Responsibilities............................................................................. 22 
4.1. Adding Assets to Inventory. ....................................................................................... 23 
4.2. Tagging Assets............................................................................................................ 23 
4.3. Monitoring/Coordinating Physical Inventory............................................................. 24 
4.4. Conduct of Annual Physical Inventory....................................................................... 24 
4.5. Receiving Property in Warehouse. ............................................................................. 25 
4.6. Disposing of Property. ................................................................................................ 26 
4.7. Vehicle Titles. ............................................................................................................. 31 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 3 of 47 pages 

1.0 General Information 
 

1.1. Introduction.   
 

Travis County owns thousands of items classified as fixed assets.  These assets take many 
forms, from vehicles to land, buildings and computer systems.  Fixed assets are classified as 
either capital assets (assets with a useful life greater than one year and a value greater than 
$5,000) or controllable assets (assets with a value less than $5,000 that must be secured and 
tracked because of liability issues).  Together they represent millions of dollars.  As public 
servants we are responsible for the care and custody of this large investment.  Maintaining 
accountability for such a large and varied inventory is not an easy task.  However, 
accountability is not only our inherent duty as county employees, it is also mandated by law. 
Every employee should assume a personal commitment to protect and account for all 
equipment, regardless of its temporary assignment. 
 
The process of providing the tools needed to accomplish Travis County’s mission involves 
many people and county departments, from the user, to financial, purchasing and fixed asset 
personnel.  Accountability for these items involves an equally large number of people.  All 
county employees should be responsible for and accountable to the taxpayers for this large 
investment in assets.  With careful management of these assets, every tax dollar is stretched 
to its fullest and resources can be made available to afford more of the tools needed to 
accomplish the County’s mission. 
 
Please review this manual in connection with Chapter 27 Travis County Capital Asset Guide 
“Capital Asset Guide” and follow the procedures carefully.  In so doing the management of 
resources and tax dollars is more effective and we remain accountable to the citizens of our 
community. 
  
The following document is prepared to provide direction and establish responsibility for the 
various components of the fixed assets inventory system. 
 

1.2. Authority.   
 
Travis County maintains a central system to account for all items classified as fixed assets. 
The Texas Local Government Code (LGC), Chapter 262 designates the Purchasing Agent as 
responsible for several duties related to the acquisition and management of assets. These 
include:   
 
1.2.1 Section 262.011(i).  On July 1 of each year, the county purchasing agent shall file 

with the county auditor and each of the members of the board that appoints the 
county purchasing agent an inventory of all the property on hand and belonging to 
the county and each subdivision, officer, and employee of the county. The county 
auditor shall carefully examine the inventory and make an accounting for all property 
purchased or previously inventoried and not appearing in the inventory. 

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 4 of 47 pages 

1.2.2 Section 262.011 (j). To prevent unnecessary purchases, the county purchasing agent, 
with the approval of the Commissioners Court, shall transfer county supplies, 
materials, and equipment from a subdivision, department, officer, or employee of the 
county that are not needed or used to another subdivision, department, officer, or 
employee requiring the supplies or materials or the use of the equipment. The county 
purchasing agent shall furnish to the county auditor a list of transferred supplies, 
materials, and equipment. 

 
In addition, the Purchasing Agent in Travis County is responsible for identifying and 
disposing of assets that are declared “surplus” or “salvage” in accordance with LGC Chapter 
263, Subsection D, Disposition of Salvage or Surplus Property. The Travis County 
Purchasing Agent does this through a variety of actions including: the periodic conduct of 
competitive bids or auctions of assets that have been presented to Commissioners Court and 
designated as surplus or salvage; destruction if there was an attempt to sell the asset, but no 
bids were received and it was valued as worthless; trade-ins for new and upgraded assets or 
donations to charitable or other civic organizations in the county. 
 

1.3 Department Responsibilities and Designation of Representative. 
 
Elected and appointed officials and department heads are responsible for the care and 
custody of fixed assets assigned to their departments.  To assist the official in complying 
with this responsibility, each official or department head shall designate one or more 
employees within their department to coordinate receipt and tagging of new assets, conduct 
inventories, and maintain control of fixed assets.  This is done by completing and submitting 
the Declaration of Representative Form to the Purchasing Office, Attention: Fixed Asset 
Manager. Figure 1-1 shows an example of a completed Designation of Representative Form. 
 Attachment 1 of this document contains a blank form.  An electronic version of the form is 
available by contacting the Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager.  

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 5 of 47 pages 

Figure 1-1: Example Designation of Representation Form 
 
 
 

Travis County Purchasing Office
Declaration of Representative Form

Date: October 1, 2002

To: Travis County Purchasing Office
Attention:  Fixed Asset Manager

From: John Q. Department Head, Travis County Example Department, (TCE D)

The employees designated below are hereby designated as my representative to handle and
control fixed assets for my department.  I understand that I am ultimately responsible for the care
and accurate accounting for all fixed assets assigned to my department.

Name Title Location Phone Number
Jane Q. Employee Division Director EOB, Room 501 854-1234, x
John Q. Employee Division Director EOB, Room 402 854-4321, x
Ima G. Employee Executive Secretary Precinct 1 office 854-1111, x123
Ura G. Employee Division Secretary Precinct 2 office 854-2222, x222
Hesa Good Employee Clerk Precinct 3 office 854-3333, x123

John Q. Dep ar t m ent 10/1/ 02
Elected/Appointed Official or Department Head Signature Date  

 
The official or department head shall designate the representative(s) annually by October 15 
of each year, but shall update and file the designation if a change occurs through termination 
or re-assignment of the designated individual(s). It is recommended that the official or 
department head make designations for each physical location in order to expedite 
coordination of tagging and physical inventory conduct. 
 
Although the official or department head designates the representative(s) to assist with 
compliance requirements, the official or department head still remains responsible for an 
accurate accounting of all fixed assets assigned to his or her department.  This responsibility 
cannot be delegated. 
   

1.4. Protection of Property.   
 
The protection of property is outlined in Section 31.11(a) of the Penal Code of Texas.  In 
accordance with this statute, a person commits an offense if he or she: 
 

• Knowingly or intentionally removes or causes to be removed, alters or obliterates 
the serial number of a fixed asset tag number marking county property. 

• Possesses, distributes, sells, or offers to sell county property knowing, or having 
reason to know that the serial number of fixed asset tag number has been 
removed, altered, or obliterated. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 6 of 47 pages 

A person convicted of violating the statute referenced above is subject to penalties according 
to the property values involved as follows: 
 
• Class C Misdemeanor - Less than $50 
 
• Class B Misdemeanor - $50 or more but less than  $500 
 
• Class A Misdemeanor - $500 or more but less than $1,500 
 
• State Jail Felony - $1,500 or more, but less than $20,000 or; less than $1,500 and  
 defendant has been convicted two or more times under referenced statue 
 
• Third Degree Felony - $20,000 or more but less than $100,000  
 
• Second Degree Felony - $100,000 or more but less than $200,000 
 
• First Degree Felony - $200,000 or more 
 

1.5. Fixed Asset Definition and Fixed Asset Types.  
 
For purposes of this document, fixed assets that are capitalized (capital assets) by Travis 
County in accordance with a comprehensive basis of accounting consistent with state law as 
defined in the Capital Asset Guide. Capital assets include the following broad categories of 
items: 
 
• Land and land improvements; 
 
• Building and building improvements; 
 
• Improvements other than buildings; 
 
• Infrastructure; 
 
• Machinery, equipment and other assets; 
 
• Leasehold improvements; and 
 
• Construction in progress 
 
Detailed rules concerning the accounting and reporting of capital assets can be found in the 
Capital Asset Guide developed by the Auditor’s Office and other user departments to 
implement GASB 34. 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 7 of 47 pages 

In addition to capital assets, Travis County also monitors and reports assets classified as 
“controlled assets”. Controlled assets are items that need to be inventoried and tracked 
because of liability, insurance, licensing or other factors that do not meet the definition of a 
fixed asset and are not capitalized because they are below the $5,000 capitalization 
threshold. Examples of the types of items that are tracked centrally in the Travis County 
H.T.E. fixed asset system include: 
 
• Personal Computers 

 
• Printers 

 
• Televisions/VCRs 

 
• Mobile, two way radios 

 
• Weapons 

 
• Cameras/Digital Cameras 
 
The Purchasing Office shall work with user departments to determine which items need to be 
included in such an inventory. The elected/appointed official or department head shall 
remain responsible for accounting for these items.  The Purchasing Office provides a listing 
for the department for inventory verification of controllable assets. 
 
Travis County tags other assets such as office furniture (desks, chairs, small shredders, 
bookcases, credenzas, etc.) with a black “property of Travis County” tag, but does not bar 
code and enter these into inventory. 
 
Travis County does not monitor and include items that are classified as “expendable 
supplies” in its inventory. Types of items that are considered as expendable supplies include: 
office supplies such as forms, pens, pencils, etc.; office items such as wastebaskets, staplers, 
stamps, pocket calculators, etc.; automotive spares such as tires, batteries, spare parts, and 
fuel; building maintenance items such as paint, bulbs, lamps, plumbing and electrical 
supplies, lumber, nails, etc.; data processing supplies such as tapes, diskettes, ribbons, 
cables, etc.; uniforms such as shoes, boots, hats, badges, etc.;  hand tools such as hammers, 
wrenches, saws, small electric power tools etc.; recreation equipment such as balls, bats and 
small games; kitchen utensils such as pots, pans, trays and dishes; and health aid items such 
as those found in first aid kits. 
 

1.6. H.T.E. System Overview and Access.   
 
The fixed assets inventory system is part of the H.T.E. Purchasing and Inventory module. 
User departments mainly use the system’s functions of requisition processing, purchase 
order generation, and receiving.  The fixed asset module of the H.T.E. system is integrated 
with the requisition and receiving functions and receives information electronically from 
these modules. Because these functions are linked electronically, the accuracy of system 
information is vital. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 8 of 47 pages 

When the fixed asset information is electronically transferred from the purchasing module to 
the fixed asset module, the asset is assigned a three-digit asset code that links the description 
of the type of asset and the accounting line item used. For example, a vehicle that was 
purchased would be coded as: AUT (Automobiles and Trucks). The accounting line item 
used is 8020 and the fixed asset category is Machinery, Equipment and Other. This 
classification assists the Purchasing Office in correctly assigning assets and reporting them 
to the Auditor’s Office. A complete list of asset codes and their associated line items and 
fixed asset categories is found in Appendix B of this document. 
 
To gain access to the purchasing module, the elected/appointed official or department head 
must request access to H.T.E. via the H.T.E. access form. An electronic version of this form 
is obtained from the Travis County Auditor’s Office. Figure 1-2 shows an example of a 
completed version of form requesting purchasing module and fixed asset module access. The 
completed form should be returned to the Auditor’s Office. 
 
For fixed asset module access, the Auditor’s Office forwards the H.T.E. access form to the 
Purchasing Office. The Purchasing Office fixed asset staff sets up access and security to the 
module. With access, the user department is able to inquire on assets in their department by 
asset number or tag number. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 9 of 47 pages 

Figure 1-2: Example H.T.E. Application(s) Access Form (TRAVISCO) 
 
 

Check One (which applies) USER ID __ __ __ __ __ __ __ 

  ADD    CHANGE  DELETE (assigned by ITS) 

  NAME CHANGE ONLY (Enter Social Security Number and New Last/First Name Information Below) 
SSN or Employee ID:   123-45-6789 Phone:  854 - 1111   Extension  0111 

Last Name:  Employee First Name:  Ima M/I:  G.  

Department Number:  98 Department Name:  Travis County Example Department  

Division Number(s): All Fund Number(s):  General Fund Only 

Functions:  Check one from each of the functions that apply and indicate action (add/delete): 

 AT01:  Applicant Tracking (Reviewing information)    
 CR01:  Cash Receipts (Reviewing information)     
 FA01:  Fixed Assets (Reviewing information/generating routine and custom reports)  

Fleet Management: (select only 1 of the following as applicable) 
  FM01:  Reviewing information/generating routine and custom reports  
  FM02:  Reviewing information/generating routine and custom reports and work order entry  

GMBA (Accounting):  (select only 1 of the following as applicable) 
  GM01:  Reviewing information/generating routine and custom reports  
  GM02:  Reviewing information/generating routine and custom reports and entering budgets  

Purchasing/Inventory:  (select only 1 of the following as applicable) 
  PI01:     Reviewing information/generating routine and custom reports   
  PI02:     Reviewing information/generating routine and custom reports/entering requisitions  

                     and receiving items electronically once they have been delivered to the County. 
  PI03:     Reviewing information/generating routine and custom reports/entering requisitions/receiving  

                     items electronically once they’ve been delivered and department approval of requisitions  
  PI06:     Department approval of requisitions only   

Personnel/Payroll:  (select only 1 of the following as applicable) 
  PR01:     Reviewing information/generating routine and custom reports  
  PR02:     Reviewing information/generating routine & custom reports and entering timesheets and PAFs   

Work Orders/Facility Management:  (select only 1 of the following as applicable)  
  WF01:     Reviewing information/generating routine and custom reports  
  WF02:     Reviewing information/generating routine and custom reports and entering work orders  

  Pass Through Only, Target System ID(s):  Identify Target System in this field (if applicable)  
Comments: 
*Specific Division Number(s) Access:        
**Specific Fund Number(s) Access:        

Additional Security Requirements (used to specify unique requirements; e.g. Auditor personnel, Purchasing 
personnel, Fleet personnel, HRMD personnel, Business System Consultant, Application Administrator, etc.). 
Request access for inquiry to the Fixed Asset Module of H.T.E.. 
 
Other:  None. 
Department Authorized Signature:  John Q. Department Head Date:  9/30/2003  

RETURN TO:  JOSE PALACIOS, AUDITOR’S OFFICE   
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 10 of 47 pages 

2.0 Purchasing and Asset Inventory Process 
 

2.1. Sub-Processes and Participants.   
 
In the purchasing and asset inventory process, there are three main sub-processes as shown 
in Figure 2-1. These include the purchase process, the inventory set-up process and the 
ongoing and annual inventory reporting processes. 

 
 

Figure 2-1: Purchasing and Asset Inventory Process Flowchart 
 
 

 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 11 of 47 pages 

3.0 User Department Responsibilities 
 
This section of the manual outlines the responsibilities of user department personnel and the 
procedures to be followed to meet these responsibilities. 
 

3.1. Assignment of Staff.   
 
Elected and appointed officials and department heads shall use the Declaration of 
Representative Form (Attachment 1) to designate one or more employees within their 
department to coordinate receipt and tagging of new assets, conduct inventories, and 
maintain control of fixed assets.  The elected/appointed official or department head shall 
complete and submit the form by October 15 of each year to the Purchasing Office, 
Attention: Fixed Asset Manager. An electronic version of the form is available by contacting 
the Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager. It is recommended that the official or department head 
make designations for each physical location in order to expedite coordination of tagging and 
physical inventory conduct.  
 
If a change to designated personnel occurs through termination or re-assignment, the official 
or department head shall promptly modify and file an updated Declaration of Representative 
Form with the Purchasing Office.  
 

3.2. Acknowledgement Form. 
 
To improve accountability and compliance with statutory requirements and Travis County 
policies and procedures regarding fixed assets, elected and appointed officials and each of 
their designees with fixed asset duties shall complete the Acknowledgement Form 
(Attachment 2) of this manual and return it to the Travis County Purchasing Office, 
Attention: Fixed Asset Manager. The acknowledgement certifies that the elected/appointed 
official or department head and their designees have read and understood the requirements of 
this manual. An acknowledgement form shall be submitted whenever there is a new official 
or department head or when new staff is designated by the official or department head. 
 

3.3. Ordering and Receiving Items in H.T.E.   
 
There are two main functions that the user department performs: ordering (requisitioning) 
and receiving items.  
 
3.3.1 Ordering. There are three main types of information that are entered during the 

requisition process that are critical to the fixed assets module: quantity, description 
and warranty. Instructions to complete a requisition are found in Appendix C of this 
manual. 

 
• Quantity.  For the fixed asset system to work properly, the quantity of items 

must be in whole units. Please contact the Fixed Asset Manager with 
questions regarding proper input of the quantity of items. 

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 12 of 47 pages 

• Description. It is critical that description information entered for items 
ordered during the requisitioning process is complete, accurate and detailed 
enough to be transferred to the fixed asset system. It should be non-technical 
in nature and allow a lay person to identify an asset and locate it. If the 
item(s) ordered are on contract, then the system automatically pre-fills the 
description information for the user. The user must enter detailed description 
information when ordering items that are not on contract and purchased as 
“open market”. 

 
Descriptions should be written with the following information sequence: Brief 
description / Manufacturer / Detail description.  The detail description should include 
enough specific information to identify the item, such as size, color, model, 
composition (wood, metal, plastic, etc.), brand, etc.  Abbreviations should be 
commonly used or easily recognizable. 
 
Note:  repair parts, components, and sub-assemblies are not considered separate fixed 
assets.  The description should contain both a description of the item being ordered, 
and a description of the larger asset to which it belongs.  Descriptions of 
improvements to real property shall include the location of the property. 
 
Examples of acceptable descriptions are shown below: 
Desk/Hon/30"x60" Walnut veneer, 5 Drawer 
Sedan/Chevy/2003 Caprice, bronze, 4 door, Police package 
Computer/Dell/Dimension 4600C, 40 GB, 15” flat panel monitor and keyboard 
Fax/Cannon/Model FAX-L770, plain paper 
Printer/Hewlett Packard/Laserjet Series II 
Printer/Panasonic/Model KXP1123 
Intercom system/SW Bell/Model 36A/TCAB, Suite 550 
Playscape/Moya Park/swing sets (6) with slide 

 
• Warranty Information. It is critical that warranty information be entered into 

the “remarks” section of the purchase order in case an item malfunctions and 
needs to be returned. Some of the “remarks” information may be pulled into 
the fixed asset system and entered into “Miscellaneous Information”.  

 
3.3.2 Receiving Items in H.T.E.  Immediately upon receipt the ordering department shall 

code the item as “received” on the H.T.E. system via the Purchasing module. 
Instructions on how to receive an item on a purchase order in H.T.E. are found in 
Appendix D of this manual.  Immediately receiving items is vital for two reasons: 
electronic receipt of items is necessary for the Auditor’s Office to pay the vendor’s 
invoice; and receipt of items notifies the Purchasing Office of assets that require 
tagging. A delay in receiving the asset in H.T.E. causes delay in inventory tagging, 
and consequently delay placing the item into service.  

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 13 of 47 pages 

3.4. Notifications to Purchasing for Special Acquisitions of Assets. 
 
The user department shall notify the Purchasing Office of assets that are obtained by non-
traditional means such as donations or leases or that are purchased with funds that are non-
County funds through grants, interlocal agreements and special funds such as commissary or 
forfeiture funds to ensure that assets are properly identified and accounted for. 
 
3.4.1 Donations. Fixed assets received via donation or contribution, regardless of source, 

must be evaluated with respect to inclusion on the fixed asset inventory.  With the 
exception of donated infrastructure and grant related items, the user department shall 
notify the Purchasing Office of the prospective items to be received as donated or 
contributed prior to the Commissioners Court voting session for formally accepting 
the items in accordance with LCG §81.032. To report these items, the user 
department shall complete and submit a Travis County Inventory Form (Attachment 
3) to the Purchasing Office: Attention Fixed Asset Manager. 

 
3.4.2 Jointly funded assets with other entities (interlocals, grants, etc.). Departments 

that are purchasing assets with other governmental entities via interlocal or grant 
agreements need to contact the Purchasing Office to plan for the tagging and tracking 
of the jointly owned assets. Jointly funded assets are tracked via special tags that 
include the name(s) of the entitie(s) that co-own the asset and are documented using 
the Travis County Inventory Form (Attachment 3). 

 
3.4.3 Leased, Rented and Lease-Purchased Assets. The user department shall contact 

the Purchasing Agent regarding all equipment rented, leased, or purchased on a time-
payment-plan so that its ownership status may be determined and the expiration date 
of such agreement made a part of each record. 

 
Even though the County may not have title or own the equipment, it nonetheless 
remains responsible for its protection and accountability.  The Purchasing Agent 
shall be responsible for monitoring such items and insuring appropriate action is 
taken upon expiration of applicable contracts. 

 
3.4.4 Property Received Upon Completion Of Consulting Contract.  In many cases an 

outside consulting contract may include equipment which is either purchased by the 
vendor or provided by the County and transferred to the County upon completion of 
the contract.  The department shall report these items to the Purchasing Office 
immediately upon receipt using the Travis County Inventory Form (Attachment 3). 

 
The user department shall coordinate with the Auditor’s Office and Purchasing 
Office fixed asset staff to determine the value of the asset and use the Travis County 
Inventory Form (Attachment 3) to record the value and the asset. For financial 
reporting these assets shall be recorded at the stated contract value or cost.  
Recording should be at the time the title is transferred to the County.  This amount is 
determined by the capital asset staff in the Auditor’s office upon review of the 
consulting contract. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 14 of 47 pages 

3.4.5 Assets Held in Trust (loaned to County by non-County entity – e.g. grant funded 
or federal property).  Capital assets held by the County on behalf of a non-county 
entity and under the temporary control of the County are called assets in trust. This 
includes assets owned by the federal government that have been loaned to the County 
or assets purchased with federal or state grant funds in which the asset remains the 
property of the granting agency.  The user department shall work with the County 
Purchasing and Auditor staff to properly record the asset. 

 
3.4.6 Assets Purchased with Discretionary Funds.  Several elected and appointed 

officials have statutory authority over the expenditure of certain discretionary funds. 
Examples of these types of funds include commissary funds and federal and state 
forfeiture funds. When assets are purchased using these types of funds, the 
department shall notify the Purchasing Office of the purchase and receipt of the items 
by completing and submitting the Travis County Inventory Form (Attachment 3).  
Note:  these items are tagged with a Travis County Asset Tag number and with an 
additional tag stating the discretionary fund from which the asset was purchased. 
When the item is finally disposed of, then the net auction proceeds may be returned 
to the proper account from which it was purchased. 

 
3.4.7 Community Supervision and Corrections Department (CSCD) Assets.  Items 

purchased by the CSCD are included in the Criminal Justice Assistance Division 
inventory and therefore, are not included in the inventory for Travis County and need 
not be tagged. However, to identify these items, CSCD shall coordinate with Travis 
County Fixed Asset staff to tag these assets with self-purchased tags.  These items 
are tracked in H.T.E. as assets held in trust and Purchasing should be notified when 
these assets are retired. 

 
3.4.8 Unclaimed or Abandoned Property.  On rare occasions, the County may acquire 

unclaimed or abandoned property. Generally, this property is temporarily held and 
disposed of at auction with the proceeds deposited in the County Treasury as 
outlined in Article 18.17 of the Code of Criminal Procedure. The Fixed Asset 
Manager is responsible for working with departments to identify, track and dispose 
of these assets. 

 
3.5. Software Tracking.   

 
Travis County Fixed Assets tracks software that meets the capitalization criteria or is part of 
a capitalized hardware system on the H.T.E. fixed asset system.  An example of this would 
be the Integrated Justice System.  However, commercial, personal computer software that is 
not part of a larger system, such as Microsoft Office is not tracked.  Customized 
applications/system developments that do not meet the capitalization criteria should be 
reported to the Purchasing Agent who determines the necessary tracking requirements. For 
software that is not tracked in H.T.E., all user departments must maintain copies of the 
appropriate licensing documentation in their department to ensure compliance with 
commercial license requirements as well as Travis County software use policies.  User 
departments should contact the Information and Telecommunication Systems (ITS) 
department for assistance in establishing and maintaining a license tracking system.   

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 15 of 47 pages 

  
3.6 Completion of the Travis County Inventory Form.   

 
The Travis County Inventory Form (Attachment 3) is vital to promoting accountability for 
assets that are assigned to various departments. To promote accountability, assets should 
generally be assigned to an individual. However, for assets that are shared by multiple 
employees such as faxes or copy machines or that are located in a shared or common area 
such as a conference room, the elected/appointed official or department head or the 
department’s designated representative(s) is assigned and responsible for the shared asset. 
The Travis County Inventory Form has four sections including: 

• Section I (Assignment). Identifies the individual’s name, their location, 
department and division and telephone number who is assigned the assets; 

• Section II (Description). Provides descriptive information for the assigned 
asset(s) including: asset tag number, serial or VIN number, description of item, 
condition, purchase order number (if new) and remarks; 

• Section III (Transfers).  Provides information for assets that are transferred to 
either a different individual or different location; and 

• Section IV (Release of Responsibility).  This is the departmental clearance that 
assets assigned to an individual have been returned to the County when an 
individual terminates employment. 

 
A copy of the form and instructions for its completion are found in Attachment 3 of this 
manual. The section(s) to be completed depend on the given situation.  There are four 
situations in which a Travis County Inventory Form should be completed and submitted to 
the Purchasing Office, Attention: Fixed Asset Manager. The situations and instructions for 
completion are found in Figure 3-1. 
 

Figure 3-1: County Inventory Situations and Instructions 
 

Situation Inventory Form 
Sections to Be 

Completed 

Special Instructions/ Comments 

Assets assigned to a new 
employee 

Sections I, II Inventory Form shall be completed and 
submitted to Purchasing Office within 
two weeks of employee’s start date with 
Travis County. 

Additional assets are assigned 
to existing employee. 

Sections I, II Inventory Form shall be completed and 
submitted as soon as possible.  All 
assets (those previously assigned and 
those newly assigned) shall be listed on 
the form. 

 
Assets are transferred from an 
employee to another location or 

 
Sections I, II, III 

 
Inventory Form shall be completed and 
submitted as soon as possible. Assets 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 16 of 47 pages 

employee (including transfer to 
the warehouse) 

being transferred must be listed on form 
as well as the individual/location 
accepting the transfer of the asset(s). 

Employee terminates from 
county and is released from 
responsibility for the asset. 

Sections I, II, IV Department’s designated representative 
shall monitor process and ensure that 
Travis County assets are returned before 
the employee terminates. 
 
This paperwork is crucial to an 
employee receiving their final 
paycheck. 

  
An example of a completed Travis County Inventory Form for assets assigned to a new 
employee is shown in Figure 3-2. 

 
Figure 3-2: Example Travis County Inventory Form - New Employee 

 
 TRAVIS COUNTY INVENTORY FORM November 2002 
I.  ASSIGNMENT 
Name (please type or print) 
Ima New Employee 

Physical Address w/Room # 
314 W. 11th Street, Room 999 

Dept/Div 
99/10 

Phone/Extension 
512-854-1234 

I understand that I am responsible for the equipment listed below, and in the event the property is stolen, lost or damaged due to my fault or negligence, I must reimburse 
Travis County.  I am responsible for immediately notifying my supervisor when equipment is stolen, lost or damaged.  I will complete an incident report and forward to 
Purchasing and Risk Management. 

     I ma New Employee          1/2/2003  
 Signature Employee Using Equipment Date  
 
II.  DESCRIPTION 

CONDITION ASSET TAG No. SERIAL/VIN No. DESCRIPTION OF EQUIPMENT GOOD FAIR POOR 
P.O. No. 
IF NEW REMARKS 

1234567 HQV12345 Dell Personal Computer, Model xxxxyz X   123456  

1234568 MON1234567 17” Flat Panel Monitor X   123456  

23456789 HPRNTR845 HP Deskjet 500 Series Laserjet Printer with Tray X   123456  

 
III. TRANSFERS 
Transfer from: Name Physical Address w/ Room # Loc. Code Dept./Div Phone  

Transfer to:  Name Physical Address w/Room # 
 

Loc. Code Dept./Div. Phone  

Loaner Equipment 
 

ITS_____         Other ______ 

     
RECEIVING TRUCK DRIVER Transferred by: ___________________________________        Date:_______________ Entered:__________________ Date: ________  
Name Date                                                      Signature                  Fixed Asset Manager  
  Received by: _____________________________________        Date:_______________    
                                                 Signature      

 
IV. RELEASE OF RESPONSIBILITY 

          I certify that the equipment listed above, and assigned to ________________________________________ has been accounted for. 

_______________________________________________________     _________   ______________________________________________   _________ 
Signature-Employee Date Signature-Supervisor Date 

  
 
3.7 Notification of Returns, Warranties and Trade-ins.    

 
All warranty information received in the Purchasing Office for fixed-assets that are part of a 
contract remains in the Purchasing Office.  However, warranty information is often delivered 
with the item when it is received at the user department.  In this case, the user department is 
responsible for maintaining the appropriate warranty information in their department files. 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 17 of 47 pages 

If equipment malfunctions and before any equipment repair is initiated, the user department 
personnel shall research their acquisition records and warranty files to determine if the 
equipment is still under warranty.  If the department is still uncertain, the department should 
contact the purchasing staff that made the purchase for assistance.  The Purchasing Office 
reviews warranty and maintenance records and, upon consultation with the user department 
and if appropriate, a support department such as Facilities Management or Information and 
Telecommunication Systems (ITS), and take appropriate contractual action if necessary. 
 
If it is determined that the malfunctioning equipment is defective and needs to be returned, it 
is crucial that the user department contact the Purchasing Office fixed asset staff 
immediately so that the asset records in H.T.E. can be updated to reflect the return of the 
asset so that it no longer appears on the department’s inventory. Without this update, the user 
department is held accountable for the asset. In addition, the user department should contact 
the Purchasing Office fixed asset staff when the replacement asset is delivered so that it can 
be properly tagged and the records in H.T.E. updated. 
IMPORTANT (trade-ins and upgrades): For items that are used for trade-in or upgrades, the 
user department shall contact the Purchasing Office fixed asset staff immediately to 
coordinate the preparation of the appropriate paperwork to update the records in the H.T.E. 
system, so that the item is no longer part of the department’s inventory. It is crucial that this 
happen before the trade-in so that the inventory records may be adjusted and reconciled. At a 
minimum, the department needs to include the asset number and an asset description. If the 
trade-in or upgrade is for computer-related equipment, the department should also contact 
ITS. If the department does not notify Purchasing and ITS (as applicable), the department is 
held responsible for the equipment on their inventory. 
 
Note:  for computer-related malfunctions, the user department shall contact ITS staff through 
the help desk.  ITS staff shall coordinate with purchasing staff on any warranty issues that 
require contract action. 
 

3.8 Conduct of the Department’s Annual Physical Inventory.   
 
A physical inventory is conducted for each department once each year. Each department 
assigns the necessary staff to conduct a physical inventory of their department by the 
required deadlines. The inventory includes fixed assets with a value of greater than $5,000 
and controlled assets (computers, VCRs, etc). 
 
The Purchasing Agent shall prepare and maintain a current inventory list and submit to each 
county official or department head that portion which includes equipment within each 
respective department by April 1 with a cover memorandum outlining the instructions for 
completion of the inventory. An example of the memorandum is shown in Figure 3-3.  
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 18 of 47 pages 

Figure 3-3: Example Physical Inventory Memorandum 
TRAVIS COUNTY PURCHASING OFFICE

Cyd V. Grimes C.P.M., Purchasing Agent

314 W. 11th, Room 400Χ P.O. Box 1748Χ Austin, Texas 78767Χ (512) 854-9700Χ Fax (512) 854-9185

MEMORANDUM

TO: All Department Heads

FROM: Ronald Dube, Fixed Asset Manager

VIA: Cyd V. Grimes, C.P.M., Purchasing Agent

DATE: April 1, 200x

SUBJECT: Annual Departmental Inventories/FY200x

Attached is the curren t inventory listing for your Department.  Please verify assets by placing an
“X” in the “verified” column.  If the asset has a different location than listed, please indicate the
new location in the “misc.” column.  Individual assignment should be included  on the inventory
list under the “assignment” column and a copy of a completed Travis County Inventory Form
submitted (if not already done so).  If an asset is shared (i.e. network printer, fax machine, copier
etc.) it should be assigned to the department head or designated representative identified by the
department head annually.

If you have assets that are not on your list and either have a unit cost of $5,000 or more, or are
controlled assets (TV, VCR, computer, printer, cellular telephone, etc.), plea se add them at the
bottom of the list with the location, department and division information and complete a Travis
County Inventory Form that shows the individual to whom the asset(s) are assigned.

If you are unable to verify an asset, please mark “unable to verify” in the “misc.” column.  If any
assets have been transferred, but are still shown in your inventory, please provide copies of
transfer papers and they will be removed.

Please return the c ompleted form to me by e -mail or inter -office mail, no later than May 15,
200x. If you have any questions, please contact me at 512.854.6458 or 512.935.0043 (digital
pager).  Thank you for your cooperation.  

 
The department shall review the inventory list and report its accuracy to the Purchasing 
Agent. Officials, Department Heads or their designated staff shall review the fixed assets list 
and complete it per the instructions in the memorandum noting any additions, changes, 
corrections, and/or additional comments. If any assets are found in the department’s 
possession that have not been bar code tagged, the Purchasing Office’s Fixed Asset Manager 
should be immediately notified to coordinate proper tagging and monitoring. 
  
The elected/appointed official or department head shall sign and verify the entire inventory 
list using the Physical Inventory Acknowledgement Form (Attachment 4).  
 
The department shall complete the physical inventory and verification and submit the 
updated list and signed Physical Inventory Acknowledgement Form to the Purchasing Office 
Fixed Asset Manager no later than May 15th of each year.  The Purchasing Agent shall 
report to the Commissioners Court all offices and departments that do not timely submit a 
complete Physical Inventory Acknowledgement Form to the Purchasing Agent no later than 
the third Tuesday after the May 15th deadline.  The department’s physical inventory 
information is compiled into a countywide report and used by the Purchasing Agent to meet 
the requirements of LGC 262.011, which requires that the Purchasing Agent present an 
inventory listing of all Travis County fixed assets by July 1 of each year. 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 19 of 47 pages 

3.9 Coordination with Purchasing to Dispose of Assets.   
 
By law, only the Purchasing Agent with the approval of Commissioners Court can dispose of 
County property.  Therefore, when a user department no longer uses an asset because duties, 
workloads, or personnel changes have occurred, or the condition of an asset deteriorates and 
it becomes unusable, the user department should immediately contact the Purchasing Office 
Fixed Asset staff to coordinate disposing of the asset and adjusting the fixed asset 
assignments to reflect the disposition. Without this coordination, the official or department 
head to whom the item is charged in the inventory list shall remain responsible for the care 
and custody of the item involved. 
 
The Purchasing Agent bears the statutory obligation to determine appropriate disposal of 
fixed assets and shall grant approval for disposal upon recommendation by the user 
department and the appropriate support department; e.g. ITS for computers and computer 
equipment, Transportation and Natural Resources (TNR) for vehicles; and Facilities 
Management for certain types of equipment. 
 
To coordinate the disposal of an asset, the user department completes documentation to 
request a transfer of the asset to the warehouse. To transfer an asset, the user department 
completes sections I, II and III of the Travis County Inventory Form (Attachment 3) or an 
electronic transfer document.  As part of the disposition process, the user department shall 
note the condition of the equipment in Section II (Good, Fair, Poor) and provide specific 
descriptive information in the “Remarks” column of Section II; e.g.  TYPEWRITER, Electric 
– works but does not type the letter “e”. 
 
Once the Inventory Form is completed, the next step is to transport the asset to the 
warehouse or designated location (TNR Fleet Management for vehicles). Departments that 
can transport the asset directly need to contact the Fixed Asset Manager and warehouse staff 
to ensure staff is available to receive the asset at the warehouse.  Assets are not accepted 
without a completed Travis County Inventory Form. The user department shall not drop off 
assets without fixed asset staff available to receive them.  Note:  large items, such as road 
machinery, remain at the original location until an auction date is determined.  TNR 
transports its heavy equipment and road machinery to the staging site where it is transported 
by the auctioneer to the auction site. 
 
If a department is unable to provide its own transportation for an asset, personnel shall 
contact the Facilities Management Department.  Upon calling, a facilities work order is 
prepared by Facilities personnel.  The user department is responsible for physically 
safeguarding assets until they are picked up by Facilities Management.  Again, the Travis 
County Inventory Form must be completed before Facilities personnel transports the item.  
Facilities does not transport or accept any items which are not accounted for on the 
completed Inventory Form.   
 
To ensure that the asset has been correctly transferred, the user department should retain 
copies of the Inventory Form indicating the transfer occurred.  Note:  the transfer is not 
complete until it has been approved by the Fixed Asset Manager. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 20 of 47 pages 

3.10 Reporting Damaged, Vandalized and/or Stolen Assets.   
 
The user department is responsible to maintain all fixed assets in a clean and neat condition 
and proper working order.  Appropriate funding shall be requested in each fiscal year budget 
request to repair and maintain all fixed assets.  The Purchasing Agent may transfer any item 
that remains in need of repair longer than six months. The user department shall use the 
following procedure(s) to report items that have been damaged, vandalized or are missing 
(stolen). 
 
3.10.1 Damaged/Replaced Items.  The user department shall contact the Travis County 

Risk Manager in the event asset(s) have been damaged to determine if the asset(s) 
qualify for reimbursement under Travis County’s self-insurance or conventional 
insurance programs and a claim needs to be filed. The user department shall provide 
a copy of the filed claim and information regarding replacement assets for the 
damaged item to the Fixed Asset Manager so that inventory records may be adjusted 
depending on the outcome of the claim. 

 
3.10.2 Vandalized Items.  The user department shall contact the Travis County Sheriff’s 

Office and file a report documenting the vandalized equipment. The user department 
shall send copies of the report to the Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager and the Risk 
Manager. 

 
3.10.3 Stolen Assets.  The elected/appointed official or department head shall report stolen 

items from their department immediately to the Travis County Sheriff’s Office and 
shall complete an incident report. The user department shall send a copy of the 
incident report to the Fixed Asset Manager.  Under normal circumstances, a 
replacement should not be requested until after 90 days to allow for item recovery. 
Requisitions may be submitted immediately for fixed assets which are essential to 
the department’s operation and for which a replacement is not readily available.  All 
replacement of stolen items must be approved in advance by Commissioners Court 
through the Purchasing Agent.  An official or department head shall request an 
agenda item to report loss, request replacement if necessary, and seek approval to 
remove the item from office’s fixed assets listing.  Recovered items are similarly 
reported to Commissioners Court.  The user department shall notify the Fixed Asset 
Manager if the item has/has not been recovered so that inventory records may be 
adjusted. 

 
3.10.4 Missing Assets.  The user department shall contact the Fixed Asset Manager when 

an item is identified as “missing” and the department cannot prove that theft 
occurred.  Assets identified as “missing” shall not be immediately removed from the 
inventory listing, but shall be retained until a thorough search can be made to 
determine that the asset is not located elsewhere in the county.  The user department 
is required to make a thorough and adequate search for the missing item and 
document steps taken to locate the asset.   

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 21 of 47 pages 

“Missing” assets are retained on the inventory list for a minimum of three years.  For 
each inventory period during the “three year” period, the department is required to 
again make a thorough and adequate search for the missing item.  After three 
successive inventories in which a missing item is not located, the responsible 
Elected/Appointed Official or Executive Manager shall provide a memo to the 
Purchasing Agent and the Commissioners Court outlining the circumstances 
surrounding the missing item.  The Elected/Appointed Official or Executive Manager 
shall also jointly present to the Commissioners Court voting session in which the 
Purchasing Agent makes a request of the Commissioners Court to remove the item 
from inventory.  

 
Under special circumstances, the Purchasing Agent works with the Auditor’s Office 
to waive or reduce the three-year limit to remove missing capital items from the 
department’s inventory. 

  
3.11 Checking Status of Assets in H.T.E.   

 
The user department has the capability to check on the status of assets in its fixed asset 
inventory (whether they are still assigned to the department and the asset’s location) by using 
the fixed asset module inquiry function. The user can inquire by typing in either the asset/tag 
number or the VIN/Serial number.  To gain access, the elected/appointed official or 
department head requests access via the H.T.E. access form (see section 1.6). A complete set 
of instructions with screen prints for performing fixed asset inquiry is provided in Appendix 
C of this manual. 
 

3.12 Rules of Cannibalization.   
 
In general, assets should not be cannibalized for parts unless it is in the best interest of Travis 
County to do so because a need exists for the cannibalized parts or will exist within the near 
future. Before an item is cannibalized, the user department shall contact the Purchasing 
Fixed Asset Manager to identify and approve the appropriateness of cannibalization and to 
ensure that inventory documentation reflects that the asset has been cannibalized.  
 
All parts which have a common use shall be considered recoverable and candidates for 
cannibalization.  Examples of such items include: motors, chains, gears, and subassemblies 
commonly sold as reconditioned or rebuilt parts. The following types of parts shall be 
considered recoverable: 

• automobile items such as engines, complete with all components e.g. starters, 
carburetors, alternators, water pumps, distributors, exhaust manifolds, power 
steering pumps, air conditioner compressors; transmission (complete with bell 
housing, torque converter and flywheel); driveshaft; differential; wheels and tires; 
radiator; instrument panel/cluster with gauges and speedometer; wiper motor 
assembly; heater and air conditioner motors; steering wheel and column; brake 
master cylinder; battery; and removable body parts including doors, hood, trunk 
lid, etc. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 22 of 47 pages 

• computer components including monitors, keyboards, central processing units, 
chips, terminals, modems and peripheral equipment, computer terminals and 
printers; 

• telephones and related equipment; and 

• general office machines and equipment.  
 
When the asset is transferred for disposal, the user department shall indicate in the “remarks” 
column of the Travis County Inventory Form whether or not an item has been cannibalized 
and the component(s) that have been removed. This assists the Fixed Asset Manager in 
appropriately noting the condition of an asset when it is sold at auction or in determining 
whether or not it can be removed from the department’s inventory. 
 

3.13 Vehicle Titles and Licenses.   
 
The TNR Fleet Manager shall accept vehicles purchased by Travis County and shall provide 
the original title to the Fixed Asset Manager, which is filed in the Treasurer’s Office. If a 
title is accidentally sent to the user department, the user department shall immediately 
contact the Fixed Asset Manager to process the title, file it with the Treasurer’s Office and 
complete the appropriate paperwork to apply for exempt license plates. 
 
Law enforcement departments that have purchased or acquired vehicles either through 
abandoned vehicle or forfeiture should contact the Fixed Asset Manager immediately to 
process the appropriate paperwork and acquire the correct license plates.  License plates for 
undercover vehicles should also be coordinated with the Fixed Asset Manager. 
 
When a vehicle is ready to be disposed of, the user department coordinates with the TNR 
Fleet Manager to transfer the vehicle to the pre-auction staging area. The TNR Fleet 
Manager shall coordinate appropriate documentation of vehicle transfer and the retrieval of 
county license plates with the Fixed Asset Manager before vehicles are transferred to the 
auction location. 
 

3.14 Asset Reuse.   
 
User departments can sometimes leverage scarce budget funds by requesting a transfer of 
surplus assets located in the warehouse rather than purchasing new assets. Items such as 
office furniture and equipment are available in the warehouse. Departments that are 
interested in leveraging budget funds by transferring existing assets shall contact the fixed 
asset staff to view the assets and make arrangements for the transfer. 
 

4.0 Purchasing Office Responsibilities 
 
This section of the manual outlines the responsibilities of purchasing personnel and the 
procedures to be followed to meet these responsibilities. 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 23 of 47 pages 

4.1 Adding Assets to Inventory.   
 
There are two methods by which an asset is initially added to inventory:  
 
• through the electronic transfer of received items from the purchasing module into the 

fixed asset pending file, and  
 
• through the notification of assets purchased or received through non-traditional 

means such as use of forfeiture or commissary funds or donations via the Travis 
County Inventory Form. 

 
Once the asset has been identified in the fixed asset pending file or via the Inventory Form, 
the Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager coordinates with the Auditor’s Office staff to ensure 
that the item(s) have been correctly identified and classified. Purchasing fixed asset staff 
prints the Pending Fixed Assets Worksheet (Attachment 5) and contact the designated 
department to arrange for tagging. Information obtained during the tagging is entered onto 
the worksheet for input into the fixed asset system. This sets up the asset by transferring the 
information from these worksheets to the permanent inventory record. If the item was 
purchased through the H.T.E. system, information from the “remarks” section of the 
purchase order shall be included in the “miscellaneous information” section of the asset file 
for the user department’s reference. 
 

4.2 Tagging Assets.   
 
All equipment shall be identified with a “Tag” or “Fixed Asset” number. It shall be a 
sequential, consecutive number as determined by the Purchasing Agent. All tagging is done 
by the Purchasing Office or those designated by the Purchasing Agent. 
 
Consistent tagging practices ensure efficiency during the tagging process as well as 
subsequent inventory.  When practical, tag numbers are to be placed adjacent to the 
equipment manufacturer’s I.D. plate.  If there is not sufficient space or the surface is not 
smooth or appropriate, the tag number may be placed away from heavy exposure, wear 
areas, or at a place which does not detract from the equipment’s appearance and may be 
easily located during inventory.  However, the tag must be easily located during inventory 
without moving or dismantling the item. 
 
The following types of ‘tags’ are available for the various types of assets: 

• Adhesive Labels - This is the major type of tag used to identify County property. 
The two types of adhesive labels are a bar code and a Property of Travis County 
tag.  

• Indelible Ink Marker - To be used on all items on an adhesive label cannot be 
placed such as cloth products, or other similar materials. 

• Tap and Die Metal Punches 

• Electric Engraver 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 24 of 47 pages 

• Painted Numeral 

• Metal Tags - May be used on equipment where oil and/or chemicals can damage 
other types of tags. 

 
The Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager shall determine the type of ‘tag’ to be used on any 
given surface. 
 

4.3 Monitoring Physical Inventory.   
 
Under the direction and with the approval of the Purchasing Agent, the Fixed Asset Manager 
shall monitor, review and report inventories performed by the County departments. The 
fixed asset manager shall update H.T.E. Fixed Asset Inventory Records as a result of new 
acquisitions, transfers, corrections and updates caused by the conduct of physical inventories 
or the reporting of changes via the Travis County Inventory Form.  The types of information 
most frequently updated include asset location, asset assignment (department, division and 
assigned individual) and asset status (disposed, active, etc.).  The Fixed Asset Manager uses 
various forms of documentation to support changes to the inventory records.  Assets are 
marked as disposed as a result of auctions, or because of reported vandalism or thefts with 
sufficient documentation such as copies of appropriate claims and/or incident reports (see 
3.9).  These changes shall be made by the Purchasing Office and reflected in the updated 
inventory records. 
 

4.4 Conduct of Annual Physical Inventory.   
 
By statute, the Purchasing Agent is required to present the County Auditor an inventory 
listing of all Travis County fixed assets by July 1 each year. To meet the statutory 
requirements, a physical inventory is conducted once each year of all capital and controllable 
assets. The Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager shall coordinate the conduct of the physical 
inventory under the direction of the Purchasing Agent.  
 
The Fixed Asset Manager shall extract and print a physical inventory list of capital and 
controllable assets in H.T.E. by department. The list shall include identifying information 
such as the asset and tag number, asset description, location and assignment as shown in 
Figure 4-1. 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 25 of 47 pages 

Figure 4-1:  Example Physical Inventory Listing 
 

TAG SERIAL DEP DIV IMP LOC YEAR DESC CODE MISC COST INS TYPE ASSET P.O.# VERIFIED MISC/UPDATE INFO
89991 2FA71W6 99 1 0 AUC2 1997 FORD, CROWN VIC 1997 SLC 726-728 19,188.00$   -$            AUT 40186 116680
63333 74821102 99 2 0 XX0000 1988 RADIO-MOBILE, G.E., ATT #75850 -$              1,480.00$   RAD 23931
88999 1S1L52W 99 1 0 XX0000 1996 CHEVY, CAPRICE 1996 SLC 999-999 16,010.24$   -$            AUT 35851 75000
84003 2FAXX71 99 1 0 XX0000 1996 FORD, CROWN VIC 1996 RLC TPM-KV2 18,606.00$   -$            AUT 35496 86555
82931 1G1BL52 99 1 0 XX0000 1994 1994 CHEVY CAPRICE SLC 630-999 13,147.72$   -$            AUT 30449 55111
92910 75231112 99 1 0 XX0000 1988 RADIO, 2 WAY GE DELTA -$              1,481.00$   RAD 22644
54776 2143523 99 10 0 XX0100 1980 IBM TYPEWRITER -$              864.00$      TYP 12963 114065
83433 990511 99 1 0 XX0100 1991 VCR, SHARP -$              240.00$      VCR 563 114072
87650 707680 99 1 0 XX0100 1997 TV, G.E. -$              350.00$      TV 38151
88429 402AWU3 99 1 0 XX0150 1996 RADIO, GE HX1000 -$              698.00$      RAD 36954 105378
88583 CA153MM 99 10 0 XX0150 1989 PRINTER, APPLE LASER -$              2,100.00$   PRT 44267
98487 NONE 99 0 0 XX0150 1981 RADIO, VERTEX -$              1,014.00$   RAD 13342
95551 XZ72KQK 99 10 0 XX0150 1998 PC, DELL 7300/180, -$              4,192.20$   PCM 42027 131028
91178 9382C6L 99 10 0 XX0150 1998 MONITOR, DELL 17" ASG JAY DOE -$              527.00$      MON 44684 145302
99999 1340464 99 1 0 XX0150 2000 CELL PHONE, T-200 PH# 512-111-1111 -$              134.00$      CEL 51646  

 
The list shall be sent to each county official or department head as an attachment to a cover 
memorandum (Figure 3-3) that specifies the instructions and deadlines for completion of the 
physical inventory and submittal of the updated list and acknowledgement of inventory back 
to the Purchasing Office. 
 
The Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager shall compile results of the individual physical 
inventory lists into a consolidated report of Travis County fixed assets and submit it to the 
Purchasing Agent for final review and approval. 
 
The Purchasing Agent presents to the County Auditor an inventory listing of all Travis 
County fixed assets by July 1 of each year in accordance with LGC §262.011(i). 
 
Once the physical inventory has been completed and reported, the Fixed Asset Manager shall 
compile a list of assets for removal that have been reported as missing or stolen and have met 
the three year requirement (Section 3.10.4).  The affected user department(s) and the 
Purchasing Agent shall jointly present this list to the Commissioners Court for approval. 
 

4.5 Receiving Property in Warehouse.   
 
The Purchasing Office is responsible for warehousing all surplus, excess or salvage items. 
Items no longer useful to the departments are stored by Purchasing at the warehouse for 
reuse by other departments or until sold. 
 
All property delivered to the warehouse must be received by Purchasing Office staff. No 
property is to be accepted by Purchasing Office staff without proper completion of the 
transfer information and appropriate signatures on the Travis County Inventory Form or an 
electronic transfer document. 
 
Once property has been received in the warehouse and its condition verified, the fixed asset 
record shall be updated to indicate the transfer is complete. The location code of the asset 
shall be changed to the warehouse location code. 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 26 of 47 pages 

On certain occasions, such as the purchase of a large number of assets that are distributed 
countywide (e.g. radio equipment), the Purchasing Office fixed asset staff “centrally” 
receives and tags assets, using the warehouse or other delivery site as a staging area. On 
these occasions, the Purchasing Office fixed asset staff shall coordinate the delivery, tagging 
and implementation of the assets with the main department responsible for implementation. 
 

4.6 Disposing of Property.   
 
The Purchasing Agent bears the statutory obligation to determine appropriate disposal of 
fixed assets.  When the Purchasing Office receives a departmental request to dispose of an 
asset, the Purchasing Agent shall grant approval for disposal upon recommendation from 
fixed asset staff and other support departments as to the condition of the property and repair 
or replacement alternatives.  In examining the property for disposal the Purchasing Agent 
shall use the following definitions: 

• Salvage property - Means personal property, other than items routinely 
discarded as waste, that because of use, time, accident, or any other cause is so 
worn, damaged, or obsolete that it has no value for the purpose for which it was 
originally intended. 

• Surplus property - Means personal property that is not “Salvage” property or 
items routinely discarded as “Waste”, that is not currently needed by its owner, is 
not required for the owner’s foreseeable needs, and possesses some usefulness for 
the purpose for which it was intended. 

• Waste property – Means property which is incapable of performing its intended 
function, and has no value for any other purpose. These materials are of no value 
to the County other than through recycling or disposal. 

 
The type of asset often defines the disposal method used by the County.  In disposing of 
property, LGC §263.152, specifies that the Commissioners Court of a County may: 

• periodically sell the county's surplus or salvage property by competitive bid or 
auction, except that competitive bidding or an auction is not necessary if the 
purchaser is another county or a political subdivision within the county that is 
selling the surplus or salvage property; 

• offer the property as a trade-in for new property of the same general type if the 
Commissioners Court considers that action to be in the best interests of the 
county; or 

• order any of the property to be destroyed or otherwise disposed of as worthless if 
the Commissioners Court undertakes to sell that property and is unable to do so 
because no bids are made; or 

• dispose of the property by donating it to a civic or charitable organization located 
in the county if the Commissioners Court determines that trying to sell the 
property would result in no bids received or the bid price is less than the County’s 
bidding-related expenses; the donation serves a public purpose; or the 
organization provides the County with adequate consideration related to 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 27 of 47 pages 

transportation or disposal expenses related to the property. 
 
If the property is earth-moving, material-handling, road maintenance, or construction 
equipment, the Commissioners Court may exercise a repurchase option in a contract in 
disposing of property. The repurchase price of equipment contained in a previously accepted 
purchase contract is considered a bid. 
 
The Commissioners Court may dispose of property under Subsection by donating the 
property to a civic or charitable organization located in the county. 
 
4.6.1 Auctions.  Auctions are the most frequent method for disposing of surplus and 

salvage property in Travis County. The Travis County Purchasing Agent conducts 
auctions of surplus or salvage items in accordance with LGC §263 requirements. In 
preparing items for disposal, the Purchasing Agent compiles a list of items to be 
declared as “surplus” or “salvage” for disposal and presents the list to the 
Commissioners Court for approval. 

 
Once Commissioners Court approval is received, the Purchasing Fixed Asset 
Manager shall coordinate with Purchasing Office staff, the appropriate advertisement 
language and placement of the advertisement. LGC §263.153 specifies that (a) The 
commissioners court shall publish notice of a sale of surplus or salvage property in 
at least one newspaper of general circulation in the county; and (b) The notice must 
be published on or after the 30th day but before the 10th day before the date of the 
sale. (c) A county that contracts with an auctioneer licensed under Chapter 1802, 
Occupations Code, who uses an Internet auction site offering online bidding through 
the Internet to sell surplus or salvage property under this subchapter having an 
estimated value of not more than $500 shall satisfy the notice requirement under this 
section by posting the property on the site for at least 10 days unless the property is 
sold before the 10th day. 
 
The Purchasing Office supervises the auction to ensure that it meets statutory 
requirements and may reject offers in accordance with LGC 263.154 which states: 
“The commissioners court or its designated representative conducting the sale may 
reject any offer to purchase surplus or salvage property if the court or representative 
finds the rejection to be in the best interests of the county.” 

 
Once the auction is complete, the Purchasing Office keeps a record of each item or 
surplus or salvage property sold and the sale price of each item as dictated by LGC 
263.155 Auction proceeds are collected as required by LGC §263.156 and deposited 
by the Treasurer in the revenue fund established in the Purchasing Office budget for 
equipment sales. 
 
The Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager updates the asset disposition in H.T.E. to 
reflect the item(s) and property were sold at auction and the disposed property and 
items are removed from the inventory list. 
 
The Purchasing Office forwards data to the Auditor’s Office for inclusion in the 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 28 of 47 pages 

County’s capital asset system. 
 
4.6.2 Competitive Bids.  The process for competitive bids is similar to that of auctions. 

The Purchasing Agent shall compile a list of items to be declared as “surplus” or 
“salvage” and request Commissioners Court approval of the items for disposal.  Once 
approval is received, the Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager and Purchasing staff 
coordinate the appropriate advertisement language and placement of the 
advertisement.  The Purchasing Agent supervises the competitive bidding process 
and again, may reject offers, if it is in the best interest of the County. Competitive 
bids are received as identified in the advertisement, opened, read and the best bid 
accepted.  

 
Assets are transferred to the successful bidder upon receipt of payment specified in 
the bid.  The bid proceeds are again collected and deposited by the Treasurer in the 
revenue fund established in the Purchasing Office budget for equipment sales. 
 
The Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager updates the asset disposition in H.T.E. to 
reflect the item(s) and property were sold by competitive bid and the disposed 
property and items are removed from the inventory list. 
 
The Purchasing Office forwards data to the Auditor’s Office for inclusion in the 
County’s capital asset system. 

 
4.6.3 Recycling.  Waste property and some salvage property may be of greater value to the 

County when sold for materials or scrap rather than being disposed of as trash or sold 
at auction for a nominal sum.  The Travis County Recycling Manager shall make 
such recommendations to the Purchasing Agent when this option is available. The 
Purchasing Agent shall then conduct competitive bidding to sell the items as scrap. 

 
4.6.4 Donation to Other Civic or Charitable Organizations within County.  Section 

263.152(a)(4), of the Texas Local Government Code, authorizes the Travis County 
Commissioners Court to dispose of personal property in the County inventory, by 
donating it to a civic or charitable organization in the County, if the Commissioners 
Court finds that selling the property does not financially benefit the County, donating 
the property serves a public purpose, and donating the property relieves the County 
of transportation and disposal expenses related to the property. 

 
"Charitable Organization" means an organization, created and operated exclusively 
for charitable purposes, and exempt from federal taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code, where no part of the organization's net earnings inure to 
the benefit of any private shareholder or individual.  A Charitable Organization does 
not include any unrelated business or trade of the organization, as prescribed in 
Sections 511 and 513 of the Internal Revenue Code. 
 
"Civic Organization" means an organization, not organized for profit, but created and 
operated exclusively for the promotion of social welfare or common good of the 
community, and exempt from federal taxation, and where no part of the net earnings 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 29 of 47 pages 

of such organization inure to the benefit of a private shareholder or individual. A 
Civic Organization does not include an unrelated business or trade of the 
organization, as prescribed by Sections 511 and 513 of the Internal Revenue Code. 
For purposes of this Policy, a "Civic Organization" includes a political subdivision 
located wholly or partly within Travis County. 
 
In determining whether an undertaking to sell the property most likely would result 
in no bids, or whether the bid price for property most likely would be less than the 
administrative and other costs associated with selling the property, the County may 
consider, among other things, the occurrence of "no bid" responses to such property 
in the past, or the price(s) at which such property was sold in the past.  To ascertain 
whether donation of the property serves a public purpose, the County asks that each 
organization submit a request letter stating the intended purpose of the property. To 
ascertain whether an entity is a Charitable or Civic Organization, the entity shall 
submit to the County Purchasing Agent a copy of the letter from the United States 
Internal Revenue Service, approving the organization's designation as a Civic 
Organization or a Charitable Organization, as applicable, exempt from federal 
taxation. 
 
An organization in the County is selected to receive Surplus Property or Salvage 
Property, based on whether the organization is a Charitable Organization or Civic 
Organization located wholly or partly in the County; whether the donation serves a 
public purpose; and whether the organization gives consideration to the County for 
the donation of the property, such as relieving the County of transportation and 
disposal expenses related to the property or other consideration deemed appropriate 
by the County.  Before the County donates an item, the Purchasing Office contacts 
multiple organizations to determine their interest in receiving the item, so as to 
distribute items to as many organizations as possible. The Purchasing Office submits 
the name or names of the interested organization or organizations to the 
Commissioners Court for approval.  If multiple organizations express an interest in 
the item and meet the above criteria, a selection is made, based on which 
organization first offers to give appropriate consideration for the donation, such as 
relieving the County of transportation and disposal expenses related to the property 
or other consideration deemed appropriate by the County.   
 
Once the Commissioners Court approves a donation, the Purchasing Office, through 
the Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager, coordinates transportation of the item(s) to the 
selected organization, although that organization is responsible for transportation of 
the item(s) and the expenses connected therewith. 
 
In most cases, the Commissioners Court order approving the donation of property to 
a Charitable or Civic Organization shall serve as a transfer of title in the property 
from the County to the receiving organization.  For specialized title requirements, 
including but not limited to motorized vehicles, and weapons, the Purchasing Office 
follows the State of Texas requirements for transferring title.  Once title has been 
transferred to the receiving organization, the organization is the owner of the 
property. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 30 of 47 pages 

 
Once property is donated, the Fixed Asset Manager completes the Travis County 
Inventory Form to document the transfer and updates the inventory records in H.T.E. 
to reflect the transfer.  The property donated is then removed from the County 
inventory list.  Records of the donation shall be retained for at least one year. 
 
The Purchasing Office forwards data to the Auditor’s Office for inclusion in the 
County’s capital asset system. 
 
The receiving organization is responsible for the transportation of donated property 
from the County's site to the location specified by the receiving organization, 
including all expenses related thereto.  The receiving organization is also responsible 
for any future disposal of the property, including all expenses related thereto. 
 
In determining which Charitable or Civic Organization receives donated, County 
Surplus or Salvage Property, the County does not discriminate against any 
organization or individual based on race, religion, color, sex, national origin, age or 
handicap condition. 

 
4.6.5 Destruction of Property.  As per LGC §263.152, the Commissioners Court “may 

order the property to be destroyed as worthless if it cannot sell the property…”.  
When this situation occurs, the Purchasing Agent compiles a list of property to be 
destroyed and presents the list to Commissioners Court for approval.  This situation 
only occurs after extensive efforts have been made to dispose of the items by sale or 
donation to other organizations. 

 
Once Commissioners Court has approved items for destruction, the Purchasing Fixed 
Asset Manager shall coordinate with other County staff to appropriately destroy the 
property, while meeting any special environmental or hazardous waste requirements. 
The Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager shall adjust H.T.E. inventory records to reflect 
the destruction and remove items from the inventory list. 
 
The Purchasing Office forwards data to the Auditor’s Office for inclusion in the 
County’s capital asset system. 

 
4.6.6 Cannibalization.  The Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager shall receive department 

requests for cannibalization; evaluate the request based on countywide needs and 
present recommendations to the Purchasing Agent.  The Purchasing Agent shall 
make the final decision on cannibalization and request disposition authority from the 
Commissioners Court.    

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 31 of 47 pages 

All equipment shall remain in place within the department to which it is assigned 
until authority for cannibalization and disposal of the remaining item has been 
granted by the Commissioners Court. No item shall be removed from a department’s 
fixed asset inventory until the department files the Travis County Inventory Form 
identifying the asset(s) that have been cannibalized and the component(s) removed. 

 
The Purchasing Fixed Asset Manager shall update H.T.E. fixed asset records to 
reflect the cannibalization identified on the Travis County Inventory Form and if 
provided, shall document the asset that is to receive the cannibalized part(s). 
 
The Purchasing Office forwards data to the Auditor’s Office for inclusion in the 
County’s capital asset system. 
 

4.7 Vehicle Titles.   
 
The original title for fixed-assets is filed in the Treasurer’s Office.  Purchasing specifications 
includes instructions to the vendors to mail the manufacturer’s certificate of origin and the 
bill of sale to the TNR Fleet Manager.  The TNR Fleet Manager shall transfer the appropriate 
forms to the Purchasing Office.  The Purchasing Office prepares the information and forms 
required by the Vehicle and License section of the Tax Assessor, and any other appropriate 
agency, and apply for exempt license plates, etc.  After receipt of original title, the Fixed 
Asset Manager hand carries the title of the Treasurer. 
 
Original titles are signed by the Travis County Purchasing Agent on behalf of Travis County. 
Upon disposal of fixed assets, the Purchasing Agent signs all necessary forms to transfer title 
to the buyer.  All titles name “Travis County” as the owner.   

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 32 of 47 pages 

 
Attachment 1: Declaration of Representative Form 
 
 
Travis County Purchasing Office 
Declaration of Representative Form 
 
 

Date:         
 
To: Travis County Purchasing Office 
 Attention:  Fixed Asset Manager 
 
From:        
 
The employees designated below are hereby designated as my representative to handle and control 
fixed assets for my department.  I understand that I am ultimately responsible for the care and 
accurate accounting for all fixed assets assigned to my department. 
 
Name Title Location Phone Number 
                       , x     

                       , x     

                       , x     

                       , x     

                       , x     

                       , x     

                       , x     

                       , x     

                       , x     

                       , x     

                       , x     

                       , x     

                       , x     

                  , x     

 
                             
Elected/Appointed Official or Department Head Signature   Date 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 33 of 47 pages 

Attachment 2: Acknowledgement Form 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 
Acknowledgement Form 
 
 
 

 
 
Date:          
 
To: Travis County Purchasing Office 
 Attention:  Fixed Asset Manager 
 
 
I certify that I have obtained, read and understood the contents of the Travis County Fixed Asset 
Procedures Manual as revised February 2006.  
 
             
   
Designated Representative Signature   Date 
 
 
             
   
Elected/Appointed Official  
or Department Head Signature 

 Date 

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

Travis County Purchasing Office 
Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 34 of 47 pages 

 

 Attachment 3: TRAVIS COUNTY INVENTORY FORM     November 2002 
I.  ASSIGNMENT 
Name (please type or print) Physical Address w/Room # Dept/Div Phone/Extension 

I understand that I am responsible for the equipment listed below, and in the event the property is stolen, lost or damaged due to my fault or negligence, I must 
reimburse Travis County.  I am responsible for immediately notifying my supervisor when equipment is stolen, lost or damaged.  I will complete an incident report and 
forward to Purchasing and Risk Management. 
 _________________________________      _______________________________  
 Signature Employee Using Equipment Date  

 
II.  DESCRIPTION 

CONDITION 
ASSET TAG No. SERIAL/VIN No. DESCRIPTION OF EQUIPMENT GOOD FAIR POOR 

P.O. 
No. IF 
NEW 

REMARKS 

        
        
        
        

 
III. TRANSFERS 
Transfer from: Name Physical Address w/ Room # Loc. Code Dept./Div Phone  

Transfer to:  Name Physical Address w/Room # 
 

Loc. Code Dept./Div. Phone  

Loaner Equipment 
 
ITS_____         Other ______ 

     
RECEIVING TRUCK 
DRIVER 

Transferred by: 
___________________________________ 

       
Date:_______________ 

 
Entered:________________ 

 
Date: ______  

Name Date                   Signature                Fixed Asset Manager  
  Received by: 

_____________________________________ 
       
Date:_______________ 

   

                   Signature      
 
IV. RELEASE OF RESPONSIBILITY 
          I certify that the equipment listed above, and assigned to ________________________________________ has been accounted for. 
___________________________________________________     _________   ______________________________________________   _________ 
Signature-Employee Date Signature-Supervisor Date 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Attachment 4: Physical Inventory Acknowledgement Form 
 
 
Travis County Purchasing Office 
Physical Inventory Acknowledgement Form 
 
 

 
Date:      
 
To: Travis County Purchasing Office 
Attention:  Fixed Asset Manager 
 
From:             
 
        
 
 
Attach: Completed Inventory List 
 
 
I have reviewed the attached fixed assets inventory for my department and, except as noted on the 
inventory list and referenced below, hereby acknowledge all listed property to be accounted for and 
in proper working order. 
 
 
 
                          
Elected/Appointed Official or Department Head Signature   Date 
 
 
 
Comments: 
 
 

 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 35 of 47 pages 
 
 
 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 36 of 47 pages 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 5: Pending Fixed Asset Worksheet 
 
Department:___________________________Date:________________________ Initials:___________________

Description Serial or VIN# Tag# PO# Location (Physical Address) Asset No.

 
 
 
  

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Appendix A: H.T.E. Fixed Asset Instructions 
 
Step 1:  Log into TRAVISCO system. 

• Type in the 7-digit 
user ID.  The first six 
digits are your last 
name and the seventh 
digit is the initial of 
your first name.  Press 
the <Tab> key to 
advance to the 
password line. 

• Type in your 6-digit 
password.  Note:  for 
security reasons the 
password should 
never be shared.   

• Press <Enter> twice 
to get to the main 
H.T.E. user menu. 

Step 2: Log into H.T.E. System. 
 
 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 37 of 47 pages 
 
 
 

• Select option “1” 
from the main menu 
and type it on the 
prompt line.  

• Press <Enter> twice 
to advance to the 
application menu. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Step 3:  Select fixed assets application. 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 38 of 47 pages 
 
 
 

• Select option 
“5” from the 
main menu 
and type it on 
the prompt 
line.  

•  Press 
<Enter> to 
advance to 
menu options. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Step 4:  Select fixed assets inquiry function. 
 
 
 

• Select option 
“2” from the 
fixed assets 
main menu 
and type it on 
the prompt 
line.  

•  Press 
<Enter>. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Step 5:  Select asset inquiry function. 
 
 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 39 of 47 pages 
 
 
 

• Select option “1” 
from the fixed assets 
inquiry menu and 
type it on the prompt 
line.  

•  Press <Enter>. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Step 6:  Sort records by asset tag number and select record. 

• The system default is 
to display records by 
asset number.  Press 
F11 key to sort 
records by tag 
number. The screen 
looks like the 
example to the left. 

• At the Position to 
line, type in the tag 
number with the 
correct number of 
zeros before the tag 
number for an 8-digit 
number. 

• Press <Enter>. 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Step 7:  Select desired asset record to review. 
 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 40 of 47 pages 
 
 
 

 

• At the Option 
line, type a 
“1” next to the 
record that 
you want to 
select. 

•  Press 
<Enter>. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Step 8:  Display selected asset record. 
 
 

 

• At the Option 
line, type a 
“5” next to the 
record to 
display. 

•  Press 
<Enter>. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 41 of 47 pages 
 
 
 
 

Step 9:  Display selected asset record information. 
 

• Asset 
information is 
displayed as 
shown in the 
example to the 
left.  Key 
information 
includes the 
asset type, 
date of 
acquisition, 
purchase order 
number and 
location. 

•  Press 
<Enter> to 
see additional 
information. 

 
 

Step 9:  Display selected asset record information (continued). 
 

• Asset 
information is 
displayed as 
shown in the 
example to the 
left.  Key 
information 
includes the 
cost center 
(department, 
division and 
activity) and 
vendor. 

• Press <Enter> 
to see 
additional 
information. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Step 9:  Display selected asset record information (continued). 
 

• Asset financial 
information is 
displayed. 
When the 
asset is not 
capitalized 
(cost is less 
than $5,000) 
the cost is 
shown in 
insurance 
coverage. 

• Press <Enter> 
to return to the 
asset selection 
menu. 

 
 
 

Repeat these steps for additional asset inquiry.

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 42 of 47 pages 
 
 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Appendix B: H.T.E. Receiving Instructions 
 
Step 1: Log into TRAVISCO system. 

• Type in the 7-digit 
user ID.  The first 
six digits are your 
last name and the 
seventh digit is 
the initial of your 
first name.  Press 
the <Tab> key to 
advance to the 
password line. 

• Type in your 6-
digit password.  
Note:  for security 
reasons the 
password should 
never be shared.   

• Press <Enter> 
twice to get to the 
main H.T.E. user 
menu. 

Step 2: Log into H.T.E. System. 
 

• Select option 
“1” from the 
main 

• menu and type 
it on the 
prompt line.  

•  Press 
<Enter> 
twice to 
advance to 

• the application 
menu. 

 
 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 43 of 47 pages 
 
 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Step 3: Log into the Purchasing/Inventory module from the application menu. 
 

• Select option 
“12” from the 
application 
menu and type 
it on the 
prompt line.  

•  Press 
<Enter> to 
advance to the 
purchasing/ 
inventory 
main menu. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Step 4: Log into the Purchasing/Receiving function from the main menu. 
 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 44 of 47 pages 
 
 
 

• Select option 
“4” from the 
application 
menu and type 
it on the 
prompt line.  

•  Press 
<Enter> to 
advance to the 
purchase order 
receipt menu. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 45 of 47 pages 
 
 
 
 

Step 5: Log into the Receipts processing function from the Purchasing/Receiving menu. 
 
 

• Select option “10” 
from the menu 
and type it on the 
prompt line.  

•  Press <Enter> to 
advance to the 
purchase orders 
received screen. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Step 6: Enter purchase order receipt information. 

• At the By line, 
input the name (or 
initials) of the 
individual 
electronically 
receiving the 
items in the 
system (e.g. 
MKH). Press 
<Tab> until you 
reach the 
Purchase order 
number line. 

• Enter the six-digit 
purchase order 
number (e.g. 
251003). 

•  Press <Enter> to 
advance to the 
Item Summary 
screen.

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



The following Item Summary screen appears. 
 

 
 
Step 6: Enter quantity of individual items received. 
 

• Position the 
cursor to the Qty 
Received column. 

• Enter the quantity 
received to two 
decimal places 
and hit the Field 
Exit key (+ key on 
the number pad) 

• Verify the 
information is 
correct. 

•  Press F5 key to 
accept the 
information. 
 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 46 of 47 pages 
 
 
 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Fixed Asset Policy and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Travis County Purchasing Office 

Rev. Nov. 2009 Page 47 of 47 pages 
 
 
 
 

The following screen appears. 
 

• Note in the 
example to the left 
that the 
outstanding 
quantity has now 
changed from 20 
to 2 to reflect the 
receipt of items.  

• Press F3 to exit 
the screen and 
return to the main 
menu. 

Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm



Last Updated 11-19-09 at 2:39pm


	Item 01
	Item 02
	Item 06
	Item 09
	Item 10
	Item 13
	Item 14
	Item 15
	Item 16
	Item 17
	Item 18
	Item 19
	Item 20
	Item 21
	Item 23a
	Item 23b
	Item 25
	Item 26
	Item 27
	Item 29
	Item 30
	Item 32
	Item C2
	Item C3



